

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-1-2021

# Leader Strategies That Increase Employee Performance in the Nigerian Public Sector

Oluwashola Martha Elias-Fatile Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Oluwashola Martha Elias-Fatile

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Rollis Erickson, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Alexandre Lazo, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Christopher Beehner, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

#### Abstract

Leader Strategies That Increase Employee Performance in the Nigerian Public Sector

by

Oluwashola Martha Elias-Fatile

MS, Schiller International University, 2009

BS, Kaduna Polytechnic, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

#### Abstract

Low employee performance can hinder productivity in the Nigerian public sector. Leaders of public sector organizations in Nigeria who lack strategies to increase employees' performance experience decreased productivity. Grounded in transformational leadership theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies leaders in the Nigerian public sector used to increase employee performance. Participants were four public sector leaders in Nigeria who successfully developed and implemented strategies to increase employee performance. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and internal and external documents, such as training programs, training calendars, meeting agendas, staff letters of recommendation, and staff handbooks. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. Five themes emerged: (a) communication, (b) leadership by example, (c) on-the-job training, (d) motivation, and (e) teamwork. A key recommendation is for public sector leaders to implement on-the-job training and promote teamwork to motivate employees to achieve higher performance levels. The implication for positive social change includes the potential to increase employment opportunities and improve the quality of life for the populace in communities.

## Leader Strategies That Increase Employee Performance in the Nigerian Public Sector

by

Oluwashola Martha Elias-Fatile

MS, Schiller International University, 2009

BS, Kaduna Polytechnic, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

#### Dedication

This doctoral study is dedicated to the Almighty God and Father who has strengthened me through the journey, to God alone be all the glory. To my darling husband, my friend and sponsor for giving me the will and determination to stay focused and never give up regardless of the numerous roadblocks encountered. Thank you, my dear husband, God bless you abundantly. To my son, Tiwatope Jesutogbojule, you have been my inspiration, thank you and God bless. My family is my strength and my light; you allow me to be the person and the professional that I am. You both stood by me even at odd times, encouraging me to keep pushing. I appreciate your support always. Tiwatope and Tiwatope Jesutogbojule, this is our accomplishment; we did it!

#### Acknowledgments

I want to extend a special thank you to my chair, Dr. Rollis Erickson, for his diligent tutelage and leadership. He gave me the confidence and encouragement required; God bless you Dr. Rol. Thank you Dr. Alexandre Lazo my second committee member, for the reviews, guidance, and for staying on my committee throughout the doctoral journey. To Dr. Christopher Beehner thank you for being my URR. Thank you once again to all my committee members, your reviews are valued and highly appreciated. To Alvin S. Moton, thank you for the several messages and phone calls, encouraging me not to give up, I appreciate you dearly, God bless. I want to acknowledge the significant people in my life who paved the foundation for my right of passage. To my late father, Revd. David Oshayomi and Mother Mrs. Abosede Oshayomi, many thanks. To the most important people in my life, Tiwatope and Tiwatope Jesutogbojule thank you for the solid support always, God bless you abundantly. My academic road has not been easy, but I have grown stronger with each obstacle. I am proud to say I completed this journey and am humble to acknowledge that I did not do it alone.

# Table of Contents

Se	ection 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	7
	Contribution to Business Practice	7
	Implications for Social Change	8
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
	Organizational Leadership	10
	Transformational Leadership Theory	12
	Transactional Leadership Theory	29
	Servant Leadership Theory	35

Laissez-Faire Leadership Theory	39
Employee Performance	40
Analysis of the Public Sector in Nigeria	48
Implementing Transformational Leadership Strategies in the Public Sector	or
in Nigeria	49
Transition	58
Section 2: The Project	59
Purpose Statement	59
Role of the Researcher	59
Participants	62
Research Method and Design	64
Research Method	64
Research Design	67
Population and Sampling	68
Ethical Research	70
Data Collection Instruments	73
Data Collection Technique	75
Data Organization Technique	76
Data Analysis	77
Triangulation	78
Analysis	78
Reliability and Validity	81

Reliability	81
Validity	82
Transition and Summary	86
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	87
Introduction	87
Presentation of the Findings	87
Emerging Themes	88
Theme 1: Communication	88
Theme 2: Leadership by Example	93
Theme 3: On-the-Job Training	98
Theme 4: Motivation.	101
Theme 5: Teamwork	107
Application for Professional Practice	110
Communication	111
Training	112
Motivation	113
Teamwork	115
Implications for Social Change	115
Recommendations for Action	117
Reccomendation 1: Leadership by Example	118
Recommendation 2: Motivation	119
Recommendation 3: Teamwork	119

Disseminating the Results	120
Recommendations for Further Research	121
Reflections	121
Conclusion	122
References	124
.Appendix A: Interview Protocol	181
Appendix B: Interview Ouestions	183

## Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Researchers have long connected employee performance with achieving organizational objectives (Alfani & Hamzah, 2019; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018; Tabiu, 2019). The success of the public sector is dependent on a performance-centric workforce capable of delivering services to the populace professionally and effectively (Ahmad & Saad, 2020). Efficient and effective performance in public organizations entails clarification of goals to ensure the organization's directions and enhanced employees' commitment towards goal attainment (Andersen et al., 2018; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018). However, the strategy adopted by the leader determines the performance level and the employee's commitment (Abasilim et al., 2019).

## **Background of the Problem**

Effective management of human resources depends on effective organizational leadership (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Ugwu et al., 2020). An efficient leader strategy that increases employee performance is key to organizational growth. According to Ahmad and Saad (2020), the public sector's competitive edge on a global scale is hinged on its delivery system's efficiency and effectiveness. The public sector in Nigeria represents the realm where the government provides services to the populace (Obasa, 2018). Public sector performance has been of practical concern for developing countries with a major challenge to increase employee performance (Obasa, 2018).

A high-performance driven workforce in the public sector enhances effective service delivery to citizens (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Matthew et al., 2018). Studies have

shown that leader strategy can increase employees' performance (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Holbert et al., 2021; Ugwu, 2020). Sudha et al. (2016) suggested that the leadership style adopted is an essential factor influencing effectiveness and employee performance. Leaders choose the most appropriate and effective leadership style to inspire and motivate employees to higher performance levels to accomplish organizational goals (Ahmad & Saad, 2020). Therefore, to ensure the public sector's effectiveness and efficiency, leaders are expected to continuously develop strategies that will increase employee performance.

#### **Problem Statement**

An insufficient high-performance workforce that is capable of delivering services effectively hinders growth in the public sector (Ahmad & Saad, 2020). Recently, the lack of a sufficient high-performance workforce has led to a 15-point decline in public sector performance ranking, thereby positioning Nigeria as 125 out of 140 countries (World Bank Group, 2018). The general business problem is that decreased employee performance negatively affects organizational performance. The specific business problem is that some leaders in the Nigerian public sector lack strategies to increase employee performance.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that leaders in the Nigerian public sector use to increase employee performance. The targeted population comprised of four leaders from four distinct ministries and parastatals of the Nigerian public sector in the Federal Capital Territory (FCT), Abuja who have

successfully developed and implemented strategies that have increased employee performance. The contribution to positive social change within the public sector includes the potential to benefit society by providing strategies that can be used to stabilize employment, which may result in employee prosperity and increase the wellbeing of families. Stabilized employment may enhance the efficient and effective delivery of services rendered to communities through the public sector.

#### Nature of the Study

The three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed (Yin, 2018). I selected the qualitative method for this study. Qualitative researchers use interviews and observations to explore what, how, and why about a phenomenon from a realistic view (Yin, 2018). The qualitative method was appropriate for my study to explore strategies leaders in the public sector use to increase employee performance. In contrast, quantitative researchers test hypotheses to examine and analyze independent and dependent variables' relationships or differences using statistical methods (Boeren, 2018). Researchers use the mixed method to combine qualitative and quantitative elements (Frais & Popovich, 2020). Because I did not test hypotheses and analyze independent and dependent variables' relationships or differences using statistical methods, neither the quantitative nor mixed method was appropriate.

I considered three qualitative research designs: (a) case study, (b) phenomenology, and (c) ethnography. Case study researchers use a single or multiple case study design to explore a phenomenon within a real-world context bounded by time (Mostert, 2018). Researchers use the multiple case study to describe a phenomenon

through multiple perspectives from two or more cases or businesses; hence, the evidence is more compelling, and the outcome can have a stronger validity than a single case study (Yin, 2018). The multiple case study was appropriate for the current study because it enabled the exploration of leaders' strategies from multiple organization leaders' experiences. Phenomenological researchers explain the world by exploring individuals' perceptions of their personal meanings of their lived experiences (Neubauer et al., 2019). The phenomenology design was not appropriate as the focus was not on exploring individuals' perceptions of their personal meanings of their lived experiences.

Ethnographic researchers spend protracted time in a cultural setting to study individuals' behavior (Goopy & Kassan, 2019). Thus, ethnography was not appropriate as I did spend time to directly observe participants to explore and characterize a group's culture.

#### **Research Question**

The research question that served as the foundation for this study was the following: What strategies do leaders in the Nigerian public sector use to increase employee performance?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What strategies have you used to increase your employees' performance?
- 2. What strategy did you find most effective to increase your employees' performance?
- 3. What were the key barriers to implementing your strategies to increase your employees' performance?

- 4. How did your organization address the key barriers to increase your employees' performance?
- 5. How did your employees respond to your different strategies to increase their performance?
- 6. What, if any, modifications did you apply to any strategy to increase your employees' performance?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share about your strategies to increase your employees' performance?

## **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework selected for the study was Burns's (1978) transformational leadership theory. Burns used the theory to explain leadership based upon the premise that some leaders can inspire followers to change expectations, perceptions, and motivations to work toward common goals. Burns identified the following key constructs underlying the transformational leadership theory: (a) idealized attributes, (b) idealized behaviors, (c) intellectual stimulation, (d) inspirational motivation, and (e) individualized consideration. Leaders who apply transformational leadership theory inspire followers to higher levels of performance and motivate and encourage employees to excel beyond personal interest (Ugwu, 2019). As applied to this study, the transformational leadership theory was the lens through which I explored strategies that leaders use to increase employee performance in the Nigerian public sector.

## **Operational Definitions**

Several operational definitions were used in designing this study.

*Employee performance:* The record of an employee's ability to accomplish assigned tasks based on the expectation of the organization (Nwakoby et al., 2019).

*Parastatals:* A company, agency, or intergovernmental organization that possesses political clout and is separate from the government but whose activities serve the state either directly or indirectly (Mazibuko, 2018).

*Public sector:* As contained in the 1999 constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, the public sector is a body of officials responsible for the execution of programs and policies of the federal government (Igbokwe-Ibeto et al.,2020).

*Transformational leadership:* The process of motivating, encouraging, and inspiring followers to achieve higher levels of performance and excel beyond personal interest (Ugwu, 2019).

## Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Several assumptions, limitations, and delimitations were considered in the development of this research.

## Assumptions

Assumptions are void of proof or empirical evidence but are considered accurate by the researcher (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). My first assumption was that leaders would provide honest information regarding strategies that can increase employee performance. I expected the leaders to be open, truthful, and unbiased. The second assumption was that the strategies presented in the interview would increase employee

performance in the public sector. The third assumption was that the interview questions would be appropriate for an in-depth exploitation of leaders' strategies to increase employee performance.

#### Limitations

Limitations are potential weaknesses and constraints out of the researcher's control (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). I identified three limitations for this research:

(a) The study was limited to a particular geographical location, (b) only leaders who had successfully increased employee performance in the public sector were interviewed, and (c) other leaders with divergent views were not interviewed.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are boundaries that are within the researcher's control (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I identified two delimitations for this research: (a) All participants were in the same geographical location, FCT, Abuja, Nigeria; and (b) only four leaders in the public sector who had successfully implemented strategies that increased employee performance were interviewed.

## **Significance of the Study**

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

The study's significance is that findings could be of value to businesses by enabling an understanding of the strategies that leaders use to increase employee performance in the Nigerian public sector. Findings may improve business practice by providing awareness of strategies that may motivate employees and increase employees' performance and retention and decrease derivative costs. A high-performance workforce

capable of delivering services efficiently is pertinent to the growth of the public sector (Ahmad & Saad, 2020).

## **Implications for Social Change**

The results of this study could contribute to social change in the public sector by providing strategies that leaders in the Nigerian public sector can use to increase employee performance. Increased employee performance promotes job stability, resulting in high employee retention and a stable workforce (Matthew et al., 2018). A stable workforce may enhance the efficient and effective delivery of services to communities' citizens (Ahmad & Saad, 2020).

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

This review of the academic and professional literature provides a foundation for the subject of leader strategies that increase employee performance in the Nigerian public sector. The purpose of this study was to offer an analysis of past and existing strategies that public sector organization leaders have used to increase employee performance; the study's foundation was Burns's (1978) transformational leadership theory. Burns's transformational leadership theory explains leadership based on the premise that some leaders can inspire followers to change expectations, perceptions, and motivations. The sources used in this literature review address topics related to leadership strategies that can influence the required increase in employee performance in the public sector.

I organized the literature for this study by topic, by first analyzing leadership theories and their impact on employee performance. The leadership theories considered are (a) transformational leadership theory, (b) transactional leadership theory, (c) servant

leadership theory, and (d) laissez-faire leadership theory. The following were the other headings used to expound on the topic under consideration: (a) employee performance in the public sector, (b) transformational leadership in the public sector, (c) the public sector and idealized influence strategy, (d) the public sector and the inspirational motivation strategy, (e) the public sector and intellectual stimulation strategy, (f) the public sector and individualized consideration strategy, and (g) the impact of transformational leadership theory on employee performance in the public sector. The study reflects strategies used by public sector leaders to increase employee performance using transformational leadership theory. The contrasting theories included transactional leadership theory, laissez-faire leadership theory, and servant leadership theory. The subsections that follow are the nature of the public sector in Nigeria and the strategies that can increase the performance of public sector organizations. Additional topics analyzed include performance evaluation, leadership strategies, and the impact of transformational leadership strategy on employee performance.

To accomplish a detailed literature review, I obtained relevant scholarly sources for this study using academic libraries, websites, databases, peer-reviewed journals, and related books. I used databases from the Walden University library to access research literature through ABI/INFORM Complete, Business Source Complete, EBSCO, Google Scholar, ProQuest, SAGE, Emerald, and Dissertations and Theses. The search terms and phrases included *employee performance, productivity, leadership, leadership theories, public sector, parastatal,* and *strategies*. The total number of references used for this study were 250 peer-reviewed journals, books, and dissertations, with 90% published

between 2017 and 2021, in accordance with Walden's DBA doctoral study requirements. Table 1 contains the summary of sources used in this literature review and reference type and percentages.

Table 1

Literature Review Sources by Year of Publication

Literature type	Older than 5 years	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	Total %	Total no.
Peer-reviewed articles	5	29	50	60	50	6	90%	313
Nonpeer- reviewed articles	0	0	0	8	12	0	8%	28
Books	2	5	8	13	2	0	12%	6
Other	0	0	0	0	0		0	1
Total	7	34	58	81	64		100%	348

## **Organizational Leadership**

The concept of leadership has been a significant construct in human existence for centuries (Nam & Park, 2019). Organizational goals are not limited to existence but rather the improvement of employee performance effectiveness and efficiency (Durmishi & Popovski, 2020). Leadership is one factor that predates organizational performance (Nam & Park, 2019; Sandvik et al., 2019). Orunbon (2020) opined that leadership is a catalyst for much-needed organizational change effectiveness. Leadership is considered a critical element with a substantial influence on employee dedication and performance (Abasilim et al., 2019). Therefore, the overall impact of organizational outcomes can be narrowed to leaders' style and strategies.

Leadership can influence behaviors to achieve common organizational goals (Ugwu et al., 2020). Durmishi and Popovski (2020) opined that the core of leadership is the ability to persuade employees to implement organizational goals in an increasingly complex and changing world. Leaders set directions and align employees into the direction (Andersen et al., 2018). Northouse (2018) defined leadership as the process of influencing a group of individuals to achieve common goals. Leaders strategically motivate and influence others to act in a particular manner (Durmishi & Popovski 2020). Thus, leadership contribution to organizational success cannot be overemphasized and should be duly considered (Adatsi et al., 2020).

The nexus between leadership styles, employee performance, and productivity has received scholarly attention (Abasilim et al., 2019). For example, identifying an appropriate leadership style that best resonates with employees helps achieve organizational growth (Kelly & MacDonald, 2019). Abasilim et al. (2019) posited that transformational leadership, transactional leadership, and laissez-faire leadership have been classified as the most embraced leadership style in the private and public sectors.

Leaders are individuals with the skills and integrity to influence followers to successfully achieve a common mission and vision (Chen et al., 2018; Quaquabeke & Felps, 2018; Toufaili, 2018). Researchers have posited a strong influence of leadership style on employee performance, whether in the public or private sectors (McClean & Collins, 2019; Quaquabeke & Felps, 2018; Sandvik et al., 2019). Furthermore, leaders' behaviors are visible to all employees in the organization, and they are either positively or negatively inspired, affecting performance and organizational outcomes (Andersen et

al., 2018; McClean & Collins, 2019). Transformational, transactional, servant leadership, and laissez-faire leadership styles and their impact on employee performance in the public sector were evaluated in this study.

Leadership plays a vital role in charting the course of the organization to achieving desired goals and vision by influencing higher employees' performance to accomplish goals (Ahmad, 2018; Holbert et al., 2021; Ohunakin et al., 2019). Strategic leaders motivate and inspire employees to higher performance levels, potentially creating a competitive advantage and greater operational efficiency (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Durmishi & Popovski, 2020; Holbert et al., 2020; Kawiana et al., 2010). Identifying the leaders' leadership style is a powerful and substantial way of yielding an effect on employees' performance (Ahmad, 2018; An et al., 2019; Crews et al., 2019; Hee et al., 2018; Kawiana et al., 2020; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018).

## **Transformational Leadership Theory**

Burns (1978) developed the transformational leadership style, which many scholars view as one of the most effective leadership styles (Buil et al., 2019; Pradhan et al., 2018; Ribeiro et al., 2018). Bass (1985) noted how leaders could use transformational leadership abilities to build trust, motivate followers, promote followers' creativity, encourage innovation, increase performance, and promote professional development for the good of the organization (Bass, 1985; Buil et al., 2019; Campbell, 2018a; Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018; Toufaili, 2018). Pradhan et al. (2018) posited that transformational leaders are passionate goal-oriented motivators; they influence and inspire their followers in

strategic ways that leads to increased performance (Andersen et al., 2018; Campbell, 2018a; Chen et al., 2018; Harb & Sidani, 2019; Jiang & Chen 2018).

#### **Employee Motivation**

According to Chen et al. (2018), transformational leaders strategically engage employees to increase their motivation and probity displayed in both the leader and follower. Burns's (1978) perspective of transformational leadership posited that leaders effectively increase performance through their capacity to influence employees to achieve desired outcomes. Bass (1985) noted how leaders could use transformational leadership abilities to motivate and inspire employees through (a) influencing followers to transcend self-interest and focus on the organizational goal rather than personal interest, (b) heightening high-performance and task/goal and encouraging accomplishment, and (c) activating the followers' higher order of need. Numerous researchers have posited that this transformational leadership approach could be used to develop and influence an employee's performance in achieving full potential in the public sector (Buil et al., 2019; Campbell, 2018b; Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018; Harb & Sidani, 2019; Oloruntoba & Gbemigun, 2019).

## **Organizational Vision Articulation**

Transformational leaders can coordinate employees through careful articulation of organizational vision and effective communication to employees; these leaders strategically motivate them to accept and internalize the vision (Abasilim et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2019; Harb & Sidani, 2019). Bass (1985) and Burns (1978) established transformational leadership as the style that influences performance through a well-

articulated and communicated vision to employees, thereby achieving clarity of vision and stimulating employees to develop competence to achieve organizational goals. The transformational leader is the bearer of the vision that instills conscious knowledge in an employee's ability to achieve goals beyond expected outcomes, which significantly motivates followers to higher performance levels (Flynn, 2019; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018). Transformational leaders' behaviors foster some level of trust that builds competence among employees, resulting in increased performance (Harb & Sidani, 2019; Ribeiro et al., 2018; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018).

## **Improved Communication**

Transformational leaders increase employee commitment and performance when they effectively communicate organizational goals and vision (Toufaili, 2018). Employees experience an increased sense of worth and commitment (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). Through effective communication, employees feel valued, motivated, and rewarded for their efforts toward goal achievement (Tian et al., 2020). Transformational leaders exert influence through effective communication of idealistic goals and vision to employees.

#### Innovation

Transformational leaders strategically inspire and motivate employees to be innovative, which is noted to yield a positive effect on performance (Chen et al., 2019; Jia et al., 2018; Sheehan et al., 2020). According to Sheehan et al. (2020), transformational leaders convey purposeful vision to employees and by so doing provide inspirational motivation that enhances innovation. Transformational leaders

- encourage employees to challenge the status quo (Jian-Xun et al., 2019);
- encourage positive change (Faupel & Süß, 2019; Sheehan et al., 2020);
- encourage openness among employees (Le & Lei, 2019);
- inspire employees to think outside the box (Jian-Xun et.al., 2019);
- encourage followers to adopt generative and exploratory thinking processes
   (Sheehan et al., 2020); and
- instill confidence in employees to take risks and be innovative (Hughes et al., 2018).

Encouraging employees to be innovative not only increases knowledge and shared experiences but has been noted by researchers to be an effective element of transformational leadership that increases employee performance (Al-edenat, 2018; Edelbroek et al., 2019; Jia et al., 2018; Le & Lei, 2019).

#### **Increase Employee Performance**

Transformational leaders are noted to have the ability to influence employee perceptions and achieve outcomes beyond the normal levels of performance (Buil et al., 2019; Campbell, 2018a; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018; Toufaili, 2018). Transformational leaders envisage concerns, preoccupations, and needs of followers (Abasilim et al., 2019). Explaining further, Hee et al. (2018) opined that transformational leader could successfully change employee perception by influencing values, expectations, and aspirations.

According to Dialoke and Ogbu (2018), transformational leaders can create a positive work environment that boosts employee morale, leading to higher performance.

Lai et al. (2020) posited that improved workplace standards influence employees' behavior and encourages performance that exceeds expectations and achieves goals. Having a motivated workforce that ensures efficiency and high-performance outcomes are results of the attributes of a transformational leader (Boamah et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2019).

Furthermore, Bass (1985) posited that the uniqueness of transformational leadership is not enshrined in the exchange of commodities between followers and leaders as is the case with transactional leadership, but rather, an influence of personal beliefs and values that achieves increased positive employee commitment (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018; Passakonjaras & Hartijasti 2019). These findings have aided in transformational leadership gaining scholarly attention as a model that best interprets organizational results and employees' performance (Buil et al., 2019; Manzoor et al., 2019; Samanta & Lamprakis 2018). Burns (1978) and later Hee et al. (2018) stated that transformational leadership revealed in-depth connectivity between leaders and followers in terms of employee performance, commitment, and moral values.

The public sector occupies an important place in the society (Abasilim et al., 2019; Andersen et al., 2018; Harb & Sidane, 2019; Oloruntoba & Gbemigun, 2019).

Leadership style has been considered one of the vital elements that increases employee performance in the public sector (Abasilim et al., 2019; Awang et al., 2020; Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Manzoor et al., 2019). Transformational leadership style is seen to have a significant effect in increasing and sustaining employee performance in public sector organizations because of the interdependence between

leaders and employees (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Andersen et al., 2018; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Manzoor et al., 2019; Sheehan et al., 2020; Siangchokyoo et al., 2020). According to Abasilim et al. (2019), transformational leadership has four distinctive components: idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration.

Leaders applying the transformational leadership style within their organization have different outcomes (Alghusin & Al-Ajlouni, 2020). A few of the noted outcomes are as follows:

- inspiring employees to higher levels of performance;
- increasing the level of employee motivation toward achieving organizational goals;
- unambiguously communicating vision and mission, which is a strong motivation for employees;
- assigning tasks and responsibilities that motivate employees to accomplish competently beyond expectations;
- motivating and creating a favorable social condition that promotes job satisfaction and increase performance; and
- encouraging employees to be innovative and creative, which is one of the bases for increased performance (Andersen et al. 2018; Alghusin & Al-Ajlouni, 2020; Ali et al., 2019; Awang et al., 2020; Bednall et al., 2018; Crews et al., 2019; Edelbroek et al., 2019; Eliyana & Ma'arif, 2019; Jnaneswar & Ranjit, 2020; Kawiana et al., 2020; Manzoor et al., 2019; Siangchokyoo et al., 2020).

## Idealized Influence Strategy

Idealized influence originated from Bass (1990), who defined the term as role model strategies that leaders could use that may enhance organizational commitment. Ohunakin et al. (2019) defined idealized influence as the personality and behavioral traits of the leader as a role model. Elmasry and Bakri (2019) described idealized influence as a leader's charisma trait of a role model admired, trusted, and respected by employees. According to Langat et al. (2019), charisma qualifies identification with the leader and creates a desire to achieve beyond expectation as a demonstration of support to the leader. Leaders exhibiting this trait are perceived by employees as having extraordinary abilities and skills.

According to Al-Yami et al. (2018), idealized influence is hinged on attitudinal components of the leader and employees' perceptions are based on observations.

Followers not only have faith but also a bond of identification, pride, enthusiasm, and trust in the leaders' vision (Laing, 2019). Transformational leaders demonstrating idealized influence behaviors pay attention to high standards of moral and ethical consequences (Elmasry & Bakri, 2019). Leaders in the public sector strategically increase employee performance through behavior integrity (Kawiana et al., 2020).

Employees in the public sector working with high integrity leaders develop affectionate attitude reflected in high commitment to work and job satisfaction (Ennis et al., 2018; Marathe & Kakani, 2020; Tuan & Thao, 2018). Employee motivation is further strengthened when they work in an environment where serving others is valued and thus develop a higher appraisal of the leaders' commitment to improving the organization and

are thereby motivated to doing same (Luu et al., 2019; Tuan & Thao, 2018). Therefore, when leaders in the public sector are noted to exhibit charismatic behaviors, service failures are easily remedied by a motivated workforce that professionally accomplish goals and tasks (Abasillim et al., 2018; Luu et al., 2019; Tuan & Thao, 2018). Charismatic leadership may be effective in the public sector that is characterized by a bureaucratic structure of governance (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2018; Ennis et al., 2018; Luu et al., 2019; Marathe & Kakani, 2020).

Al-Yami et al. (2018) explained that leaders who demonstrate idealized behavior sacrifice their interest in advancing the interest of others. The leaders set examples and influence the behaviors of followers who learn by observing and emulating credible behavior displaying high standards of conduct (Abasilim et al., 2018; Boamah et al., 2018). Ibrahim et al. (2018) stated that a significant increase in employee performance could be achieved in organizations where leaders exhibit transformational leadership idealized attribute traits. Followers are influenced by the integrity, moral values, and respectful behaviors displayed by transformational leaders (Khan et al., 2020). However, employees are inspired, motivated and display trust in the beliefs of the leader which is a conscious strategic move that motivates employees to achieve higher performance levels in the organization.

Leaders that apply idealized influence strategy are highly honored, adored, appreciated, and trusted (Abasilim et al., 2019; Al-Yami et al., 2018; Khan et al., 2020). Employees admire and imitate such a leader's exemplary ethical behavior and are motivated to cooperate with the leader to achieve higher standards of performance

(Langat et al., 2019; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). However, Miao and Cao (2019) explained that transformational leadership idealized behavior creates a sense of well-being and satisfaction in employees, increase unfeigned trust in the leader, and a sense of belonginess to the organization which is demonstrated by increase in performance.

Another notifiable aspect of transformational leadership idealized influence is the leaders' readiness and willingness to sacrifice personal gain for organization's good (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). The employees perceive them to be sincere and dedicated to improving public sector's growth and hence are submissive, dedicated, and unwavering in supporting their vision, notably increases performance (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2018; Tuan & Thao, 2018). The leaders set high standards and are role models to achieving those standards (Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018; Miao & Cao, 2019); this supports transformational leaders using an idealized influence strategy to motivate employees in public sector organizations (Al -Yami et al., 2018; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018).

Idealized influence strategy focusses on behavioral traits that notably endear and inspire employees (Chan et al., 2019; Ohunakin et al., 2019; Shafi et al., 2020). Under the idealized influence, the transformational leader displays attitudes that promote trust, respect, and loyalty; they serve as role model to employees (Ahmad, 2019; Langat et al., 2019; Moghadam, 2020). Ethical behaviors of leaders promote employee emotional attachment to the organization which, in turn, fosters increase in performance outcomes (Ohunakin et al., 2019). Leaders are seen to be exemplary, sincere, honest, and high integrity which employees in the public sector view as indicators of strategic leadership (Crews et al., 2019; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Khan et al., 2020). Therefore, employees

confidence and trust in the leader inspires and motivates performance above expectation (Koveshnikov & Ehrnrooth, 2018; Kueenzi, 2019; Lai et al., 2020). The idealized influence attribute is one whereby the leader is consistent, shares risks, and behaves ethically (Chan et al., 2019; Crews et al., 2019; Sharif, 2019). Inspirational motivation is considered a technique that leaders apply to influence employees to view the optimistic future (Alghusin & Al- Ajlouni, 2020; Chan et al., 2019; Collins et al., 2020; Kueenzi, 2019).

### Inspirational Motivation Strategy

Leaders using inspirational motivation create a positive work environment for employees (Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Langat et al., 2019; Odunlami, 2017). As a transformational leadership construct, inspirational motivation allows leaders to influence subordinates by identifying new opportunities and developing vision for the future (Chan et al., 2019). Langat et al. (2019) corroborated inspirational motivation as vision creation, development of clear and plausible strategies for achieving the vision and mobilizing commitment of followers to achieving the vision (Geoffrey et al., 2019; Langat et al., 2019). Elmasry and Bakri (2019) posited that inspirational motivation ensures team spirit and motivates employees to achieve envisioned organizational goals. The leaders set high work standards and display character, optimism, and high enthusiasm in employees' capacity (Edward & Kaban, 2020). The leader's strategy is to inspire employees through a well-articulated vision, generate motivation by setting high workplace standards, and inspire employees through display of trust in their ability to accomplish set standards

(Edward & Kaban, 2020; Manzoor et al., 2019; Odunlami, 2017; Yamamoto & Yamaguchi, 2019).

Using inspirational motivation strategy, transformational leaders inspire employees to change and develop new approaches for completion of tasks. Employees can be inspired when leaders create a positive work environment and establish trust in followers (Jena et al., 2018; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). Transformational leaders tacitly display enthusiasm and team spirit by emphasizing goals and stimulating employees to accomplish them (Edward & Kaban, 2020). Inspirational motivation encourages creativity, innovative problem-solving and task accomplishment techniques (Mohsin et al., 2020).

Boukamcha (2019) opined that for vision and goals to be productive, there is need for an active interactive communication channel; this is one of the benchmarks of inspirational motivation. Transformational leaders that can distinctly communicate visions and goals are seen to perform better (Langat et al., 2019). Effective communication improves satisfaction and team spirit which in turn improves performance (Boukamcha, 2019; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Langat et al., 2019). Chan et al. (2019) corroborated that the strategy leaders could adopt is development of an effective interactive communication and value sharing relationship with employees. According to Elmasry and Bakri (2019), this leadership strategy will lead to high motivational, enthusiastic, and optimistic levels in employees which in turn arouse performance levels (Langat et al., 2019; Schuesslsbauer et al., 2018).

The uniqueness of transformational leadership is not enshrined in the exchange of commodities between followers and leaders as the case with transactional leadership but rather an influence of personal beliefs and values that fosters increased performance levels (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018; Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019). Notably, transformational leadership is considered as a model that best leads to organizational results and employees performance (Buil et al., 2019; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018). Burns (1978), using transformational leadership, revealed in-depth connectivity between leaders and followers regarding employee performance, commitment, and moral values.

Transformational leadership through the inspirational motivation strategy is one that

- encourages employees to envision an attractive future, create and articulate shared vision,
- allows for effective vision communication to employees,
- encourages teamwork and challenges employee vision accomplishment and,
- provides continuous encouragement and application of the principles of shared power (Boies & Fisjet 2018; Collins et al., 2020; Edward & Kaban, 2020; Jena et al., 2018; Langat et al., 2019; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018; Yamamoto & Yamaguchi, 2019).

Notably, an inspirational motivation strategy focuses more on team related content among employees while intellectual stimulation strategy is more task related (Collins et al., 2020; Dartey-Baah & Addo 2019; Lo et al. 2020; Mohsin et al., 2020).

## Intellectual Stimulation Strategy

Intellectual stimulation as one of the constructs of transformational leadership is the leaders' ability to create a work environment that encourages followers' creativity, innovation, professionalism, and educational growth. Leaders who inspire and contribute to intellectual growth of employees are noted to have contributed to subordinates' performance and overall success (Gregory et al., 2017). Intellectual stimulation is achieved when leaders encourage followers to be innovative and encourage teamwork (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018; Sanchez-Cardona et al., 2018).

Employees are being innovative through questioning beliefs, assumptions, and values which may be seen as outdated or inappropriate to handle current challenges (Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). The continuous search for new knowledge enables transformational leaders to teach, illustrate, and expound on new ways of solving problems (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). The premise of intellectual stimulation is the encouragement of task-oriented communication, creative and innovative work environment that inspires and challenges followers to focus on rational solutions, and confidence to challenge existing assumptions (Abasilim et al. 2019; Boeis & Fiset, 2018; Odigbo, 2018; Seltzer & Bass, 1990). Munyiva and Kihara (2018) corroborated that innovation and creativity is the heart of intellectual stimulation.

Transformational leaders do not expose or publicly criticize employee errors but rather encourage followers to think individually through the problems under the leader's guidance and analyze plausible options (Reza, 2019). This strategy creates a positive atmosphere that generates positive expectations translating to increased performance

(Minai et al., 2020). The strategy encourages creativity and supports self-development (Edward & Koban, 2020). The leader's communication skill can notably reduce uncertainty (Chan et al., 2019; Minai et al., 2020). When leaders adopt an intellectual stimulation strategy, followers participate in the decision-making process fostering critical thinking and new problem-solving strategies (Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018).

Leaders that provide feedback to employees on task completion enable a better assessment of competence (Minai et al., 2020). When employees freely communicate challenges, encouraged to solve problems using new approaches without fear of consequences, they place higher value on personal and colleagues' opinions (Yin et al., 2020). Employees perception of established psychological safety promotes knowledge sharing, commitment, and performance (Awang et al., 2020; Yin et al., 2020).

Intellectual stimulation encourages critical thinking and creativity (Collins et al., 2020; Sheehan et al., 2020; Viver et al., 2020). Employees are encouraged to initiate new problem-solving ideas and freely formulate innovative ideas for the organization (Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Gulmez & Negis Isik, 2020). Leaders create a working environment that enables innovation, creativity, and challenge procedures without fear of intimidation and harassment (Collins et al., 2019; Crews et al., 2019; Viver et al., 2020). Through intellectual stimulation strategy, transformational leaders can change the status quo and introduce new productive ideas (Aranha et al., 2019; Dartey-Baah & Addo, 2019; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Viver et al., 2020). The leadership strategy of individualized consideration is to promote personalized relationship with employee's (Alghusin & Al-Ajlouni 2020; Chan et al., 2019; Sharif, 2018).

#### Individualized Consideration Strategy

Individualized consideration is the last construct of transformational leadership and leaders use this strategy to help employees develop their potential (Reza, 2019). Individualized consideration involves the inclusion of followers into the transformation process by creating a supportive climate and new learning opportunities such as training of employees to acquire more knowledge (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). Leaders' coach and mentor employees simultaneously considering their needs, abilities, interests, and goals (Hee et al. 2018). The leadership skills involved include interacting with subordinates (human skills), attentive to their aspirations, and career development (Edward & Kabana 2020).

This leadership approach embraces many facets which includes values, ethics, emotions, and achieving long term goals (Hee et al., 2018). An individualized consideration strategy enables successful achievement of goals and superordinate organizational visions (Islam et al., 2018). Leaders

- are positioned as role models for employees,
- consider employees aspirations, abilities, and needs,
- challenge and align employees toward achieving organizational objectives selflessly, and
- raise employees' self-image and provide adequate mentoring (Edward & Kabana, 2020; Hee et al., 2018; Munir & Aboidullah, 2018; Ohunakin et al., 2019).

Leaders applying this individualized consideration strategy attend to employees' emotional needs, treat them uniquely, provide personal support and respect employees not minding their career levels (Koveshnikov & Ehmrooth, 2018; Munir & Aboidullat, 2018). The strategy results in employees recognizing their capabilities, motivating and propelling them to higher levels of performance (Al Zefeiti, 2017; Yin et al., 2020).

The individualized consideration strategy reveals that leaders are sensitive to employee needs (Dialoke & Edeh, 2018; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). The leader gives personal attention to employees and is keenly interested in career growth and development (Alghusin & Al-Ajlouni 2020; Khan et al., 2020; Vyver et al., 2020). This strategy creates a sense of belonging and inspires employees to higher performance levels (Aranha et al., 2019; Edward & Kabana, 2020; Koveshnikov & Ehrnrooth, 2018; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018).

## Summary Transformational Leadership Theory

Transformational leaders influence and transform the thinking of followers to unwaveringly accept the position of the leader which is regarded as a strategic system of changing and transforming people to achieve higher performance (Andersen et al., 2018; Anselmann & Mulder, 2020; Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018). The major premise of transformational leadership theory is the ability of the leader to motivate employees to perform beyond expectations (Bass & Avolio, 1993; Dialoke & Ogbu, 2019; Jia et al., 2018). Subordinates are encouraged by the importance of their contributions to the organization (Boamah et al., 2018; Nam & Park, 2019). In contrast to transformational leadership, transactional leadership is premised on economic exchange

whereby leaders focus on contingent rewards for performance and sanctions for nonperformance (Ma & Jiang, 2018; Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019). This leadership style has the leader's attention on deviations, mistakes, or irregularities and taking punitive actions (Bass, 1985).

Transformational leadership constructs are relevant for completion of tasks. inspire, and motivate employees to higher levels of performance (Faupel & Süß, 2019; Ibrahim et al., 2020). A transformational leadership style ensures change in the organization through idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration transformational leadership constructs and strategies to achieve increased performance and dedication to organizational vision and goals (Ennis et al., 2018). Motivating employees to achieve collective organizational goals rather than personal gains positively affects the public sector's performance (Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Guterresa et al., 2020). Transformational leadership emphasize employee needs, values, morals, ethical responsibilities, thereby ensuring employee commitment resulting in increased performance (Ennis et al., 2020). Transformational leaders create a positive vision of change and inspire employees to adopt the vision through their charismatic nature (Harb & Sidani, 2019; Ibrahim et al., 2018). The leaders encourage innovative problem-solving ideas that propels employee productivity (Faupel & Süß, 2019; Gennaro, 2019). Transformational leadership strategy when applied in the public sector in Nigeria can inspire and motivate employees to transcend self-interest for the actualization of organizational vision.

#### **Transactional Leadership Theory**

The literature review revealed several additional leadership theories; they include transactional leadership, servant leadership, and laissez-faire leadership theories.

According to Bass (1990), transactional leadership is an alternative to transformational leadership that allows the leader influence employees through financial exchange. The transactional leadership theory was developed by Weber in 1947 and Bass (1985) extended Weber's theory. According to Bass (1985), transactional leadership is a reciprocated relationship whereby a follower's commitment and efforts is exchanged for rewards. Hannah et al. (2020) explained that transactional leadership is a relationship in which the leader is focused on providing direction, goals, support, and resources in exchange for economic benefits. Transactional leaders identify and clarify roles and task requirements for followers to reach desired outcomes, noncompliance to stipulated goals results in punishment (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Ma & Jiang, 2018).

According to Bass (1985), transactional leaders practice a cost-benefit economic exchange to meet the needs of followers. Explaining further, Passakonjaras and Hartijasti (2019) reiterated that transactional leaders operate a conventional relationship that provides economic reward in exchange for contracted services rendered by followers. Transactional leadership as a symbiotic beneficial relationship with economic rewards for task completion and punishment for failures which notably promotes change (Ma & Jang, 2018; Samanta and Lamprankis, 2018).

The essential focus of transactional leadership is task-oriented and result focus (Semarco & Cho, 2018). The leader articulates organizational goals, protocols, and

procedures unambiguously for employees, so they are aware of expectations and the reward/punishment attached (Toeman & Ulengin, 2018). Transactional leaders set responsibilities for employees and carefully monitor performance (Russell et al., 2018; Samanta & Laprankis, 2018). Achievements are rewarded either by salary increase, cash gifts, step level promotion, or recognition through the issuance of exceptional performance certificates (Samanta & Laprankis, 2018). Subsequently, transactional leaders can influence employees' behavior using power, influence, reward, and punishment (Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019).

Sireger (2018) postulated that the Bass (1985) transactional leadership theory is grounded on the use of a reward system, and punitive measures for non-completion of assigned tasks (Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019). Bass (1985) introduced three components of transactional leadership, they are:(a) contingent reward, (b) management by exception – active, and (c) management by exception – passive.

#### Contingent Reward Strategy

The contingent reward strategy may positively affect employee commitment and productivity because transactional leaders use contingent reward to gain mutual benefits (Alrowwad et al.,2020). Raziq et al. (2018) described contingent rewards (CR) as entailing a well-stipulated economic reward given to an employee for successful task completion and punishment when there is failure. Transactional leaders' economic relationship motivates employees through enticing rewards and inspire higher performance and completion of assigned tasks/goals (Alrowwad et al., 2020). However,

to successfully monitor jobs and procedures for reward-punishment, transactional leaders create a structured and efficient system for task monitoring (Semarco & Cho, 2018).

According to Nelson et al. (2019), the rationale for leaders using a contingent reward strategy is to create an incentive mechanism through which employees will be adequately rewarded for exceptional performance. The contingent reward strategy motivates task completion and increase performance, as the focus is on the reward (Raziq et al., 2018). However, they also equally create fear of punishment and embarrassment which could either drive or hinder performance (Russell et al., 2018). The primary motivator is the reward (Alrowwad et al., 2020). Employees who demonstrate extraordinary work competence are guaranteed of rewards (Boye et al., 2019; Raziq et al., 2018).

## Management by Exception – Active Strategy

Management by exception – active strategy is one of the transactional leadership constructs. According to Xu and Wang (2019), management by exception – active strategy closely monitors employees performance, correct mistakes, and proffer advise thereby creating room for improvement. Toeman and Ulengin (2018) corroborated that such monitoring is designed to ensure compliance to approved procedures for task implementation. However, this strategy might be effective in some organizations, overall, it hinders innovation and creativity (Semarco & Cho, 2018). The transactional leader's strategy using management by exception – active is designed to maintain the organization's status quo, the leader does not encourage innovation, rather organizational

procedures are maintained even if faulty (Alrowwad et al., 2020; Semarco & Cho, 2018; Toeman & Ulengin, 2018; Xu & Wang, 2019).

### Management by Exception – Passive Strategy

Leaders may adopt a passive leadership strategy to influence employees. In management by exception – passive, the leader waits for mistakes to be reported before acting, especially when the situation becomes uncontrollable (Semarco & Cho, 2018). Passakonjaras and Hartijasti (2019) noted that leaders implementing passive management by exception are seen as timid and unresponsive, petrified to take decisions, neither of which promotes growth, innovation, and increase in performance.

Passakonjaras and Hartijasti (2019) opined that transactional leaders pursue a cost-benefit economic exchange in return for task completion as a strategy to increase performance. Alrowwad et al. (2020) stated that leaders who guarantee rewards for task completion and deploy appropriate punishment to employees who lag behind achieve better employee performance (Toeman & Ulengin, 2018). Boyer -Davis (2018) opined that, in transactional leadership, the leader is prominent in achieving daily work routines through management by exception which makes the leader less inclined to promote innovation and new ideas. Conversely, in transformational leadership, leaders inspire employees to achieve performance targets higher than the set standards (Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019).

#### Summary Transactional Leadership Theory

The nature of the relationship in transactional leadership is ruled by the wellestablished guideline of engagement which stipulates reward in return for good performance and adverse consequences for poor performance (Bass, 1995; Samanta & Laprankis, 2018). Employees are motivated to higher efforts to qualify for rewards (Russell et al., 2018). However, incorporating a transactional leadership style in the organization does not guarantee continuous employee commitment, dedication to the organization, or a steady increase in employee performance (Toeman & Ulengin, 2018).

Employees contribute more when they are aware of the leader's expectations (Jacobsen & Anderson, 2019; Semarco & Cho, 2018; Toeman & Ulengin, 2018). A transactional leader's strategy is to identify what to do and the reward for satisfactory completion of tasks (Alrowwad et al., 2020). Setting high performance expectations and the rewards attached to it is a strong motivator for employees who, for the sake of the benefit, increase performance (Jacobsen & Anderson, 2019; Russell et al., 2019; Steffensen et al., 2018).

In transformational leadership, employees are rewarded for outstanding performance, even though the relationship is not economic driven (Ugwu, 2019). Transformational leaders display high levels of integrity, ethics, respect, attention to the professional development and career of the employee, and capacity to interpret and communicate visions unambiguously (Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018; Ugwu, 2019; Yin et al., 2020). These attributes endear employees to the leader and are motivated to higher performance levels (Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018; Yadav & Yadav, 2018; Yin et al., 2020). Transformational leaders notably create a positive work environment devoid of anxieties and tension, encourage teamwork, brainstorming for new problem-solving

ideas, and inspire employees professional development (Fenwick et al., 2019; Yin et al., 2020).

Transformational leaders in the public sector have intrinsic motivation; they encourage employees to constantly introduce and adapt to changes (Ahmad & Saad, 2020). They are mentors and provide moral support to employees (Fenwick et al., 2019). Transformational leadership is more embedded in the leader's ability to influence, inspire, create a shared vision for the organization, and motivate employees to greater levels of performance (An et al., 2019; Ugwu, 2019; Yin et al., 2020; Xu &Wang, 2019).

In contrast, transactional leadership style is an economic driven relationship whereby leaders build a working frame with well-defined tasks ((Ugwu et al., 2020; Vuong et al., 2019). Employees are enticed with rewards for task completion and punished for laxity and failures (Raziq et al., 2018; Vuong et al., 2019; Xu & Wang, 2019). Both styles have been noted to yield influences on employees performance in the public sector (Raziq et al., 2018; Ugwu et al., 2020). Notably, public sector employees perform better with the transformational leader who is willing to provide support for career development and teamwork (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; An et al., 2019; Fenwick et al., 2019; Ugwu, 2019; Yaday & Yaday, 2018; Yin et al., 2020).

The public sector is characterized by bureaucratic processes and procedures that slow down employee creativity and performance (Hansen & Pihl- Thingyad, 2019; Torfing, 2020). Transactional leadership in the public sector results in having a workforce that is not motivated to be innovative but rather economically driven (Passakonjaras & Hartijasti, 2019; Razzaq et al., 2019). Innovation contributes to superior performance and

better problem resolution (Varadarajan, 2018; Wikhamn et al., 2018). Political objectives and policies notably can be achieved through innovation and if absent in the public sector under transactional leadership would challenge employee performance (Hansen & Pihl, 2019; Razzaq et al., 2019; Torfing, 2019). Collaborative innovation in public sector organizations reduces bureaucracies through active and creative problem-solving techniques. (Torfing, 2019).

Transactional leadership is task-oriented, results-focused, and economic driven (Semarco & Cho, 2018). The leader closely monitors task performance thereby little gap is recorded in terms of task completion (Toeman & Ulengin, 2018). Using the contingent reward and management by exception – active strategy, leaders can ensure employee adherence to established policies and procedures, rewards for effective task completion and punishment meted out for failures (Boyer-Davis, 2018; Semarco & Cho, 2018). This leadership style creates an atmosphere of rivalry and ignores followers' social and emotional needs (Boyer-Davis, 2018; Ma & Jiang, 2018). Transactional leadership when applied in the public sector can wield a level of influence. Employees may out of desire for reward motivated to achieve higher levels of performance.

#### Servant Leadership Theory

The term "servant leadership" was first developed by Greenleaf in the early 1970s and published in 1977 (Eva et al., 2018). According to Greenleaf (1977), servant leadership is described as an altruistic calling on a leader who is engulfed with a deeprooted desire to make a positive difference in the life of others. The servant leadership approach is unique because it inverts the leadership pyramid starting with the leader at

the bottom (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). Heyler and Martin (2018) posited that servant leaders believe that the essence of leadership is serving followers by helping them develop professionally and personally. Lumpkin and Achen (2018) corroborated that the servant leader is a steward engaged in active service. Therefore, the servant leaders' primary focus is the development of a strong and long-term relationship with followers, building a well-knitted and vibrant community, and treating others as they would want to be treated (Chi et al., 2020; Lumpkin & Achen, 2018; Northouse, 2018; Stein et al., 2019; Vandenberghe, 2018).

The servant leader focuses attention on achieving vibrant long-term relationship with followers, assist their growth and development professionally and personally (Lapointe & Vandenberghe, 2018; Lumpkin & Achen, 2018; Stein et al., 2019). Servant leaders are egalitarian, rejecting the notion that leaders are superior to other employees (Chi et al., 2020). Instead, it suggests that the leader-follower relationship does not see a leader's office as a position with leadership expectations (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). Chi et al. (2020) stated that in servant leadership, decisions and interventions on issues relating with the organization and job procedures are not determined by the leader. According to Eva et al. (2018), servant leaders value the others' good by placing followers' success above their interest; they place subordinates' interest above organizational goals.

Banks et al. (2018) investigated frameworks and dimensions of servant leadership. Needham (2019) corroborated seven dimensions of servant leadership: (a) emotional healing, (b) creating value for the community, (c) listening and understanding,

(d) empowering, (e) helping subordinates grow and succeed, (f) putting followers first, and (g) good behaviors. Mustard (2020) postulated that the servant leader displays ten characteristics: listening, empathy, healing, awareness, persuasion, conceptualization, foresight, stewardship, commitment to others' growth, and community builders. All these corroborate Greenleaf's (1997) assertion that servant leaders listen to and understand others' problems; they help and empower followers through interpersonal support (Banks et al., 2018). One of servant leadership strategies is the desire to help others through empowerment and goal-oriented support fundamentally achieved by putting employees first (Northouse, 2018; Ragnarsson et al., 2018).

Servant leaders are goal-oriented, good communicators, situational, dependable, creative, trustworthy, and intuitive (Needham, 2017). The leader recognizes and respects the fact that followers have needs, goals, and limitations (Burney & Jockeys, 2020). Crippen and Willows (2019) posited that servant leaders show they are attentive to employee needs by demonstrating high communication skills. They are good listeners and show empathy, and this is a strategy used to build strength, trust, and confidence in the employees (Needham, 2017).

According to Okechukwu (2018), servant leaders motivate followers and develop them to become servant leaders themselves, ready to sacrifice personal interest for others. According to Muafi and Ismail (2018), employee motivation is achieved by creating desire and belief in the good of being a servant before aspiring to leadership position. The desire to serve others instilled in followers is seen to develop their capabilities

(Okechukwu, 2018). This leadership trait is noted to develop employees' skills and build them up to the level of goal achievement (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018).

### Summary Servant Leadership Theory

Servant leadership is viewed as effective in promoting public values and efficient delivery of services to the populace because the emphasis is not on the leader but on self-sacrifice and performance beyond the call of duty (Mostafa & El-Motalib, 2019). The servant leader's motivation and desire to serve others can be effective in the public sector as the focus is to serve others which is considered the bedrock of the public sector (Bayram & Zoubi, 2020; Mostafa & El-Motalib, 2019).

Transformational leadership and servant leadership focus on followers' needs (Bor & Shargel, 2020; Eva et al., 2019). Transformational leaders focus on followers' needs to enable employees to achieve organizational goals, whereas the servant leader's focus on followers' well-being is based on employees' multidimensional development (Andersen, 2018; Stollberger et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2018; Xie, 2020). The servant leader's attitude to employees is more flexible than transformational and transactional leadership style as the focus is on the employee before organizational goals (Wang et al., 2018). The focus of servant leaders on employee wellbeing is a long-term motivation as it inspires the desire of being a leader (Xie, 2020). Servant leadership focuses on humility, authenticity, and interpersonal acceptance while transformational leadership focuses on organizational objectives and inspiring employees to higher performance (Andersen, 2018; Xie, 2020).

Servant leadership is about trust and servant leaders are authentic, reliable, highly supported by employees, and provide direction (Bor & Shargel, 2020; Heyler & Martin 2018; Lumpkin & Achen, 2018; Varela et al., 2019; Mostafa & El-Motalib, 2019).

Furthermore, servant leadership attributes position the leader as a role model (Bayram & Zoubi, 2020). These attributes endear employees to their leader, notably increasing performance (Banks et al., 2018; Lumpkin & Achen, 2018; Stein et al., 2019).

Researchers found servant leadership will increase employee performance and organizational effectiveness when employees value, trust, and look up to their leader (Adiguzel et al., 2020; Bayram & Zoubi, 2020; Eva et al., 2019; Stollberger et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2018). When leaders in the public sector are able to display the attributes of servant leadership such as trust, reliability, and ability to provide direction, employees become endeared and committed to organizational goal achievement.

## **Laissez-Faire Leadership Theory**

Laissez-faire leadership theory is also known as delegative leadership (Diebig & Bormann 2020). According to Avolio, Bass, and Dung (1999), laissez-faire leadership is considered the absence of a leader behavior or inaction of the person holding the office of authority. Breevaart and Zacher (2019) opined that laissez-faire leader do not take responsibility and avoid interactions with their followers. According to Samanta and Lamprakis (2018), laissez-faire leaders are ineffective, are not interested in their line of duties, do not decide, do not guide, and do not intervene in problems or challenges. The leader displays a high level of confidence in employee's autonomy and permits them to

carry out duties as they deem most appropriate with least supervision (Diebig & Bormann, 2020).

Laissez-faire leadership, according to Nielsen et al. (2019), is a non-leadership situation because the leader is absent, does not make decisions, and is less engaged with employees. Breevaart and Zacher (2019) noted that laissez-faire leadership negatively affects followers. Corroborating, Nielsen et al. (2019) opined that laissez-faire leadership eliminates the supervisory role, guidance, and fundamental communication with employees. Exposure to this leadership style would instigate negative emotions and increase levels of frustration as the leader is not connected to the employee (Breevaart & Zacher, 2019).

#### Summary Laissez-Faire Leadership Theory

Laissez-faire leadership is termed as nonexistent leadership (Avolio et al., 1999; Breevaart & Zacher, 2019; Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018). Laissez-faire leaders are not interested in their duties, do not guide nor intervene in crisis situations (Breevaart & Zacher 2019). According to Samata and Lamprakis (2018), this leadership style negatively impacts performance. Explaining further, Diebig and Bormann (2020) postulated that laissez-faire leadership can lead to negative employee reactions due to the leader's neglect of workplace procedures, avoidance of supervisory responsibilities; and voluntarily avoiding employees concerns and expectations (Li et al., 2019).

#### **Employee Performance**

Scholars opined a significant increase in human capital development in organizations. (Bose, 2018; Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018; Edward & Koban, 2020). Human resources have

become one of the most important aspects of achieving organizational vision, mission, and objectives (Jeffrey & Prasetya, 2019). The human factor is undoubtedly a strategic necessity in managing customer relationships since no technology can replace skilled communication, problem-solving, and customer-centric services (Dhanpat et al., 2018).

Employee performance, therefore, is of high relevance in determining the survival of an organization, its adaptability to the business environment, and success (Afsar et al., 2019; Alfani & Hamzah, 2019). Therefore, employee performance is the key driver to increase the productivity of any organization (Bose, 2018; Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018; Islam et al., 2018). The performance of an employee can be understood through the comparison of tasks accomplished versus task assigned and the outcome is evaluated to ascertain level of completion according to expected results (Bose, 2018; Tabiu, 2019). Employee performance is viewed as the record of outcomes produced on a specified job function or activity during a specified period, a wide gap between target and achievement can be interpreted as low employee performance (Edward & Kaban, 2020). Assessing performance entails evaluating task proficiency over a specified time period (Saleem et al., 2019; Tripathi, 2020). Performance measurement is a continuous process of goal setting, evaluation, and feedback (Vlu et al., 2019). Performance can be influenced by skills, exposure to work setting, nature of responsibility, and time allotted to complete the work (Eneanya, 2018; Sangperm & Jermsittiparsert, 2019).

Leadership can influence employees work behavior (Rahmadani et al., 2020).

Core tasks are relatively stable, and hence, leaders provide followers with specific goals, guidelines, and performance standards; leaders oversee the progress and provide

feedback on employee performance (Kumar, 2020). Dialoke and Ogbu (2018) posited that employees performance is dependent on the style of leadership prevalent in the organization. Leaders are seen to influence the behavior of employees through decision-making, communication, instructions, and motivation. Leaders choose the appropriate leadership style that can positively influence performance towards the attainment of organizational goals (Sangperm & Jermsittiparsert, 2019).

According to Islam et al. (2018), leaders increase employee performance by creating a work environment of mutual respect, cooperation, trust, and support. Udin et al. (2020) posited that leaders increase employee self-confidence and value resulting in an increased performance that is beyond expected levels. Leaders strategically influence employees by providing access to information, support, resources, and opportunities (Boamah et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2019). Allowing employees access to organizational goals, values, policies, technical knowledge, and expertise instills a sense of belonging and value thereby making them more effective at work (Eliyana, & Muzakki 2019).

Creating a supportive work environment that provides social and emotional support, guidance and feedback from peers, subordinates, and supervisors enhances team spirit, collaboration, and healthy competition (Afsar et al., 2019; Peng et al., 2019). Access to resources such as materials, supplies, money, time, and equipment needed to accomplish the job determine effective performance (Peng, et al., 2019). Access to mobility and growth opportunities entails access to challenges, rewards, increased status, recognition for competence, skills, and professional development opportunities (Ohemeng, 2018).

The need for a high-performance workforce in the public sector has made it imperative for leaders to embrace strategies that will increase performance (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Andersen, 2018; Ohemeng, 2018). Public sector employee performance has been questioned especially in developing countries like Nigeria where employees exert more effort in discharging their assigned responsibilities (Ehiane et al., 2019; Tabiu, 2019). Public sector reform is imperative to community development in developing countries and employees are the potential source of improvement (Campbell, 2018b; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Onwuama & Obiora 2020; Vu et al., 2019).

Employee performance is considered an essential component for public sector development (Andersen, 2018; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Vu et al., 2019). A high-performance workforce is needed to achieve organizational goals and effectiveness (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Vuong et al., 2019). Leadership is an essential component that influences and determines employee performance in the organization (Anshori et al., 2020; Peng, 2019; Sandvik, et al., 2019; Vuong et al., 2019; Wahab & Tyasari, 2020).

# Transformational Leadership and Employee Performance

Transformational leadership behavior represents the most effective leadership strategy for achieving increased employee performance (Breevaart & Zacher, 2019; Campbell, 2018a; Ibrahim et al., 2018; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). Leadership is an art that presents employees with a new horizon of performance goals and achievements (Islam et al., 2018). The transformational leader is theorized to engage employees in a relationship that motivates to higher performance (Langat et al., 2019; Samanta & Lamprakis. 2018).

The transformational leader inspires employees to achieve higher performance levels (Anshori et al., 2020; Aun et al., 2019; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018).

Transformational leaders correlate individual benefits with the identity of the organization and the benefit of the team. Such leaders inspire and challenge employees to demonstrate high-performance, innovation, and a goal-accomplishing attitude (Aun et al., 2019; Buil et al., 2019; Mokhber et al., 2018).

According to Sosrowidigdo (2020), an organization's leadership style can significantly affect employee performance. Ramdas and Patrick (2018) noted a significant correlation between leader strategy and employee performance. Previous studies have also established a causal relationship between transformational leadership and employee performance (Aun et al., 2019; Eliyana et al., 2019; Hee et al., 2018; Ibrahim et al., 2018). Ibrahim et al. (2018) conducted a study on transformational leadership and employee performance in the Malaysian public sector. Using the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ), 250 questionnaires were administered to staff, and the results concluded a causal relationship between transformational leadership and employee performance (Ibrahim et al., 2018). Burns (1978) opined that there is indepth connectivity in terms of performance and transformational leadership. Bass and Avolio (1990) recommended that organizations need to teach transformational leadership in all management positions as it positively affects performance.

One of the essential elements of transformational leadership is leaders' ability to influence followers to strive for higher performance and influence employee attitudes, beliefs, and values (Awaang et al., 2020; Hee et al., 2018; Ibrahim et al., 2018). Buil et al.

(2019) explained that transformational leaders can successfully influence employees by focusing on their needs, listening to their challenges, and encouraging them to develop professionally; this attribute promotes employee pride and attachment to the organization (Aun et al., 2019; Buil et al., 2019).

Transformational leaders display firm support and concern for employees welfare by ensuring unbiased treatment and consideration for all (Anshori et al., 2020). Notably, this strategy gives employees a sense of belonging, a feeling of worthiness, and appreciation of their efforts (Mokhber et al., 2018). Transformational leadership strategy can consistently yield a high level of motivation and inspiration that propels employees to transcend personal interest for the organization's good (Awang et al., 2020; Mokhber et al., 2018).

Abasilim et al. (2019) explained that transformational leaders build employees leadership competence, stimulating accomplishment of unprecedented results.

Transformational leaders develop procedural approach and encourage employees to participate in the process which develops creative skills and intuitive thinking (Reza, 2019). The leaders are expected to create an enabling work environment that promotes innovation and competitive advantage. Transformational leaders motivate employees to deliver outcomes beyond expectations through developing positive, goal-oriented beliefs and value systems in the organization (Mokhber et al., 2018).

Posner and Kauzes (1988) developed a transformational leadership model by interviewing more than 1,300 managers in public and private organizations. This model entails five effective practices: model the way, inspire a shared vision, challenge the

process, enable others to act, and encourage the heart. Posner and Kouzes suggested that leadership is not a position but rather a collection of practices and behaviors which serve as guidance for goal accomplishments. Posner and Kouzes stated further that successful leaders work effectively with people because they can create a vision that guides employees' vision and positively influences performance. The transformational leader can transform employee's focus to achieving organization's vision and operate beyond standard achievement; stimulate the intellect and promote employee creativity (Mokhber et al., 2018).

According to Al-Ama (2017), leaders transform employees perceptions and influence their values, expectations, and aspirations through transformational leadership behaviors. Transformational leaders are seen as agents of change that strategically create a conducive work environment that enhances and enables goal accomplishment (Mokhber et al., 2018).

Transformational leaders possess traits through which they enhance employee performance and goal attainment (Bass, 1997). The trait of the component of idealized influence makes the leader a role model. Using this trait, leaders influence followers to believe in their leaders and go beyond their bounds for the leaders. With the component of inspirational motivation, the leader demonstrates the ability to inspire confidence and a sense of purpose (Al – Ama, 2017). The leader has a succinct vision, communicate expectations, and demonstrates genuine commitment to goal accomplishment (Awang et al., 2020). Under the component of intellectual stimulation, the leader inspires creativity and innovation by challenging the followers to achieve above the status quo. The

component of individual consideration ensures the leader focuses on individual growth. The strategy here involves individualized support tools such as counseling, mentoring, and coaching (Bass, 1997). These leadership traits positively influence on employees' commitment to the organization and performance (Al-Amin, 2017).

Transformational leadership is considered the leadership style that positively affects employee performance (Anshori et al., 2020; Bass, 1997; Chen et al., 2019; Nam & Park, 2019). Transformational leaders' personality and behavioral traits motivate and inspire employees (Abasilim et al., 2019; Anshori et al., 2020; Nam & Park, 2019; Reza, 2019). Transformational leaders are noted for having the capacity to intellectually challenge employees to overcome work challenges through teamwork, innovation, and creativity (Breevaart & Bakker, 2018; Raziq et al., 2018).

Transformational leadership ensures effective and efficient communication of organizational vision which notably results in employee commitment and active engagement (Toufaili, 2018). Leaders may learn to appropriate the transformational leadership tenets to increase employee performance with proper understanding and application of a transformational leader's characteristics and attributes. As identified by Bass (1990), the four constructs of (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration can enable leaders to communicate vision effectively, achieve organizational goals, productively engage employees, involve employees in decision making process, and inspire employees to higher levels of performance (Afsaar & Masood, 2018; Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Campbell,

2018a; Chen et al., 2018; Elmasry & Bakri, 2018; Faupel & Süß, 2019; Getachew & Zhou, 2018; Toufaili, 2018).

### Analysis of the Public Sector in Nigeria

The public sector is established to provide efficient services to the community (Ahmad & Saad, 2020). According to Elmasry and Bakri (2019), the public sector is the vehicle through which services are rendered to the public in a coordinated and efficient manner. Eneanya (2018) posited that the public sector is a state activity that involves interaction with citizens as customers. According to Onwuama and Obiora (2020), the public sector includes government agencies with specific services under the jurisdiction of the government. The public sector in Nigeria represents the government's realm to benefit the citizenry (Oluruntoba & Gbemigun, 2019).

The public sector in Nigeria is viewed as significant to the federal government as a channel to manage resource allocation, expenditures, policy administration, and service delivery to the community (Ake & Olowojolu, 2019; Chiamogu, 2019; Igbokwe-Ibeto et al., 2020; Oluruntoba & Gbemigun, 2019; Olusola & Daniel, 2019). Ahmad and Saad (2020) posited that the public sector's competitive edge is highly dependent on the efficiency and effectiveness of the workforce. However, some believe that leadership ineffectiveness in the Nigerian public sector is connected to inefficiency and under performance (Ake & Olowojolu, 2019; Chiamogu, 2019; Igbokwe-Ibeto et al., 2020).

Nigeria is a public sector driven economy; hence, government activities' success is dependent upon the sector's performance of efficient service delivery (Adanri, 2016; Ake, 2019; Eneanya 2018; Igbokwe-Ibeto et al., 2020). Onyema (2018) attributed poor

employee performance and poor execution of some national policies of the public sector to lack of strategic leadership. Ake and Olowojolu, (2019) opined that ineffective leadership is the major cause of setbacks recorded in the public sector.

# Implementing Transformational Leadership Strategies in the Public Sector in Nigeria

The nature of the public sector is vast and complex. According to Ojala (2013), the complexity results from public dissatisfaction despite government's efforts. Resolving the complexity is hinged on having an effective, efficient, and high-performing public sector (Ehiane et al., 2019; Oloruntoba & Gbemigun, 2019). The public sector's competitive edge on the global scale is highly dependent on effective service delivery and employee performance (Ahmad & Saad 2020; Ehiane et al., 2019). Globally, public sectors are confronted with citizen discontent over service delivery, performance, technology, cultural influence, and globalization; this discontent initiated the need for public sectors worldwide to seek new strategies that can increase employee performance.

A vibrant public sector strengthens the economy and fosters growth. Therefore, improving public sector performance automatically upscales the economy's performance characterized by growth, poverty reduction, and improved human development (Ehiane et al., 2019). Thus, it is pertinent to have a high-performance-centric workforce that will be effective, efficient, productive, and innovative (Ahmad & Saad, 2020). Leadership is paramount to achieving public sector effectiveness (Aun, 2019; Harb & Sidani, 2019; Mau, 2020 Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018).

Public sector's effectiveness is based on strategic leadership's quality and ability to harness human resources efficiently and progressively. Transformational leadership is grounded on the ideology that charismatic leaders are sensitive to followers' needs, motivate and inspire employees to higher levels of performance (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Awang et al., 2020; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). Explaining further, Ahmad and Saad (2020) posited that there is a positive relationship between transformational leadership and employee performance in the public sector. According to Campbell (2018), transformational leadership positively affects performance in the public sector. Transformational leaders operate with high integrity therefore they can influence and motivate employees to achieve higher performance levels (Ibrahim et al., 2018; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). Thus, a leader is expected to have the ability to make strategic decisions rather than just implementing actions, which is a significant driver for growth in the public sector (Fashola et al., 2016). According to Onwuama and Anichebe (2020), the public sector's growth is affected by leaders' ethical behaviors, which implies that the leader's strategic behaviors improve employee performance. A transformational leader uses charisma to coach, mentor, challenge, and support employees to transcend their selfinterest for organization's good.

# The Public Sector and the Idealized Influence Strategy

Employee confidence in the leader boosts morale, encourage and motivate higher performance levels. Idealized influence strategy makes the transformational leader charismatic, confident, ethical, idealistic, and trustworthy thereby making the leader a role model to the employees (Abasilim et al., 2019; Avolio & Bass, 2004). According to

Elmasry and Bakri (2018), these attributes influence employees' performance in the public sector, stimulate critical thinking, and inspire loyalty (Khaltar & Moon, 2020). Idealized influence strategy enables the leader to understand employees uniqueness, capacity, and talent, and assign tasks according to individual strengths (Kasimoglu & Ammari, 2019). The strategy promotes employee creativity, innovation, and divergent thinking in the workplace (Anthony, 2017; Awang et al., 2020; Campbell, 2018a). This is one of the much-needed attributes that fosters effectiveness and efficiency among public sector employees.

In applying the idealized influence leadership strategy, the leader creates the vision and shares it with employees which notably yields a strong influence on performance in the public sector. Dialoke and Ogbu (2018) stated that, when employees follow the set vision of their leader, they are focused on actualization of organizational vision, influenced to follow in the leaders' steps as a role model and positively perceive themselves as future leaders (Anthony, 2017; Kasimoglu & Ammari, 2019; Matjie, 2018). This combination of activities causes employees to commit to community interest rather than their personal interest (Khaltar & Moon, 2020).

According to Ahmad and Saad (2020), leaders that exhibit the idealized influence strategy are embodied as exemplary and trusted by subordinates. These behaviors promote the assertion that such leaders are powerful and worthy of confidence (Kasimoglu & Ammari, 2019). The leader provides moral support to employees, coaches, mentors, and is concerned about their career path (Gennaro, 2018). Employees feel valued and appreciated, therefore are inspired, and highly committed to achieving set

goals and visions (Tuan & Thao, 2018). The employees are encouraged to see themselves as part of the organization and change agents (Gennaro, 2018). Leaders applying the idealized influence strategy understand public sector employee behavior, motivate them to adapt to uncertainties, and be highly effective (Gennaro, 2018). Munhiva and Kihara (2019) concluded that leaders who apply idealized influence strategy are honored, appreciated, trusted, admired, and imitated, which has led to improved employee performance.

Analyzing the impact of idealized influence on employee performance and importance to the organization, Shaw et al. (2018) investigated 12 employees in Canada to examine their behavior and the impact of leadership strategy on their output. The authors presented that idealized influence enabled leaders to successfully deliver corporate mission, thereby enabling proper understanding of expectations. Employees can relate with the leaders and are inspired to follow their leaders and remain committed to goal accomplishment.

# The Public Sector and the Inspirational Motivation Strategy

The transformational leadership strategy through inspirational motivation exhibits a high level of enthusiasm and optimism when challenging employees; this instills confidence and a sense of purpose in employees, and by so doing, a high level of performance is achieved. The leader articulates organizational vision and generate motivation by setting high workplace standards, inspire employees to achieve standards (Abasilim et al., 2019; Edward & Kaban, 2020; Yamamoto & Yamaguchi, 2019). Dialoke and Ogbu (2018) opined that inspirational motivation transformational

leadership strategy enhances employee capacity to be self-reliant and develop confidence. According to Tuan and Thao (2018), employees are inspired by the leader's tactics and strategies, enhancing performance. Building employees confidence positions the leader favorably, and thus, viewed as unselfish and enthusiastic about employee growth (Dialoke & Ogbu, 2018; Lo et al., 2020).

In the transformational leadership inspirational motivation strategy, leaders communicate vision unambiguously to employees (Ahmad & Saad, 2019). Leaders' motivational strategy is allocation of challenging tasks and motivating employees to accomplish tasks. Munyiva and Kihara (2018) posited that the inspirational motivation leadership strategy increases employee performance through enthusiasm, optimism, teamwork, and positive results.

Harb and Sidani (2019) interviewed 10 general managers in the Lebanese public sector to evaluate the impact of inspirational motivation strategy on employee performance. The results presented those leaders using the inspirational motivation strategy could transparently share their vision and display confidence in employees' capability. The leader treats employees with respect, which in turn gains their respect and loyalty.

# The Public Sector and the Intellectual Stimulation Strategy

Applying the intellectual stimulation transformational leadership strategy, the leader encourages employees to be innovative and creative. The leader encourages employees to freely question beliefs, assumptions, values, and job implementation procedures (Munhiva & Kihara, 2018). Harb and Sidani (2019) postulated that such

attributes enable innovation and new ways of solving problem, encourage knowledge sharing and builds trust which is pertinent to increasing employee performance in the public sector (Besieux et al., 2018; Harb & Sidani, 2019; Khan & Khan, 2019). According to Bass (1985), the intellectual stimulation transformational leadership strategy encourages employees to ask questions, reason intensely, and think widely to accomplish tasks. Leaders' ability to inspire innovation among employees in the public sector is critical to growth (Khan & Khan, 2019; Vries et al., 2018). Leaders using the intellectual stimulation strategy inspire employees to seamlessly solve problems and address challenges by encouraging and accepting subordinates' suggestions, this builds trust and appreciation of employees' capabilities.

A study carried out on school principals and their influence on teachers' performance by Breevaart and Bakker (2019) revealed a positive influence on teachers' performance. The authors opined that the principals demonstrated intellectual stimulation by listening to teachers and encouraging free communication on problems and proffering solutions. This strategy was noted to enhance creativity, help employees grow professionally, and increase innovative suggestions to organizational challenges (Breevart & Bekker, 2019). Public sector innovation motivates employees to higher level of performance. Employees are encouraged to solve problems creatively and this builds trust and sense of belonginess which results in increased performance.

#### The Public Sector and the Individualized Consideration Strategy

Applying the individualized consideration transformational leadership strategy, the leader helps bring out public servants' potential by providing socio-emotional

support, viewing, and accepting employees as valuable contributors to organization's growth. Munyiva and Kihara, (2018) postulated that employee inclusion is critical in the organization's transformation process. The leader responds to employees' needs in a supportive and helpful manner (Khan et al., 2020). Applying this strategy, the leader can maintain a dyadic relationship with employees and create a more flexible working environment. This strategy fosters interpersonal relationships with the leader and the resulting confidence which transcends the official relationship and fosters trust and dedication.

The individualized consideration leader behavior is a developmental relationship that encourages two-way communication, improves information exchange, allows cordial and familiarity with the leader, inspires employees to grow professionally, and notably improves employee performance in the public sector (Getachew et al., 2018; Harb & Sidani, 2019; Khan et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2020). Leaders pay attention to employees' specific needs, assign tasks according to employees' capacity (Martinez -Corcoles et al., 2020). Application of individualized consideration strategy in the public sector can take the form of personal expressions of words of appreciation to employees for successful completion of tasks (Campbell, 2018b; Getachew & Zhou, 2018; Lauzikas & Miliute, 2019). The acknowledgement of employees' feelings, mentoring, and concern for professional growth endears employees to their leader and instills pride because of close relationship with the leader (Abasilim et al., 2019; Guterresa et al., 2020; Olusola & Daniel, 2019). Leader-employee cordial relationship fosters a high sense of commitment to both the leader and the organization.

An effective leader creates organizational culture that encourages employees to do the work they find satisfying. Ibrahim et al. (2018) opined that the creation of organizational culture is a strategy that could encourage public sector innovation and employee dedication to the leader and the organization (Khan et al., 2020). The strategy inspires interest in work and task accomplishments which is viewed as a strategy for employee performance in the public sector (Awang et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2020). Employees are more relaxed and confident in the work environment characterized by innovation and fair work distributions. Employee's confidence in the system results in increased performance.

## Summary Transformational Leadership Strategies in the Public Sector in Nigeria

Transformational leader encourages employees to be creative and think outside the box. The leader inspires the development of new problem-solving ideas (participatory) instead of the formal, rigid civil service structure. The civil servants are encouraged to operate in a workplace environment that freely questions beliefs, assumptions, traditions, and procedures that may be outdated or inappropriate to handle current challenges (Olaopa, 2018).

In Nigeria, the federal government's developmental policies are implemented through the workforce in the public sector. However, the sector's effectiveness is measured through efficiency of service delivery, which is dependent on leadership and employee performance (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Eneanya 2018; Igbokwe-Ibeto et al., 2020). Therefore, to achieve improved performance, it is essential to choose and adopt the leadership style that inspires and motivates employees to higher performance levels

(Abasilim et al., 2019; Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Harb & Sidani, 2019; Kelu & MacDonald, 2019). Transformational leaders are noted to be respected and trusted by the employees, thereby, creating a high level of job satisfaction that notably results in increased performance (Anshori et al., 2020; Aun et al., 2019; Awang et al., 2020; Breevaart & Zacher, 2019; Olaopa, 2018).

Bass (1985) stated that transformational leaders inspire followers with strategic organizational vision and mission; transform and motivate through idealized attributes, idealized behaviors, intellectual stimulation, inspirational motivation, and individualized consideration. Bass (1985) agreed with Burns' (1978) concept of the transformational leadership style that the leader has a strong influence on followers' motivation and performance. Bass (1985) agreed that a leader is transformational when they can influence followers and followers trust, respect, and are loyal to the leader. Burns (1978), in agreement with Bass (1985), noted that transformational leaders guide followers to align with organizational goals.

The ability of transformational leaders to communicate well-articulated visions and hold high expectations enables team building that facilitates higher performance, trust and loyalty (Anshori et al., 2020; Boamah et al., 2018; Breevaart & Zacher, 2019; Buil et al., 2019; Cai et al., 2018; Harb & Sidani, 2019). Nigeria's public sector transformational leaders would identify the gaps in existing policies that have hindered employees' performance and effectiveness (Ehiane et al., 2019; Olaopa, 2018). The leaders can promote a change agenda that ensures public service values, problem-solving ideas, creative work environment, and innovation (Awang et al., 2020; Boamah et al.,

2020; Hansen & Pihl-Thingvad, 2019; Torfing, 2019). Moreover, creating collaborative leadership inspires and motivates employees to work beyond leader's expectations and implement appropriate changes in bureaucracy that hinder effectiveness (Alrowwad et al., 2020; Anshori et al., 2020; Ehiane et al., 2019; Hansen & Pihl-Thingvad, 2019; Harb & Sidani, 2019; Olopa, 2018).

#### **Transition**

Section 1 of this study reviewed the problem and purpose statement, nature of the study, research question, interview questions, and conceptual framework. This section also encompassed operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and the study's significance. Finally, this section included a review of professional and academic literature.

In Section 2, I reiterated the purpose statement and discussed my role as the researcher, the participants, the population, sampling methods, and the study's ethical implications. I discussed and validated the research method and design, the plan and procedures used to capture data, data organization, and data analysis. Section 2 concluded with a discussion on how I achieved reliability and validity of data. Section 3 summarized this study's findings relating to the business practice implications, social change implications, potential future research opportunities, and future action recommendations.

## Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I present details of the methodology and design of this research project. The segment includes the role of the researcher, participants' qualifying criteria, the research method, and design techniques used for the study. The procedure for selection of participants and sampling method to ensure data saturation is discussed. Measures adopted to ensure participants' ethical protection are clearly stated. Data collection instruments, data techniques, and procedures used to achieve validity and reliability of data are also explained.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that leaders in the Nigerian public sector use to increase employee performance. The targeted population comprised four leaders from four distinct ministries and parastatals of the Nigerian public sector in the FCT, Abuja who have successfully developed and implemented strategies that have increased employee performance. The contribution to positive social change within the public sector includes potential to benefit society by providing strategies that can be used to stabilize employment, which may result in employee prosperity and increase the wellbeing of families. Stabilized employment may enhance the efficient and effective delivery of services rendered to communities through the public sector.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

My role as the researcher and primary data collection instrument in this qualitative multiple case study included collecting and analyzing the data. The researcher

is responsible for recruiting participants; developing interview questions; collecting, collating, and analyzing data; reporting findings; and making recommendations (Cluley et al., 2020; Denzin & Lincoln 2018). Qualitative researchers ask open-ended questions in semistructured interviews, distribute questionnaires, analyze data, and identify themes in an unbiased and ethical manner (Cluley et al., 2020; Frechette et al., 2020). As posited by Frechette et al. (2020), researchers use semistructured interviews to extract rich details about experiences. For this study, I conducted semistructured interviews using open-ended questions and established necessary interview protocols.

In qualitative research, ethical considerations and confidentiality are vital (Glenna et al., 2019). I ensured strict adherence to the ethical standards of the Belmont Report (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). The Belmont Report stipulates that the code of ethics must be respected to ensure protection and privacy of participants. Research was not conducted until approval was granted by the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB), which is in strict adherence to Belmont Report. After the approval, I contacted selected sample participants through email. A signed informed consent form was obtained from participants after guaranteeing a full understanding of the interview protocol prior to conducting research. In accordance with the standards of the Belmont Report (see U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979), participants confidentiality was not compromised.

Researchers have the responsibility to guard against bias, which can deviate rationality and interpretation (Buetow, 2019). According to Wadams and Park (2018), researcher bias misrepresents participants opinions. I worked in the public sector for 14

years and held leadership positions. Qualitative researchers are expected to exclude personal viewpoints, experiences, and morals when conducting research. To remain neutral, I ensured that my experience in the public sector did not influence participant selection, collation, interpretation, and analysis of data. Participants selected were of the level of ministers, director generals, and executive directors, whose positions were much higher than the highest level I attained, to have an informed unbiased opinion on leader strategies that can increase employee performance in the public sector. Research procedures ensure validity and mitigate bias (Buetow, 2019; Hamilton, 2020; Wadams & Park, 2018). According to Wadams and Park (2018), researchers can mitigate bias through member checking. Member checking is a technique used by qualitative researchers to validate the trustworthiness of the results. I shared the summary of interviews with participants to ensure that the interpretations conformed with their views. I adhered strictly to the ethics of research and protection of participants' privacy.

A reliable and well-established interview protocol is crucial to obtain good qualitative data (Braaten et al., 2020; Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). According to Braaten et al. (2020), a carefully developed interview protocol can help the researcher save time and maintain a sense of uniformity and conformity. Researchers collect valuable data, mitigate bias, and ensure reliability of data by imploring interview protocols (Braaten et al., 2020). Credibility in qualitative research can be achieved through semistructured interview protocols. To mitigate researcher bias, I adhered to the protocols of member checking and data saturation ensuring that I had no prior existing personal or professional relationship with participants.

## **Participants**

The participants were selected purposively to meet the conditions needed to obtain data from leaders in the Nigerian public sector who have successfully applied strategies that increased employee performance. To have informed and rich perspective of the study, it is imperative to have participants who meet the criteria needed for data interpretation and analysis (Saunders et al. 2018). The population sample comprised of four leaders from four distinct ministries and parastatals of the Nigerian public sector in the FCT, Abuja who have successfully developed and implemented strategies that increased employee performance. All participants were screened and met the following eligibility conditions for this study: (a) minimum of 18 years of age, (b) have served in the leadership position in the public sector for a minimum of one term of 4 years, and (c) have developed and implemented strategies that increased employee performance in the public sector.

To identify potential participants, I searched the following websites for public organizations with good rating:

- SERVICOM website. I used the evaluation report to select organizations with positive ratings.
- Public & Private Development Centre. I used their ranking of public sector service performance in Nigeria.
- Office of the Head of the Civil Service of the Federation (an umbrella organization for all public sector organizations in Nigeria).
- Secretary to the Government of the Federation.

• World Bank. Public sector performance index for Nigeria.

I searched for email addresses and telephone contacts of the director general, executive directors, and directors of selected public sector organization. Afterwards, I sent an invitation email to four potential participants. I introduced myself as the researcher, provided a detailed explanation of the purpose of the study and the benefits to the Nigerian public sector, and solicited their permission to grant interviews. I requested potential participants to communicate their response to me via email. Participants who were willing responded by email "I consent". Yin (2018) posited that to gain access to participants, the researcher is expected to contact potential participants through personal communication, such as telephone calls, emails, or personal visit.

Afterwards, I made follow up contact to participants who had indicated a positive response through email to establish their willingness to proceed with the interview. Yin (2018) noted that for the success of the research, it is vital for the researcher to establish an honest and cordial working relationship with the participants. I maintained a professional relationship, encouraging free and open communication. I discussed with participants how the results of the research may contribute to the growth of the public sector. I ensured that participants had a good understanding of the interview protocols to establish an appropriate understanding of the intent and their role in the research. I informed participants of the voluntary nature of the study and that their decision to withdraw at any time they felt appropriate would be respected.

In ensuring successful research, the researcher is expected to build a trust relationship with respondents as it notably fosters an environment that enables

respondents to discuss freely (Wang & Tong, 2020). According to Surmiak (2018), building trust with participants is the bedrock to the success of interviews and data collection in research. To build trust, I assured participants of confidentiality and strict adherence to interview protocols as stipulated by my university. I remained transparent and neutral in my informal discussions, without displaying any form of bias. The participants were able to ask clarifying questions about the purpose of the study as well as review my notes during and after the interview. This was expected to increase their confidence, trust, and sincerity. It is vital that the researcher practice ethical conduct throughout the data gathering process as it notably mitigates bias and fosters a relaxed environment for free undistorted communication (Grant et al., 2019).

## **Research Method and Design**

Researchers use the qualitative research method to explore nonnumerical data from a broader perspective. Using the qualitative research method, the researcher can explore perceptions and gain an in-depth understanding of a phenomenon through observations and experiences (Yin, 2018). The purpose of this study was to explore leadership strategies that can increase employee performance in the public sector.

## Research Method

I selected a qualitative research method for this research study. Researchers use the qualitative research method to explore what, how, and why about a phenomenon from a realistic view through interviews and observations (Yin, 2018). Based on Yin's (2018) recommendations, the qualitative method was the most appropriate for this research as I attempted to answer what and how questions on leader strategies that can increase

employee performance in the public sector. In qualitative research, researchers explore participants' experiences through data collected from interviews and questionnaires (Yin, 2018). Lanka et al. (2021) posited that researchers use qualitative research to explore and understand perceptions on phenomena. Based on Peterson (2019), the emphasis on qualitative research theory is development rather than logical deductions based on assumptions.

Researchers use semistructured interviews to collect and analyze data alongside organizational documents, performance rating, and other useful information on the website (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Yin (2018) stated that the qualitative method uses open-ended questions to obtain data. Therefore, the qualitative research method was the most appropriate to address the research question as it entailed close communication with participants. In guaranteeing the successful conduct of interviews, researchers ensure a friendly and relaxed environment and develop and maintain a trusting relationship with respondents, which notably encourages participants to freely discuss their strategies (Guillemin et al., 2018; Wang & Tong, 2020). Surmiak (2018) posited that building trust with the participant is the bedrock for successful interviews and data collection in research. I engaged with the participants throughout the process to establish and develop a working relationship with each participant. I ensured a free atmosphere that fostered free participation and discussion of experiences using the interview protocol (see Appendix A) to ensure understanding. Using the qualitative method, I collected data from leaders who successfully used strategies to increase employee performance within the public sector.

The other methods of research in addition to the qualitative were quantitative and mixed methods research. In a quantitative research method, researchers test hypotheses to examine and analyze independent and dependent variables' relationships or differences using statistical methods (Boeren, 2018). According to Yin (2018), in the quantitative research method, the researcher attempts to quantify, classify, and examine data using statistical or mathematical techniques. The primary focus of the quantitative researcher is understanding a phenomenon using numerical data and specific statistical techniques to reject or accept a hypothesis. I did not choose a quantitative method for this study because quantitative researchers use predetermined statistical techniques and variables. Therefore, the quantitative research method was not appropriate because the study was not focused on numerical data, testing of hypotheses, and analysis of independent and dependent variables' relationships or differences using statistical methods. Also, closeended questions could not be used to obtain data for this study, and I did not statistically predict any variable.

The mixed method research inculcates both the qualitative and quantitative approach (Yin, 2018). In the mixed method, the researcher collects data, analyzes data, and uses open-ended and close-ended questions for data gathering (Frais & Popovich, 2020). I did not use the mixed method for this study because I did not need the quantitative component to obtain numerical data or test a hypothesis.

# **Research Design**

## Phenomenological Design

Researchers use a phenomenological design to explain the world by exploring individuals' perceptions of their lived experiences' meanings (Moustakas, 1994; Neubauer et al., 2019). The phenomenological design describes an individual's typical behavior from a common standpoint (Yin, 2017). Researchers using a phenomenological design seek to understand the lived experiences of individuals, acquiring data from several people who experience the same event (Creswell & Poth, 2018). For this study, the phenomenological design was not appropriate as my focus was not exploring individuals' perceptions of the meanings of their lived experiences.

# Ethnographic Design

Ethnographic researchers spend protracted time in a cultural setting to study individuals' behavior (Goopy & Kassan, 2019). Ethnographic researchers use multiple methodological approaches to focus on life stories finding answers and comparing why or what questions (Reyes, 2017). Qualitative researchers use the ethnographic design to observe participants culture for a period (Cantarella et al., 2019). Ethnography was not appropriate as the study did not involve observing participants or exploring and characterizing a group's culture.

## Case Study Design

Researchers use case study design to explore a phenomenon within a real-world context bounded by time, investigate and understand participants' behaviors (Mostert, 2018; Yin 2018). Qualitative researchers use case study design to explore a phenomenon

through participants experiences (Yin, 2018). According to Ebneyamini et al. (2018), case study researchers carry out empirical inquiry that investigates a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context of undefined boundaries.

The empirical element of case study research consists of real-world data derived from multiple sources (Farquhar, 2020). Yin (2018) stated that the most important advantage of conducting case study research was having the opportunity of a holistic view of a process. According to Ebneyamini et al. (2018), researchers that use the case study intends to gain better understanding of real life complex social phenomena from the viewpoint of the participants using single or multiple cases.

Researchers use the multiple case study to describe a phenomenon through multiple perspectives from two or more cases or businesses hence the evidence is more persuasive, and the outcome can have a more compelling validity than a single case study (Yin, 2018). For this study, I used the multiple case study to understand strategies that can be applied to increase employee performance in the public sector from multiple leaders' perspectives. Multiple case study researchers use triangulation to address multiple data sources validity and reliability (Farquhar, 2020). The multiple case study allowed me to use open ended questions in a semistructured interview to gain in-depth understanding of the interview questions and analyze appropriate leaders' strategies from multiple organizations that can increase employee performance.

## **Population and Sampling**

Sampling is a vital element of qualitative research (Aksakal et al., 2019; Moser & Korstiens, 2018; Yin, 2018). One of the objectives of employing qualitative research is to

gain a deeper understanding of the social phenomenon, and the sample drawn determine answers to research questions, and provide insight into the phenomenon under investigation (Aksakal et al., 2019). In sampling selection, the researcher's primary focus is to ensure a small size that supports the depth of case-oriented analysis fundamental to the study's purpose (Vasilejou et al., 2018).

Purposeful sampling is a nonprobability method whereby participants are not chosen at random, convenience, or availability; rather participants are selected according to the need of the study, participants capacity, and knowledge on the field of study that would provide relevant information on the phenomenon investigated (Benoot et al., 2016; Vasilejou et. al., 2018). Moser and Korstiens (2018) opined that purposeful sampling selection of participants is based on the researcher's judgement on the most informative participants. Vasilejou et al. (2018) opined that purposeful sampling is beneficial as it allows the researcher to determine the participant's inclusion, hence, provide the rich data needed for an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon. In this qualitative multiple case study, I applied purposeful sampling for the choice of participants. The purposeful sample was made up of four public sector leaders in the FCT Abuja who have successfully applied strategies that increased employee performance.

In ensuring an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon, qualitative researchers select the appropriate population to ensure data saturation (Guest et al., 2020). Data saturation is achieved where no additional data or information can add value to the research (Guest et al., 2020). According to Gugui et. al. (2020), data saturation is a point when all relevant concepts have been identified and no new concept would be identified

if interviews should continue. Saunders et. al. (2018) posited that data saturation happens within a range of participants. Hence, researchers use triangulation to validate data using different investigative methods (Ashour, 2018). Data triangulation is obtaining data from multiple sources, compare and analyze (Farquhar et al., 2020). Yin (2018) posited that multiple case study research ensures reliability and validity of data through multiple perspectives hence the evidence is more compelling, and the outcome can have a more substantial validity. Qualitative researchers use interviews as a data collection method to ensure data saturation (Santos et. al., 2020). To enable me gain in-depth understanding of strategies that leaders in the public sector use to increase employee performance, I used methodological triangulation that included data gathered from interview, notes, training programs, training calendar, meeting agendas, staff letter of recommendation, and staff handbook. However, I attained data saturation through data triangulation.

## **Ethical Research**

As posited by Mauthner (2019), ethics in research entails adherence to guidelines and codes of conducts such as informed consent, privacy, confidentiality, and anonymity to protect research participants from exploitation and infringement of their human rights. Walden University requires that before research can commence, participants are expected to sign a consent form. The consent form contains the purpose of the study, procedures, nature of the study, and participants privacy. Mauthner (2019) posited that informed consent is appropriate to protect participants' rights and dignity in research.

I ensured that the consent form was written clearly and concisely to be easily understood by prospective participants and sufficient time to consider to either accept or

decline was permitted. Participants were informed that participation is voluntary, and conditions for participation was fully understood. According to the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects and Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1978) and Patton (2015), participants are not to be coerced or forced to participate in a research study. This study is voluntary, and participants were free to withdraw from the process willingly at any time they may consider by informing me through email or phone call. (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects and Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978; Patton, 2015).

Participants were not coerced or forced to participate in the research study (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects and Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978; Patton, 2015). According to Brown et al. (2019), research participants are sometimes paid for participation in research to show appreciation for participants' contribution. Such payments could have undue influence on the participants, and they may choose to conceal information if not satisfied with the payment (Mweemba et al., 2020). For this study, there was no monetary or incentives for participation. To ensure the ethical protection of the research participants, I adhered to the three ethical principles in the Belmont Report which include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice as indicated in the US Department of Health and Human Services (1979).

Paradis and Varpio (2018) suggested it is appropriate for research to begin after procedural and practical ethics approvals have been obtained. Procedural ethics has to do with obtaining approval on the formal process of ethical board review (Biros, 2018; Paradis & Varpio, 2018). Paradis and Varpio, (2018) posited that it is proper for research

to begin after all necessary approvals have been obtained. In Walden University, before research can commence, the researcher is expected to obtain approval from IRB. I obtained all necessary approvals from the IRB before contacting research participants. I fully adhered to all conditions, procedures, and protocols of the IRB.

After obtaining the IRB approval, I contacted identified organizational leaders through email and phone call. I explained the purpose of the study, the procedures of the interview, the nature of the study, and the importance of their participation in contributing to strategies that can increase employee performance in the public sector. Prospective participants were requested to confirm participation by responding to the consent form by email. The key objective of research ethics is to safeguard and ensure that researchers treat participants ethically and respectfully (Haven & Van Grootel, 2019). I used interview protocol (see Appendix A), transcript checking, and member checking to enhance the reliability and validity of this study.

Qualitative researchers ensure confidentiality of responses and documents (Adrianna, 2018). To ensure participants confidentiality and protect identity, pseudo – codes was used to represent names and responses of participants such as P1, P2, P3, P4 respectively. All information such as participants responses, interview notes, informed consent form will be safely stored and passworded in a flash drive stored in a non-disclosed safe for 5 years. Participants will be duly informed that after 5 years the documents and flash drive will be shredded and destroyed in accordance with the ethical requirement of Walden University research handbook. The IRB approval number for this research is 07-20-21-0560932.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

Clark and Vaele (2018) stated that in quantitative research, the researcher's involvement is defined as detached; while in qualitative research, the researcher is the main research collection instrument. As the primary data collection instrument and analysis in qualitative research, the researcher explores the participants natural environment with the sole responsibility to collect, synthesize and analyze data (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). According to Merriam and Grenier (2019), the researchers' responsibility is also to interpret and translate data collected as it relates to the phenomenon being investigated. As the researcher, I was the primary data collection instrument for this study.

Semistructured interviews are vital in qualitative research (Brown & Danaher, 2019; Dadzie et. al., 2018). Yin (2018) determined that qualitative researchers regularly use interviews to collect data in a case study conducting face-to-face interviews with participants. According to Dadzie et al. (2018), in semistructured interviews, the questions are open-ended, allowing flexibility, creativity, understanding of complex issues, and the researcher obtains detailed information (see Appendix B for interview questions). Dejonckheere and Vaughn (2019) posited that researchers use semistructured pre-scripted questions to solicit and collect new exploratory data on the study, allowing the researcher to probe further by asking follow up questions, triangulate other data sources and validate findings. It is important that the researcher is careful not to use leading questions during the interview and allows the participant free expression on issues (McGrath et al., 2018). According to van den Berg et al., (2019), researchers

effectively manage flexibility and are accountable for the interpretation of data by asking multiple participants same questions to obtain divergent views.

According to McGrath et al., (2019), successful interviews start with careful planning that considers the scope of the research question, consideration, and adherence to interview protocols. A well-developed interview protocol can help build quality and consistency (Braaten et al., 2020). Yeong et al. (2018) opined that interview protocols are procedural guides that enables the researcher to successfully develop interview procedures that would produce robust data. Braaten et al. (2020) stated that a well-established protocol builds quality and consistency into the research thus enabling the researcher to successfully investigate constructs, beliefs, and identity. Interview protocols as approved by Walden University was applied to guide interview questions and ensure conformity with the research question and validity (see Appendix A for interview protocol).

The trustworthiness of interview results is the bedrock of high-quality qualitative research (Birt et al., 2016; Candela, 2019; Livari, 2018). In qualitative research, researchers might infuse personal beliefs during data interpretation, however, to reduce the potential for research bias, participants are actively involved in checking and confirming the results, this is known as member checking (Birt et al., 2016). Caretta and Perez (2019) posited that member checking is a technique in qualitative research that permits the deepening, repeating, adjusting of data, and analysis together with participants. According to Candela (2019), member checking ensures accurate presentation of participant's opinions by allowing them to confirm or deny the accuracy

and interpretation of data. Member checking ensures accurate descriptions and interpretation of data which ensures reliability and validity of the research (Birt, 2016). Member checking was implemented by providing detailed summaries of the interview's interpretations to participants. I encouraged participants to freely certify and verify clarity of purpose and that the interpretations are exact representations of the intended ideas they wish to convey. Participant's observations were considered to ensure accuracy of data.

## **Data Collection Technique**

Fritz and Vandermause (2018) explained that in qualitative research, interviews are conversational hence participants freely express their views and experiences thereby making interviews an effective means for data collection. According to DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019), the most common type of interview used in qualitative research is semi-structured interview. The semistructured interview permits the researcher to explore in-depth participants thoughts, feelings, beliefs about a phenomenon using open-ended questions (McGrath, 2018). Al Balushi (2018) stated that semistructured face-to-face interviews are compelling as the researcher not only collect data but also how it is presented through gestures and expressions which can add additional understanding to the study. Referring to Buseto et al. (2020), semistructured interviews have the advantage of being interactive, allowing for unexpected topics to emerge for discussion enriching the whole process. Semistructured interview was the data collection instrument for this study. The interview questions are listed in Appendix B of the study.

Researchers use semistructured interviews to maintain flexibility on interview scheduling, location agreement, timing, and other considerations as it suits the participant

(Adhabi & Anozie, 2017). After obtaining IRB approval, I contacted prospective participants through email seeking their consent to grant interview. I scheduled a 45 – 60 minutes interview with participants duly adhering to interview protocols. The interview was conducted via zoom. I used my private office in my personal house as the venue. I was the only one in the office, it was comfortable, quiet, and appropriate for interview and approved by the participant. An audio recording devise was used to record responses from participants. The interview questions were unambiguous, properly presented, aligning with the central research question. Yin (2018) recommended that participants should be well informed of the protocols before the commencement of interviews. Participants were provided with the informed consent form before the interview, I confirmed participants clear understanding of the interview protocols before commencement.

During the interview, participants responded to seven questions, allowing for follow up questions and contributions. I transcribed their responses and provided a two-page summary of interview interpretation to participants for member checking to ensure reliability and validity of data. Livari (2018) opined that member checking allows participants to approve the researcher's interpretations to ascertain whether it represents the viewpoint of participants. After member checking, I effected all observations ensuring that my interpretations accurately reflect participants intent.

## **Data Organization Technique**

Data organization is vital to qualitative research success (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018; Saunders et al., 2018; White et al., 2012). Researchers conduct qualitative research

to better understand a phenomenon through the experiences of those who have directly experienced the phenomenon resulting in copious amounts of data (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). Qualitative researchers spend ample time organizing, coordinating, and prioritizing data to avoid being inundated with unnecessary information (Renz et al., 2018). According to Feldman and Lowe (2015), data gathered must be organized and well stored in a secured database. Moser and Korstjens (2018) opined that researchers organize data representing them in categories and or themes depending on the data's meaning and similarities.

For this study, all the interviews were captured electronically on a digital recording device, passworded and safely stored in a reliable place. I used the NVivo 12 software to code and store data, identify, and analyze common themes. Yin (2018) opined that confidentiality should be maintained by not including participant's information. I assigned identification codes to participants to ensure confidentiality. All data gathered including digital recording, interview notes, and interview transcripts were safely stored in a passworded flash drive in a fireproof safe in my personal study at my personal house for 5 years. After which the flash drive will be formatted and physically destroyed. All documents will be shredded using and industrial shredder after 5 years.

## **Data Analysis**

Qualitative researchers analyze data to preserve the research's integrity and explore the meanings of copious information gathered from participants (Cassell & Bishop, 2019; Friese, 2019; O' Kane et al., 2021). Researchers describe the process of qualitative data analysis to involve coding, verifying, and exploring research data

(O'Kane et al., 2021). The empirical element of case study research consists of real-world data characteristically derived from multiple sources, and thus the researcher is laden with ample information that requires analysis (Yin, 2018). Multiple case study researchers use triangulation to address multiple data sources, validity, and reliability (Farquhar, 2020).

# Triangulation

According to Yin (2018), the following are types of data triangulation in case study research: (a) investigator triangulation, (b) data triangulation, (c) methodological triangulation, and (d) theory triangulation. In a qualitative case study, researchers use methodological triangulation for corroboration of multiple findings and incorporation of additional findings (Natow, 2020). Researchers use methodological triangulation to confirm findings, thereby increasing validity, trustworthiness, and reducing data collection drawbacks (Farquhar et al., 2020).

For this study, I used methodological triangulation for data analysis. I used notes from personal observation, training programs, training calendar, meeting agendas, staff letter of recommendation, staff certificates of performance, and staff handbook. All participants were asked the same questions, in the same order, with the same interpretations and emphases (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019).

# Analysis

According to Cassell and Bishop (2019), qualitative researchers use analysis to learn new ideas and bring out tacit meanings attached to the phenomenon. Yin (2018) prescribed a method for analyzing data in five phases as discussed below:

## Compile and Organize the Data

For this study, the data analysis began with compilation and organization of data gathered from interviews and secondary documents. According to DeJonckeere and Vaughn (2019) and Yin (2018), qualitative researchers use computer-assisted qualitative data analysis (CAQDAS) tools to code and analyze data. Qualitative researchers often use the Nvivo 12 software to detect word reoccurrences, and identify themes (Dalkin et al., 2021). After transcribing data from interviews and conducting member checking, transcribed data was transferred to Nvivo 12 for analysis to identify themes by detecting word reoccurrence and frequency.

#### Deconstruct the Data

In Step 2 of the process, I deconstructed and disassembled data in a manner that did not distort the data collected. I regrouped participant's responses under headings of re-occurred themes. This was performed carefully to avoid misrepresentation of information.

## Reassemble and Arrange the Data Into Groups or Themes

Following Yin's (2018) model, in step three, data was reassembled and rearranged by coding and grouping. The data was grouped for similarities and frequency and as data was being reassembled, the themes emerged. Qualitative researchers carry out data analysis to capture patterns, word or phrase frequency, relationships, and meanings (Richards & Hemphill, 2018). According to Firmin et al. (2017), qualitative researchers use qualitative analytic tools to generate an in-depth analysis of data. Researchers use the NVivo 12 software is an application for qualitative studies to collect, analyze, and code

data. NVivo 12 software is considered appropriate for this study because it enabled me to organize data with the emerging themes, analyze data by arranging and sorting. I searched for common themes from participants' responses and assembled.

# Interpret the Data

I applied the Yin's (2018) sequence to focus on main themes, correlate the themes alongside existing literature and the conceptual framework. Ravindran (2019) and Yin (2018) agreed that using themes from interviews alongside existing literature allows the researcher to develop empirical data about the social world. I analyzed themes based on the constructs explained in the conceptual framework and the literature review which included new studies published since the writing of the proposal.

#### Conclude the Data

Conclusion was based on the interpretations of findings derived from data. The purpose of data analysis was to explore strategies that leaders used to increase employee performance in Nigeria's public sector. Transformational leadership theory was the structure for data analysis (Burns 1978; Yin, 2018). I examined the transformational leadership constructs such as (a) idealized influence, (b) individualized consideration, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) inspirational motivation to explain strategies that leaders use to increase employee performance in the public sector in Nigeria.

The transformational leadership theory which was the conceptual framework for this study provided the required lens for understanding the findings. According to Gugui et al. (2020), researchers examine results by constant analysis, presenting new codes and themes to establish data saturation. In this study, I included all new ideas that evolved

from data analysis. I compared and contrasted the themes with existing and new findings in literature to make the study up to date. I reviewed data to determine the effectiveness of how leaders in the public sector increase employee performance using the transformational leadership theory which is the conceptual framework for this study. The transformational leadership theory provided the lens for understanding the findings that can assist public sector leaders on strategies that increase employee performance. The results from this study could provide insight into effective strategies that leaders in the public sector can use to increase employee performance.

## Reliability and Validity

## Reliability

In qualitative research, reliability is a concept that refers to the soundness of the research, the consistency of the methodological process, and the dependability of the research (Jeff & Johnson, 2020). According to Saunders et al. (2018), reliability in research is replicating a research method and design to achieve comparable or same findings. Abdalla et al. (2018) noted that for research work to have value, procedures that will guarantee credibility, confirmability, transferability, reliability, and dependability are implemented. To enhance dependability in this study, methodological triangulation, member checking, and interview protocol was applied. According to Abdalla et al. (2018), researchers who use various sources to support the phenomenon under study reduce personal bias and increase reliability and credibility. To ensure data triangulation, researchers are expected to provide secondary sources of data such as employee handbook, organizations annual report, organizations industry performance report, and

other documents provided by participants (Jentolft & Olsen, 2019). Member checking authenticates the correctness of data and improves validity. According to Yin (2018) case study researchers use interview protocol to enhance reliability and effectively manage the data collection process.

# Validity

In qualitative research, validity implies that the researcher checks for the accuracy, credibility, and confirmability of findings (Jeff & Johnson, 2020). Saunders et al. (2018) defined validity as the correctness of measurement, accuracy of data analysis, and the generalizability of findings. Noble and Smith (2015) posited that credibility, transferability, and confirmability of findings are components that researchers use to demonstrate validity of research. Participants in the study can actively challenge the credibility of the research (Bolarinwa, 2015). To reduce bias, I strictly adhered to Walden University IRB research guidelines and handbook. Malone et al. (2014) opined that the validity, dependability of research findings can be threatened by bias during the interview. According to Korstijens and Moser (2018), credibility is developing the result of a credible research study. To avoid bias, I reported results uncompromisingly devoid of manipulations and alterations. I was neutral during the interviews so as not to influence participants in any way. Methodological triangulation was used to ensure credibility of the study. Researchers use secondary data tool to aid secondary sources of data to ensure triangulation (Farquhar et al., 2020). For this study, I compared interview results with notes, training programs, training calendar, meeting agendas, staff letter of

recommendation, staff certificate of performance, and staff handbook. The sources were used to validate validate differences and similarities of responses from participants.

## Credibility

According to Korstijens and Moser (2018) credibility establishes the originality of research findings plausible representation of information drawn from participants original data. Ballesteros and Mata – Benito (2018) opined that credibility evaluates how adequately the researcher represents the truth in the analysis and interpretation of results. Qualitative researchers challenge credibility by replicating specific studies under precise methods (Birt et. al., 2016). Reporting accurate data improves the validity of findings by ensuring correct interpretation and representation of participants original views (Jeff & Johnson, 2020; Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). I ensured that there is no prior relationship with participants and organizations involved even though I understand the non-profit sector due to my work experience. Researchers notably use member checking and triangulation as strategies to establish credibility of research findings and that it represents plausible information from participants (Ballesteros & Mata – Benito, 2018; Denzin & Lincoln, 2018; Jeff & Johnson, 2020; Livari, 2018). Member checking allows participants to review researcher's interpretation and verify correctness of data (Livari, 2018).

According to Jentoft and Olsen (2019) to ensure triangulation, researchers should provide secondary sources such as handbooks, organizational charts, employer documents, and any other document provided by participants. Researchers use methodological triangulation to improve credibility through comparison of multiple data sources (Jeff & Johnson, 2020; Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). For this study, member

checking and methodological triangulation was used to establish credibility, ensure validity and accuracy of the data analysis process. To ensure credibility, participants were allowed to review the interpretation and analysis of findings for verification.

# **Transferability**

Transferability in qualitative research is the applicability of findings to other contexts achieved through descriptions of study setting (Nyirenda et al., 2020). Korstjiens and Moser (2018) opined that transferability guarantee consistency of the described procedures in future research. The researcher facilitates transferability through flawless description of experiences and context of occurrences in a meaningful way to the outsider (Nyirenda et al., 2020). Qualitative researchers ensure transferability of the research through detailed description of the research context and assumptions in a way that future researchers are able to duplicate the results of the study (Ballesteros & Mata -Benito, 2018; Korstjiens & Moser, 2018). To achieve transferability, I ensured that the steps and methods were succinctly documented. I provided a comprehensive account of the interview protocol and the criteria for participant selection. Description of the foundation and setting of the study, the research method and design of the study was provided. The transferability of this study would be useful for future research as the semistructured interviews could be used for future research on enhancing employee performance in the public sector.

## **Confirmability**

Korstjens and Moser (2018) posited that confirmability establishes that data and interpretation of findings are not fabrications of researchers' imagination but are clearly

derived from data. Confirmability is achieved when conclusions drawn from data are opinions of participants and not thoughts or opinions of the researcher (Abdalla et al., 2018). Case study researchers establish validity by demonstrating credible and confirmable research findings (Nelson, 2017). To ensure confirmability of this study, I incorporated interview protocol, member checking, and transcript review with participants to ensure that results are true reflections of participants perspectives. I used the Nvivo 12 software to audit the steps for data collection. Confirmability can be achieved through data triangulation. According to Abdalla et al. (2018) data triangulation increases research objectivity. In addition, methodological triangulation of various sources of data comparing interviews with additional data available on the organization's website ensures confirmability.

### Data Saturation

Data saturation is reached when no additional data emerges and no new themes can be derived from the data collection efforts (Guest et al., 2020). According to Majid et al. (2018), researchers attain saturation when no new additional information can be obtained. Qualitative researchers conduct member checking to confirm that all themes needed for analysis, interpretation, and description has been captured (Guest et al., 2020). To address credibility and data saturation, I applied methodological triangulation by interviewing multiple participants and reviewing notes, organization's training programs, training calendar, meeting agendas, staff letter of recommendation, and staff handbook. Memberchecking was used to ensure that participants are satisfied with the representation of data.

# **Transition and Summary**

In Section 2, the following sections were discussed: The purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data organization techniques, data analysis, reliability, and validity.

After obtaining IRB approval from the university, I proceeded to conduct the research enumerated in Section 2 and presented findings in Section 3. Section 3 comprises the purpose statement, presentation of findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for actions, recommendations for further research, my reflections, and a conclusion.

In Section 3, my opinions, and ideas on strategies that leaders in the public sector could use to increase employee performance were presented. In the conclusion section, I provided detailed summary of the study and strategies that leaders in the public sector can adopt to increase employee performance.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change **Introduction**

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore strategies that leaders in the Nigerian public sector use to increase employee performance.

Semistructured interviews were conducted with four leaders in public sector organizations in the FCT, Abuja, Nigeria. The participants answered seven open ended questions regarding leadership strategies used in the workplace and shared their experiences on the impact of the strategies employed to increase employee performance. I used methodological triangulation to compare data collected. I used interview notes, training programs, training calendars, meeting agendas, staff letters of recommendation, and staff handbooks. The leadership strategies presented by each participant aligned to some extent with Burns's (1978) transformational leadership theory, which was used as the conceptual framework for this study. Five themes to increase employee performance were identified. The major themes derived from the data include (a) communication, (b) leadership by example, (c) on-the-job training, (d) motivation, and (e) teamwork.

In Section 3, I present findings, analysis of findings, the relationship of the findings with the conceptual framework, and other content from the literature review.

Next, potential applications to professional practice are discussed along with implications for social change.

# **Presentation of the Findings**

The research question for this study was as follows: What strategies do leaders in the Nigerian public sector use to increase employee performance? The conceptual framework for this study consisted of the constructs from Burns's original version of

transformational leadership theory, along with later revisions made in 1985 (Burns, 1978, 1985). To address the research question, I purposefully selected and interviewed four leaders in public sector organizations in Nigeria. Each leader had served in an executive leadership position for a minimum of 4 years and had successfully developed and implemented leadership strategies that increased employee performance. I assigned pseudo codes such as P1, P2, P3, and P4 for each participating leader to protect their identity.

## **Emerging Themes**

After coding and analyzing data, the following five major themes emerged from the study: (a) communication, (b) leadership by example, (c) on-the-job training, (d) motivation, and (e) teamwork.

In the sections following, I evaluate the themes and their relationship to the conceptual framework of this study.

#### **Theme 1: Communication**

Communication emerged as one of the themes that the respondents highlighted as part of the strategies that have improved employee performance in the organization. P3 reported that communication of vision, mission, and tasks with all officers, especially at the middle level, has reduced the problem of employees working in silos within the organization. Leadership strategy that promotes leader-subordinate communication fosters a plethora of desirable workplace outcomes (Kelly & MacDonald, 2019). During the interview, P3 commented that

I find communication most effective, that is, regular meetings with middle level staff because they are mainly the rank & file. The effect has stopped employees from working in silos. Before this strategy was an element of each division working independently which resulted to vertical engagement and not horizontal. The most successful of the strategies I used was regular meetings with the middle level cadre and this has enhanced horizontal engagement and successfully break the silos mentality.

Toufaili (2018) opined that leader-employee feedback is beneficial for organizational improvement and development. P1 commented,

In our weekly meeting I always have feedback, I give them feedback from the management meeting also for all staff to be on the same page and I use their feedback to measure effectiveness of my strategy and see where to modify and improve.

P4 commented that bottom to top communication is a strategic and effective way of bridging the gap between the leader and lower-level cadre.

The quality and effectiveness of communication refers to the extent to which a leader provides useful, timely, and sufficient information on implementing organizational goals and vision (Petrou et al., 2018). Efficient communication of organizational vision could result in employee commitment and active engagement (Toufaili, 2018). Organizational leaders who apply horizontal and vertical communication strategies effectively can positively change the mind set and attitudes of their employees towards goal achievement (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018; Ophilia & Agatha, 2021; Toufaili, 2018;

Yulihasri et al., 2019). Through effective communication, employees feel valued, motivated, and rewarded for their efforts (Tian et al., 2020). Positively inspired employees display satisfactory performance levels that enhance organizational growth and positive impact in the public sector (Johannes et. al, 2019; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018; Tian et al., 2020).

Yue et al. (2019) opined that transparent communication induces organizational trust and increase the employee-organizational relationship. Effective communication in an organization has been identified as a critical determinant for an increase in employee performance, coordination, and cooperation with the leader (Eisenberg et al., 2019; Smith et al., 2019; Stacho et al., 2019).

#### P1 stated that

We have used this strategy overtime to ensure that all the staff are carried along as a team. Sure, it has positive effect overtime, because if you look at it you will see that the performance is enhanced, and our clients too are very happy with the level of performance. We have an environment that is not friendly to micro small and medium enterprises being our cliental base. But with the enhanced performance of the employees in meeting the need of this small businesses, they are very happy and that means the strategy we have used have helped and have increased or enhanced the performance of the employees in helping the organization to meet the goals, the objectives, the vision and mission of the agency.

Upon review of P1 organization's website, I found that the vision and mission statement were stated. The organization's mandate and guiding principles as contained in the establishing Act of the federal government are also included on the website. The purpose and approved implementation procedures for the organization's programs were documented on the website. Employees responsible for the implementation of such programs could use information available on the website as guide for implementation.

P3's organization website contains downloadable documents regarding the organization's policies, vision, mission, core values, procedures for program implementation, and affiliated agencies programs, policies, and procedures.

One of the constructs of transformational leadership is inspirational motivation. The leader's strategy is to inspire and motivate employees through an articulated vision and mission statement. Effective communication of the vision and mission increases motivational, enthusiastic, and optimistic levels of employees, resulting in increased performance. Transformational leaders using inspirational motivation strategies that can distinctly communicate visions and goals perform better (Langat et al., 2019). Effective communication improves satisfaction and team spirit, which in turn improves performance (Boukamcha, 2019; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Langat et al., 2019). Leaders of public sector organizations in Nigeria are expected to embrace the strategy of developing an effective interactive communication and value sharing relationship with employees.

Employees have a high sense of belonging, resulting in higher performance levels when communication is effective. Employees' perceptions of the organization are largely affected by the level of information at their disposal (Lee & Chon, 2021; Momeny &

Gourgues, 2019). The participants interviewed attested that effective communication has notably increased employee performance in their various organizations. Information regarding programs, strategies, policies, vision, mission, and mandates was available on the website for use by employees implementing the programs. As opined by Tian et al. (2020), communication develops and improves employee cooperation and performance in the public sector. Effective communication in public sector organizations in Nigeria has enhanced employee motivation, loyalty, and commitment.

Effective communication inspires greater employee commitment and loyalty to the organization. Employees are motivated to higher levels of performance when the leaders create a positive horizontal and vertical system of communication. According to Stacho et al. (2019), communication is a strategic instrument as an inspirational motivation strategy in the workplace that could increase employee motivation to work, thereby increasing creativity and innovation. Innovative organizations are characterized by effective communication; the free exchange of ideas notably encourage creativity and divergent thinking in the workplace (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Chen et al., 2018; Mohammed et al., 2019; Stacho et al., 2019; Touhidul & Sorooshian, 2019). Communication in public sector organizations increase employee's confidence and drive for innovation.

Bass (1985) and Burns (1978) established transformational leadership as the style that influences performance through a well-articulated and communicated vision to employees, thereby achieving clarity of vision and stimulating employees to develop competence to achieve organizational goals. Transformational leaders increase employee

commitment and performance when they effectively communicate organizational goals and vision. The employees experience an increased sense of worth and are inspired to higher levels of commitment (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). Effective communication motivates employees to achieve task completion effectively (Tian et al., 2020). Motivated employees record high levels of performance, which are needed for public sector efficiency.

# Theme 2: Leadership by Example

Knowledgeable leaders are involved in the daily operation of the organization and are thus respected and honored. Leadership by example as a construct of idealized influence is based on attitudinal traits of the leader and knowledge of the job, which is translated to employee high-performance outcomes (Muchiri et al., 2019). Leaders in the public sector strategically increase employee performance through behavior integrity (Kawiana et al., 2020). P2 commented,

As a leader, the time you get to work matters. If your employees know that you will be on the desk by 8am, they won't want to come by 8:30am because they know the Director General will already be on the desk working. As regards tasks, most times I don't delegate I also participate, so when they know that I am also active, they cannot fold their arms and be looking at the leader working.

P4 commented that a leadership by example strategy has notably yielded a positive impact in enhancing employee performance in the organization: "When employees see their leader involved in tasks, they are motivated and encouraged. They see the leader as a role model and a professional with good understanding of the job."

Strategic leaders demonstrate role model behavioral traits that attract employees to the leader and build trust and loyalty. According to Muchiri et al. (2019), transformational leadership through idealized influence promotes role model leadership behaviors for followers, thereby placing organizational goal achievement above personal needs. Idealized influence strategy of leadership by example suggests the leader is a role model to employees, influencing higher levels of employee engagement, achievement of work targets, and a notable increase in performance (Muchiri et al. 2019). Participant P1 applied this strategy and commented, "let them see the beauty that you are doing it to ensure that performance is enhanced which will enable them to become highflyers" Enhanced employee commitment to achieving organizational goals, improved performance, and general positive attitudes always result from this leadership strategy (Change et al., 2019). P2 commented,

For example, last week we had what we call "opportunity fair" and when we got to the venue, I didn't just sit to monitor what is happening, I was part of the arrangement. We were arranging stands; exhibition stands etc. the staff tried stopping me but I say no we have to do it together, so everybody had to stand up and work. So when we lead by example, when the leader takes the lead in anything, employees are bound to follow. if I want to give them assignments, most of the time I guide them. I will tell them okay you are writing a proposal this is what and what I will like you to look at and at times I would have even listed areas that I will give them to write on so I have guided the staff making the area of focus and sequence well understood.

Idealized influence strategy is known to have a great impact on employees' psychological attachment to their organization when leaders using this strategy behave in ways that are consistent with the values they preach. P1 commented:

As a leader, I make myself available to be always approachable, I tend to lead from the front and not from the rear so that the staff will see me as an example. So even when you are correcting their job, you don't ask them to just correct but you also show them what to do. This enables both the leader and follower have a goal congress. A goal congress is the meeting of the mind. Both the goal of the organization, the goal of the leader and the goal of the employee should be one so that we know that there is unity of vision and purpose to achieve high performance.

Employees are impressed and inspired to follow the leader when they see the leader not sitting on the bench and giving orders bur rather involved in doing the job (Chebon et al., 2019). With Idealized influence strategy, the leader is admired, respected, and trusted by their subordinates who identify them with a charismatic personality and see them as leaders by example, and hence are attracted to emulate them. The leaders set high standards for work conduct and are a role model for those standards. Articulating an appealing and inspiring vision, goal setting and role modelling are effective leadership practices related to idealized influence that leaders apply to drive performance improvement beyond expectations (Chebon et al., 2019). A leader who is admired, respected, trusted, seen as a role model, and highly valued inspires and motivates employees to higher performance levels.

Leadership by example encourages employees to follow their leader and be innovative in task accomplishment (Hughes et al., 2018; Jia et al., 2018; Sheehan et al., 2020). P2 commented that asserting that leadership by example enables employees to be innovative and to think of better ways for task completion:

Leadership by example, successful accomplishment of tasks for me personally is a motivator and my staff know this. I allow my staff freedom to be innovative and implement their job in a creative manner that they find most suitable. I do not dictate for them but allow free hand to implement both the technical and financial aspect of any assignment. This enables the followers not to take the leadership style of their leader for granted and they would always like to deliver. This helps your own job as the leader. Leadership by example is key.

Commenting further during the interview, P1 opined on the improvement recorded overtime on employee performance rating:

Sure, it has positive impact overtime, because if you look at it you will see that the performance is enhanced, and our clients too are very happy with the level of performance. We have an environment that is not friendly to micro small and medium enterprises being our cliental base. But with the performance of the staff. Performance of the employee, performance of the workers in meeting the need of this small businesses. They are very happy and that means the strategy we have used have helped and have increased or enhanced the performance of the employees in helping the organization to meet the goals, the objectives, the vision, and mission of the agency.

Upon evaluation of P2 organization's annual report, leadership role in some of its events and activities were stated. The annual report in one of the years had a positive staff performance rating by the director general. This further expounds the efficacy and impact of leadership by example strategy on the employees. Also, it demonstrates that trust and loyalty to the leader could positively enhance employees' attitude to task completion and performance. Correspondingly, the minutes of meeting recorded the leader giving descriptive instruction on how an assigned task could be completed stating the aspect to be implemented by the leader.

Idealized influence as a construct of transformational leadership emphasizes the behavioral and personality traits of the leader as a role model to employees. The leader's charismatic traits are admired, respected, and emulated. Employees working with high integrity leaders develop affectionate attitude reflected in high commitment to work and job satisfaction (Ennis et al., 2018; Marathe & Kakani, 2020). The leaders display of knowledge on the job, integrity, and moral values motivates employees to achieve higher performance levels. Public sector leaders could imbibe the strategy of charisma and integrity improvement as behavioral traits motivate employee's dedication and commitment to work.

Employees confidence in the leader boosts morale thereby motivating higher performance levels. Abasilim et al. (2019) posited that in the idealized influence strategy, the transformational leader is charismatic, confident, ethical, idealistic, and trustworthy thereby making the leader a role model. According to Elmasry and Bakri (2018), the charismatic attributes of the leader as a role model influences employee performance in

the public sector, stimulate critical thinking, and inspire loyalty (Khaltar & Moon, 2020). Transformational leadership trait is worth emulating by leaders of public sector organizations in Nigeria in order to ensure increased productivity and efficiency.

# **Theme 3: On-the-Job Training**

Employee training is a significant part of performance that is essential for the effectiveness and efficiency of the workplace. Transformational leaders using individualized consideration strategy ensure that employees constantly obtain new skills and knowledge for the effectiveness and efficiency of both the workplace and the employee (Rodriguez & Walters, 2017). Participants during the interview commented on the importance, benefit, and contribution of training to the performance of the employees. P1 commented that

Performance is very important in any organization because that tend to drive the goal, the vision and the mission of the organization and overtime we have used different type of strategies ranging from training, monetary incentives, recommendation, letters of appreciation etc. Mainly we have used training, those who are performing well, we tend to enhance their performance the more by exposing them to both local and international training in various organizations.

Corroborating, P2 provided the following assessment on the positive impact of training on employee performance in the organization:

Despite all odds. I still find a way to ensure that staff are given the requisite training, even if it is within ourselves bringing in external consultants for

example, last year I was able to bring someone from Bangladesh with international experience to come and train my staff on monitoring and evaluation.

The minutes of the meeting available reveals that P3 organization conducted several on the job trainings for employees of different cadres. Significant improvement in the achievement of set targets was recorded in the annual reports. Notably, employee's capacity was enhanced and are inspired to increase their level of commitment to task completion and the organization. P4 organization's training agenda document reviewed indicated both internal and external trainings at regular intervals was organized for employees.

Individualized consideration strategy as one of the constructs of transformational leadership focuses on how employees can increase knowledge and develop potentials. Training provides the opportunity for employees to increase knowledge on the job which enhances performance to the benefit of the organization and adding worth to its human capital (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). According to Reza (2019), the leader using individualized consideration strategy focuses on aiding employees develop their potential. The leader identifies knowledge gaps in employees and provides new learning opportunities such as on the job training of employees to acquire more knowledge (Munyiva & Kihara, 2018). Training promotes innovation, knowledge sharing and problem-solving techniques. This strategy creates a sense of belonging, self-worth and confidence in the workplace system established by the leader. Employees confidence translates to inspiration for higher exceptional performance as noted by interviewed participants.

Limited training restricts employees' impact on achieving organizational goals and vision and this results in shabby outcomes (Rodriguez & Walters 2017). P3 commented that goal achievement becomes difficult when adequate training is not provided to staff. He noted thus: "regular training programs are not executed due to lack of funds; this makes goal achievement for the leader difficult; it is a major barrier to the achievement of my objectives and goals as a leader".

Regular employee trainings promote achievement of organizational goals in an effective manner. Nargis et al. (2020) opined that employee training positively improves on-the-job performance of employees. Park et al. (2018) suggested that need based, and interactive trainings enhance employee's performance and development which is critical to effective completion of daily tasks and the organizations success. Achieving desired organizational goals requires training to be employee focused (Majeed & Shakeel, 2017; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018; Nargis et al., 2020; Park et al., 2018). The public sector notably becomes effective when leaders are involved in daily tasks thereby training employees, who in turn are inspired to emulate their leader and put in more efforts (Gutereza, 2020; Lyubovnikova, 2020; Nargis, 2020; Park et al., 2020).

Strategic commendation and dissemination of employee outstanding performance significantly inspire higher performance. Scholars opine that the application of individualized consideration strategy in the public sector could be in the form of personal expressions of words of appreciation to employees for successful completion of tasks (Campbell, 2018b; Getachew & Zhou, 2018; Lauzikas & Miliute, 2019). The acknowledgement of employees' performance endears them to the leader and instill pride

as a result of close relationship with the leader (Abasilim et al., 2019; Guterresa et al., 2020; Olusola & Daniel, 2019). According to Olusola & Daniel (2019), the leader-employee cordial relationship fosters a high sense of commitment to both the leader and the organization.

Innovation is a driver of productivity and efficiency. On the job training strategy is one that the leader creates an organizational culture that encourages employees be innovative and dedicated to introducing new productive problem-solving ideas rather that the bureaucratic system in the Nigerian public sector (Ibrahim et al., 2018; Khan et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2020). The strategy inspires interest in work and task accomplishments, which is viewed as a strategy for employee performance in the public sector (Awang et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2020). Employees are more relaxed and confident in the work environment characterized by innovation and fair work distributions.

# **Theme 4: Motivation**

Workplace condition of service influence employees' attitude and commitment to goal achievement. According to Numbu and Bose (2019), motivation is the reason that propels certain behavior in employees. Hence organizations spend large sums of resources annually to enhance employee performance. Commenting, P1 noted that "the concluding thought is that the work force is the greatest asset in every organization. Employees should not be treated as machines but rather treated as human beings and that's why they should be dynamic in the approach". Employees are a major part of each organization and their attitude to work is essential for goal attainment (Nabi et al., 2017). P1 commented during the interview on the importance of employees in any organization:

The employees are the greatest asset in the workforce. The equipment cannot do anything if the employees are not great performers no matter how sound a vehicle is, it cannot move itself that is why the emphasis must be on the staff, they are the workforce. We make the workplace very conducive, the work environment very conducive.

Workplace task distribution is determined by employee's capacity and knowledge required for goal achievement. Organizational leaders assign tasks to achieve organizational goals, employee performance determines the effective attainment of the set goals (Nabi et al., 2017). According to Fagaca et al. (2018), the ultimate essence of motivating employees is to meliorate productivity which is the ratio of output or production capacity of the workers in an organization. The public administration indicates that public service motivation can be an important element in explaining high performance, because it can make employees go above and beyond the call of duty and that explains why some public organizations perform better than others (Loon et al., 2018). Letters of commendation given to staff were seen and also applauded during staff meetings. P1 opined that the strategy of motivating employees to perform better gives the right mindset:

When you prepare them and ensure that their mindset is positive, that the mindset is not to cheat the organization and the mindset is not to cheat them too they will have what we call accord concordial which is having the mind of the organization, the mind of the leader and the mind of the follower becoming one and when that

mind meet, they tend to meet the goals, the vision the objectives and the mission of that organization.

Employee motivation varies; hence, leaders understanding of the appropriate strategy that would yield desired outcomes is vital. Leaders apply different strategies to motivate employees for the success of the organization as it helps to maintain the continuity of the work in a powerful manner (Brhane & Zewdie, 2018). Commenting on some of the strategies applied, P2 opined that

We are on public service salary in Nigeria which is really nothing much to write home about. So as a leader, we must develop means to ensure that the employees are one way or the other compensated financially apart from the monthly salary. So, this motivates them so they can go extra length. Personally, as the leader, if I want my staff to go extra length and work extra hours, I will arrange soft loans for them, I'll ensure they are given transportation money if they must work weekends. This encourages them to put in more efforts even if they must work extra hours. There is something we call handshake which we give to staff at the end of the year to appreciate them for what they have contributed. This is financial incentive given to staff during festive seasons, if it is Christmas, easter, we try to provide food items and at times monetary rewards for them so that they can take care of their families during festivities. So, all these helps to boost their performance.

Leaders of public sector organizations are expected to be innovative in developing the appropriate motivational strategies. According to Brhane and Zewdie (2018),

organizations introduce techniques, modern tools, and sometimes sophisticated technology for employee relations to create a competitive advantage over competitors thereby leading to enhanced service delivery achieved through motivated employees. P1 commented,

The same process by providing them with tools to make their work very easy and simple to deliver. All of them are given laptops. The organization provides the required work tool. So, when you arm them, virtually all of them with a laptop making work flexible. They can work anywhere, and they write their report in a good time, that is part of the performance. As the leader, I make the work environment convenient for them. I provide tea or coffee and electric kettle for convenience because in other offices, all these are not provided, and other leaders are copying it from us here. And in the fridge too we have soft drinks to take when they are thirsty so it won't make them start running out for soft drinks during work hours thereby making the work suffer. These are strategies we use and as simple as it is, it remains powerful.

Mustafa & Ali (2019) posited that employee performance in the public sector largely depends on job satisfaction, compensation, benefits structure, reward plans, promotions, motivation, conducive work environment, and training. P2 opined during the interview on the impact of financially motivating employees of Nigerian public sector organizations:

I think in the Nigerian public sector, financial motivation works a lot. Because even when you do training, it's not everybody that is interested in the training. It's not everybody that values it because at times some of them are looking at what they can gain monetarily and not what they will learn. So, if we are just looking at the public sector, I will rate financial motivation first but if I'm looking at it from the personal angle and from some staff that value efficiency, I will look at training. Because when they learn new methods, they put it to use. In the Nigerian public sector, motivation is key. Most of them won't put in their best if they are not motivated. The motivation is not only financial but also could come in other forms. During festive seasons, I as the leader give items like buying bags of rice, beans, and distribute to staff. I also provide lunch/ diner for those who stay late in the office. These are certain things I do that attach me to my staff, if any of my staff is sick, I visit in the house or hospital. If there's any ceremony I attend and give money to support their personal ceremonies. If there is an established connect, employees will not want to disappoint you as the leader.

Corroborating, P3 opined,

The public sector is the engine of growth of the country, the success of a country depends to a large extent on the quality of the public service. It is therefore appropriate and necessary that the renumeration /salary of public servants in Nigeria be competitive and comparable to what obtains in the private sector otherwise the government may not attract the best to the public service.

Minutes of meeting from all the organizations reveals positive impact of financial motivation on employee performance. Some of the employees appreciated the graciousness of their leader's financial incentives. Employees emphasized their

commitment and loyalty to organizations' vision and mission. Financial motivation has significant impact on employees in the Nigerian public sector. The income of an average public servant in Nigeria is nothing compared to the high standard of living as noted by P2. Financial incentive is a strong motivator that inspires employees to ensure effective task completion and implementation of the vision and mission. The form of financial incentive given to employees vary in all the four organizations evident in the minutes of meetings.

Nonfinancial incentive as noted on the organization's website include certificates of merit, letters of commendation, and awards. Participants attested to increased employee performance and commitment to work when incentives were introduced by the leader. Therefore, leaders of public sector organizations could strategically develop and implement incentives that can propel employees to higher performance levels. Inspirational motivation as a construct of transformational leadership inspires employees to higher performance. Algatani and Jayeed (2021) opined that motivation is a vital aspect in the life of an employee as it inspires productivity, enhance performance and goal achievements. P4 opined that financial motivation in the public sector in Nigeria has been very effective in increasing performance. "Employees in the public sector see financial benefit as a motivator for better performance either as a reward or a motivator. Whichever one applies, the most significant result is increased performance". Most scholars agree that motivation yields positive effect on employees in the public sector especially job satisfaction (Kjeldsen & Hansen, 2018; Ki, 2021; Meyer - Sahling, 2019; Mustapha & Ali, 2019). According to Chinyio et al. (2018), both financial and nonfinancial incentives influence higher employee performance in the Nigerian public sector. Welfare packages can enhance performance and the welfare of public sector employees should be the utmost priority of the leader to enhance efficiency and work dedication (Alam et al., 2020; Chinyio et al., 2018; Hue, 2021; Ingrams, 2020).

Motivation may not always be financial incentives; non-financial incentives could inspire employees to increase performance. Motivation as a strategy in the public sector can be non-financial which could take the form of personal expressions of words of appreciation to employees for successful completion of tasks (Campbell, 2018b; Getachew & Zhou, 2018; Lauzikas & Miliute, 2019). A vibrant public sector strengthens the economy and fosters growth, therefore, improving public sector performance automatically upscales the economy (Ehiane et al., 2019). It is pertinent to have a highly motivated workforce in the public sector that is performance-centric, effective, efficient, productive, and innovative (Ahmad & Saad, 2020).

## **Theme 5: Teamwork**

Teamwork ensures employees working together in unity of purpose and vision rather than having diversified views. Many scholars opine that leader's ability to ensure teamwork in the organization fosters increased employee performance (Gholamreza et. al., 2020; McEwan & Beauchamp, 2020). Outputs of teamwork in an organization are typically characterized in respect to enhanced employee satisfaction which culminates to improved employee performance (Kozlowski, 2018). P1 commented thus

So as part of the implementation strategy, we ensure we carry all the staff within the department along for them to see and appreciate what working together as a team can achieve in moving the organization forward. Teamwork is very important for higher performance as all the players are carried along.

Participants in the current study indicated that teamwork is a vital strategy to increasing the performance of employees within their organizations. Effective teambuilding is an indicator of quality leadership (Davenport, 2020). P1 opined that "teambuilding enables the employees to know what is happening within the organization and feedback would foster understanding of employees interpretation of goals and responsibilities". P1 stated further, "The main thing is the team play, teamwork is not an individual thing, they work as a team, they are happy and that has been able to enhance performance overtime".

The examination of documents on the website and minutes of meetings demonstrates the limitations of teamwork on employee performance in participants organizations and the public sector in Nigeria. The limitations could be attributed to egoistic behaviors of employees, individualism, and high-performance rating expected to be accorded to an individual and not collectively. Cultural diversity amongst employees restricts collegiality.

Inspirational motivation as a construct of transformational leadership emphasizes oneness and team spirit. Teamwork has not been successful in all the organizations whose leaders were interviewed. Two of the organization recorded a positive impact of this strategy on employee's performance. Cultural diversity can be discouraged at the workplace and employees encouraged to imbibe the culture of singleness of goal, vision, and mission.

Scholars opined that the core philosophy of teamwork suggests a direct impact on employee skills and motivation which subsequently translates into improved employee and organizational performance (Askari et al., 2020; Davenport, 2020; Gholamreza et. al., 2020). Leaders in the public sector using inspirational motivation strategy notably create a positive work environment for employees (Elmasry & Bakri, 2019). As a transformational leadership construct, inspirational motivation allows leaders to achieve team spirit and motivates employees to achieve envisioned organizational goals and higher employee performance. P1 commented that "on the part of the employee, you try to educate them and carry them along in terms of the strategy". Transformational leaders applying this strategy tacitly display passion for team spirit by emphasizing goals and stimulating employees to accomplish them (Kozlowski, 2018). Van der Hoek, (2018) argued that teams with unambiguous and higher level of goal clarity perform better when compared with teams with lower level of goal clarity.

Open collaboration in the organization ensures effective goal achievement.

Scholars opined that teamwork as a leadership strategy improves manpower utilization through collaboration, raise performance level of both employees and the corporate organization (Askari et al., 2020; Gharaveis et al., 2019; Walliser et al., 2019).

Kozlowski, (2018) opined that teams are at the core of how work is accomplished in any organization. The public sector in Nigeria is in dire need of a high-performance workforce and this has made it imperative for leaders to embrace strategies that will increase performance (Ahmad & Saad, 2020; Andersen, 2018; Ohemeng, 2018). Public sector reform is imperative to community development especially in developing countries

and employees are the potential source of improvement (Campbell, 2018b; Elmasry & Bakri, 2019; Onwuama & Obiora 2020; Vu et al., 2019).

Teamwork promotes dialogue amongst employees on issues and decisions that are key to organization's success (Anshori et al., 2020; Boamah et al., 2018; Breevaart & Zacher, 2019; Eichbaum, 2018). Leaders encourage teams not to hesitate to disagree, challenge, and question one another, all in the spirit of finding the best answers, discovering the truth, and making great decisions that ensures organizational success (Askari et al., 2020; Eichbaum, 2018). Teamwork generates positive synergies through coordinated efforts yielding higher levels of performance amongst employees in the public sector; indicating coordinated employees and work achievement through the quality and quantity of work delivered (de Vries et al., 2019; Gharaveis et al., 2018; Kozlowski, 2018; Suprawa et al., 2018; van der Hoek et al., 2018).

# **Application for Professional Practice**

The primary objective of this study was to explore strategies used by leaders in public sector organizations in Nigeria to increase employee performance. The findings of this study could apply to professional business practice by providing successful and proven strategies that leaders in the public sector can use to increase employee performance. Leaders could apply these findings which may improve business practice by providing awareness of strategies that may motivate employees and increase performance, retention, and decrease derivative costs. A high-performance workforce capable of delivering services efficiently is pertinent to the growth of the public sector (Ahmad & Saad, 2020). The following themes can be applied to business practices.

### Communication

Effective communication as a strategy could inspire employees to higher performance levels. Heide et al. (2018), opined that strategic communication has to do with how organizational leaders use communication purposefully to fulfill their overall vision. It is imperative for organizational leaders develop and implement an effective practical communication strategy in a manner that would inspire and motivate employees (Abdulle. 2018; Heide et al., 2018). A well communicated vision and mission promotes unity of purpose.

Leadership trait inspire employees to transcend self-interest and concentrate on goal achievement. Organizational leaders are expected to possess behavioral traits that can motivate, build trust, loyalty, employees see their leader as role models, and are inspired to put in their best thereby increasing performance (Arendt et al., 2019).

Effective leadership is paramount to unambiguous communication of vision, mission, and strategy to employees, carrying them along to believe in the vision and implement strategies in an innovative manner (Sonmez Cakir & Adiguzel, 2020). Leaders in public sector organizations are expected to move followers beyond self-interest; create a work environment in which employees are motivated to transcend self-interest to organizational success; put in more efforts to achieve organizational vision and mission; motivate employees to higher performance levels, leading to efficient service delivery and public sector performance (Arif & Akram, 2018; Chiamogu, 2019; Igbokwe-Ibeto et al., 2020; Oluruntoba & Gbemigun, 2019; Olusola & Daniel, 2019).

Leadership qualities entails effective communication of vision and mission to employees. The public sector leader communicates goals, vision, mission, unambiguously (Oluruntoba & Gbemigun, 2019). Effective communication should not only be vertical but horizontal. The leader should constantly communicate challenges to subordinate which is inclusive leadership. It helps create a sense of belonging, confidence in the system, and trust in the leader. These inspire and motivate employees to be innovative, transcend self-interest for the good of the organization, and put in extra efforts to goal attainment. This effectiveness is highly needed in the Nigerian public sector organizations.

# **Training**

Sheeba and Christopher (2020) posited that employee training is vital in enhancing employees' performance resulting in organizational effectiveness, therefore, it should be seen as an investment rather than cost. Despite the inherent budgetary constraints in the Nigerian public sector, leaders should constantly strategically implement training programs for their staff, improved performance should be the focus. One of the leaders interviewed opined that on-the-job training has helped tremendously in improving the performance of staff which has made overall sector performance successful.

The leader's responsibility is first to ensure that the training program drafted is need based to achieve intended results. Training need can be assessed on three levels namely (a) at organization level based on strategic planning, goals, and objectives, (b) at the employee level which is based on performance, the needed skills and knowledge, and

(c) at the operational level, the task that is assigned or will be assigned to the employee (Abbas et al., 2020; Sheeba & Christopher, 2020). Need based training is strategic to achieving desired outcome of increased employee performance.

The public sector leader's strategy should be need based to achieve desired results. The drafted training plan should be based on performance appraisals of employees. This should be in the leader's strategic plan quarterly and annually. On-the-job training would be employee need based in order to be effective. On-the-job training in public sector organizations can be in-house with external trainers, in groups, or individually with the purpose of improving performance of the employees.

### Motivation

Motivated employees achieve task completion and enhanced performance. However, for effective and efficient service delivery in the public sector, employee financial motivation is vital. The delivery of efficient services in the Nigerian public sector has assumed a greater significance as the populace expects the public sector to successfully execute its policies and programs (Onyeka et al., 2020). However, for effective and efficient service delivery and improved job performance in the public sector, employees need to be financially motivated. P2 opined that

Most of the staff in the Nigerian public sector are poorly renumerated and there is also an in-balance or un- unified salary structure in the public sector. it is sad.

Because in the same system, somebody working in the oil sector is getting ten times the salary of other workers and it doesn't mean they work extra hours.

Funding, poor renumeration is a major barrier.

The best-trained and most skilled employees in the Nigerian Public sector cannot perform well when they are not financially motivated, which is why employee's financial motivation strategy should be part of the leader's strategy for motivation (Warrick, 2017). Other forms of financial motivation as stated by P2 during the interview are given to only staff whose performance is rated high:

The monetary incentive comes in the 13<sup>th</sup> month. There is what we call the 13<sup>th</sup> month. It's not all of them that benefit from the 13<sup>th</sup> month. At the end of the year, rather than paying them only the December salary, you equally pay them another salary or another money that shows those who are performing higher are appreciated. As some of these things are not disposed to some of the staff at the end of the day. Maybe the highest performing staff might get paid maybe N700,000 the low performing staff might get N200,000 yet they are the same level. So, these are ways or more that we encourage employees.

P2 commented further on the nonfinancial incentive strategy that has been applied to increase employee performance:

The other non-financial incentive has to do with material which is money too. At the end of the year, we tend to give them something that will help them to do their celebrations. We give employees bags of rice, tins of tomatoes, tins of groundnut oil etc. It has to do with money because some of them too might want to convert some of these materials to money. Not all staff receive these packages, only those who are performing very well gets it. Some staff are denied it completely because

of their performance levels. I think that will enable them to buckle up. As their leaders too we call them to explain why this is so.

# **Teamwork**

Teamwork is an organizational practice that ensures employees unity of purpose and mission implementation Anshori et al. (2020) opined that teamwork is an important organizational practice that can increase employee performance resulting in improved services. Teamwork can enable employees build a high level of emotional security, self-confidence, and ability to plan and decide with others positively; and, it helps create a healthy work environment having motivated staff draft innovative workable agendas, creative activities, positive strategies, and values (Sanyal & Hisam, 2018).

Leadership strategy and style does have an impeccable effect on the team and performance. Transformational leadership qualities that positively influence teamwork and goal achievement includes the following traits in the leader; (a) the ability of the leader to create a clear vision, (b) the ability to make employees understand organizational culture, (c) the ability to focus on performance development, and (d) the ability to encourage innovation (Abdulle & Aydintan, 2019; Gomez, 2017). A strategic leader will motivate, guide, inspire and challenge his team to achieve greater levels of performance and success (Abdulle & Aydintan, 2019; Abdulle 2018; Kelly & MacDonald, 2019; Munyiva & Kihara, 2018; Petrou et al., 2018).

# **Implications for Social Change**

The findings of this study could potentially contribute to positive social change in public sector organizations that are social service oriented to increase employee

performance. Increased employee performance promotes job stability resulting in high employee retention and a stable workforce (Matthew et al., 2018). A stable workforce may enhance the efficient and effective delivery of services to communities' citizens (Ahmad & Saad, 2020). Contributing to the stable workforce could increase quality service rendered to the populace thereby also increase funding opportunities for communities with a high-performance work force (Maier et al., 2016).

The public sector in Nigeria is a significant arm of the federal government that is a channel used to manage resource allocation, expenditures, policy administration, and service delivery to the community. Ahmad and Saad (2020) posited that the public sector's competitive edge is highly dependent on the efficiency and effectiveness of the workforce. Ineffective leadership in the Nigerian public sector has crippled performance and efficient service delivery (Ake & Olowojolu, 2019; Chiamogu, 2019; Igbokwe-Ibeto et al., 2020). The findings of this study could potentially influence leaders in the Nigerian public sector to imbibe successfully implemented strategies to effect positive social change in their various organizations. A positive work environment and culture within the organization decreases job dissatisfaction, thereby increasing employee efficiency (Al-Ali et al., 2019). Organizational commitment supports a stable workforce that could increase the quality of service rendered to the populace thereby increasing funding opportunities for communities with a high-performance work force (Maier et al., 2016; Vincent & Marmo, 2018).

#### **Recommendations for Action**

Public sector organizations in Nigeria are used by the Federal Government to implement plans, policies, and programmes and utilized as the indispensable instrument of change and development in Nigeria (Ukwandu & Ijere, 2020). The public sector is expected to function as an instrument of social change and development in terms of advancing human welfare and bringing about accelerated socioeconomic progress.

Therefore, the leader of public sector organization in Nigeria is expected to achieve notable success and positive impact functionally in each given sector (Ukwandu & Ijere, 2020; Yagboyaju & Akinola, 2019). Therefore, the leaders of public sector organizations are expected to be strategic and innovative in the administration of the organization to ensure that services are rendered effectively and efficiently. This therefore necessitates the need for a high-power centric workforce that will ensure efficiency of the sector (Ahmad & Saad, 2020).

Employees are seen as the most valuable assets of any organization whose efficiency determines organizational goal achievement and effective service delivery (Chiat & Panatik, 2019). The results of this study could be useful to leaders of public sector organizations, and for-profit organizations and businesses to increase their employee performance resulting in improved service delivery to the Nigerian populace. The framework for this study was used to emphasize strategies that leaders in the public sector used to increase employee performance. By implementing the strategies found in this study, managers, leaders, and professionals in the public sector and private sector organizations could improve employee performance within their organizations, and the

communities served. Based on the results of this study and the themes revealed, I would make three recommendations for action to ensure productive use of the strategies identified in this study:

# **Reccomendation 1: Leadership by Example**

Leadership by example is the engagement of the leader in task implementation, the leader shows employees what is expected of them, as opposed to telling them what to do (Eldor, 2021; Qui et al., 2018). Leadership by example is an effective way to promote cooperation and improve group performance among employees (Chebon et al., 2019; Doris et al., 2019; Kawiana et al., 2020; Peng et al., 2019).

When public sector leaders put aside the pride of leading from the top and are intelligently involved in task accomplishment, employees see behavioral traits of humility, diligence, dedication to work and the organization, sincerity of purpose, integrity, and they respect the knowledge of the leader hence, they are inspired to follow the leader, admire, believe, and support the leader. Participants interviewed all opined positively on how this strategy has built trust in the leader and increased employee performance.

When employees in the public sector see their leader's involvement in the tasks, they are motivated to go beyond their average performance and may also want to impress the leader. Either way, performance is enhanced. Leaders in the public sector should create a system of involvement in job schedules and even create a team and work with them. By so doing, the leader is not leading from the top but very involved. This leader

can proffer strategic advice, suggest practical solutions, and motivate employees to be innovative.

# **Recommendation 2: Motivation**

The most effective form of motivation in the Nigerian public sector is financial motivation and the leader ought to use this strategy to inspire employee's commitment. The leader should be innovative in the development and implementation of motivation strategies. Financial motivation should be done consistently this is to augment for the overall poor standard renumeration which is prevalent in the Nigerian public sector.

The challenging economy in Nigeria is a parasite on employees' standard of living hence an additional income will be highly appreciated. The leader should make perfect use of this economic window and inspire employees to willingly transcend self-interest. Financial motivation strategy notably worked as one major strategy used by interviewed leaders to increase employee performance in the public sector.

## **Recommendation 3: Teamwork**

Collegiality results in high performance within the organization and employees are inspired to work in teams as this helps to build a better relationship between themselves and commitment to goal attainment and realization of the corporate vision and mission (Askari et al., 2020; Kozlowki, 2020). Leaders in the Nigerian public sector organizations should strategically initiate and maintain working teams rather than have employees working in silos.

The leader should harmonize all departments under one vision and mission and ensure that as the departments carry out various tasks, it is not done in diversity but rather

to achieve goal congress. A goal congress is the unity of vision and purpose to achieve high performance in the organization. The meeting of the mind, both the goal of the organization, the goal of the leader and the goal of the employee should be one. The leader should encourage innovation amongst the teams rather than the bureaucratic system prevalent in the public sector. The leadership strategy could be one that ensures a working environment and culture that allows staff to be innovative, challenge status quo, initiate new ideas and protocols for task accomplishment without fear of intimidation.

Innovation is noted to increase employee performance in the public sector (Abasilim et al. 2019; Arif & Akram, 2018; Boeis & Fiset, 2018).

# **Disseminating the Results**

Public sector leaders are encouraged to review the results of this study and incorporate strategies to improve employee performance in the various organizations of the public sector. Throughout the study, the overlying message of this study relates to transformational style of leadership. I will prepare and forward a two-page summary of the study findings to all participants and to those who expressed interest. I plan to host conferences, workshops, and training sessions with nonprofit organizational leaders via video conferencing and in-person to share my findings on strategies to increase employee performance. My goal is to conduct a more extensive study on the topic of employee performance for future publication. This study will be published in the ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Database for future scholars and academic professionals.

## **Recommendations for Further Research**

Public sector organizations in Nigeria are facing increased stress to improve on employee productivity and service delivery to the populace of which the organizations are being constantly criticized for abysmal implementation of Federal Government policies (Dhikru & Adeoye, 2019).

Recommendations for further research related to employee performance in the public sector organizations include expanding the study to different geographical locations. The targeted population was organizational leaders in the Abuja, FCT metropolis with 4 years of experience. Increasing employee performance strategies may differ from public sector organizations in Abuja as compared to organizations in highly populated areas such as Lagos state. Expanding the study to public sector organizations outside of Abuja may produce additional opinions, views, strategies, and impact on performance.

#### Reflections

The Walden DBA Doctoral Study have been challenging, rewarding, humbling, and worthwhile. The DBA experience has not been solely about academic development. I started the DBA program to add to my knowledge of public sector organizations. Instead, I discovered that there are still much for me to learn.

Conducting my interviews via zoom audio was comfortable and easily accepted option especially with the pandemic around the world. The challenging aspect was interviewing public sector leaders in Nigeria who don't even have 60 - 90 minutes to spare. They all seem very busy in the usual Nigerian context of the leader having to

satisfy official, political, and social demands. This means having both official and unofficial engagements. Also, when I conducted the research, I was living in Tokyo which is 8 hours ahead of Nigeria. I had to adjust my timing to suit participants availability. The success of this study was participants' commitment to granting the interview which confirms the impressive rating of such leaders in the public sector.

# Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that leaders in the Nigerian public sector use to increase employee performance. Successful leaders have strategies in place to increase employee performance and maintain motivated and inspired employees with high standards of performance. I used semistructured interview technique and asked open-ended interview questions with leaders from four public sector organizations in Abuja, FCT. The eight open-ended questions were used to determine the scope and strategies used by leaders to increase employee performance within each organization.

The results of this study aligned to a large extent with the conceptual framework for this study. The conceptual framework selected for the study was Burns' (1978) transformational leadership theory. The five themes that emerged from the study were (a) communication, (b) leadership by example, (c) on the job training, (d) motivation, and (e) teamwork which all explains the efficacy of the strategies implemented by the leader. I concluded that the overall theme revealed from the study are directly related to the leader's quality and style of leadership. In addition to public sector leaders, private sector leaders can use the strategies identified in this study to implement policies to increase

employee performance within their organizations, thereby increasing employee performance which is critical to organization growth and success.

### References

- Abasilim, U. D., Gberevbie, D. E., & Osibanjo, O. A. (2019). Leadership styles and employees' commitment: Empirical evidence from Nigeria. *Sage Open, 9*(3), 1 15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019866287">https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019866287</a>
- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. H. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018).

  Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulations as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66-98. https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abdulle, A., & Aydıntan, B. (2019). The effect of teamwork on employee performance in some selected private banks in Mogadishu Somalia. *Journal of Business*\*Research1Turk, 11(3), 1589-1598. https://doi.org/10.20491/isarder.2019.691
- Adatsi, J. A. S., Yamamoto, K. N., & Lloyd, R. A. (2020). Accomplishing a high-performance government organization through leadership: Commitment in partnership with human resources management and development. *International Management Review*, 16(2), 29-39.
- Adhabi, E., & Anozie, C. B. (2017). Literature review for the type of interview in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, *9*(3), 86-97. https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v9i3.11483
- Adiguzel, Z., Ozcinar, M. F., & Karadal, H. (2020). Does servant leadership moderate the link between strategic human resource management on rule breaking and job satisfaction. *European Research on Management and Business Economics*, 26(2), 103-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2020.04.002

- Adil, M. S., & Ab Hamid, K. B. (2020). Effect of teamwork on employee performance in high-tech engineering smes of Pakistan: A moderating role of supervisor support. *South Asian Journal of Management Sciences*, *14*(1), 122-141. https://doi.org/10.21621/sajms.2020141.07
- Afsar, B., Shahjehan, A., Shah, S. I., & Wajid, A. (2019). The mediating role of transformational leadership in the relationship between cultural intelligence and employee voice behavior: A case of hotel employees. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 69, 66-75. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2019.01.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2019.01.001</a>
- Afsar, B., & Umrani, W. A. (2019). Transformational leadership and innovative work behavior: The role of motivation to learn, task complexity and innovation climate. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 23(3), 402-428.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-12-2018-0257">https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-12-2018-0257</a>
- Afshari, L. (2021). Idealized influence and commitment: A granular approach in understanding leadership. *Personnel Review*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-03-2020-0153">https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-03-2020-0153</a>
- Agrawal, S. (2020). Role of sub-constructs of psychological capital and transformational leadership in engaging employees in service sector. *Business Perspectives and Research*, 8(2), 244-256. https://doi.org/10.1177/2278533719887455
- Ahmad, R. (2018). The influence of transformational leadership characteristics on succession planning programs in the Malaysian public sector. *UUM Journal of Legal Studies*, *9*, 39-56. <a href="https://doi.org/10.32890/uumjls.9.2018.9104">https://doi.org/10.32890/uumjls.9.2018.9104</a>

- Ahmad, R., & Saad, M. (2020). The impact of Malaysian public sector in the relationship between transformational leadership styles and career development. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 43(3), 203-212. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2019.1627555
- Ake, M., & Olowojolu, O. (2019). Nigeria civil service reforms of 1999 2007: An analysis of the controversies. *Pan African Medical Journal*, *9*(3), 66-78.

  <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330520860\_Nigeria\_Civil\_Service\_Reforms">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330520860\_Nigeria\_Civil\_Service\_Reforms</a> of 1999-2007 An Analysis of the Controversies
- Alam, M. N., Hassan, M., Bowyer, D., & Reaz, M. (2020). The effects of wages and welfare facilities on employee productivity: Mediating role of employee work motivation. *Australasian Accounting, Business and Finance Journal, 14*(4), 38-60. <a href="https://doi.org/10.14453/aabfj.v14i4.4">https://doi.org/10.14453/aabfj.v14i4.4</a>
- Al Balushi, K. (2018). The use of online semi-structured interviews in interpretive research. *International Journal of Science and Research*, 7(4), 726-732. https://doi.org/10.21275/ART20181393 726
- Al Amin, M. (2017). Transformational leadership and employee performance mediating effect of employee engagement. *North South Business Review*, 7(2), 28-40.
  - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328530143\_transformational\_leadership\_and\_employee\_performance\_mediating\_effect\_of\_employee\_engagement

- Albretcht, S., Breidahl, E., & Marty, A. (2018). Organizational resources, organizational engagement climate, and employee engagement. *Career Development International*, 23, 67-85. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-04-2017-0064">https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-04-2017-0064</a>
- Al-edenat, M. (2018). Reinforcing innovation through transformational leadership:

  Mediating role of job satisfaction. *Journal of Organizational Change*Management, 31(4), 810-838. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-05-2017-0181
- Alfani, H. M., & Hamzah, Z. (2019). The effect of quality of work life toward job performance and work satisfaction at education staff in Islamic university of Riau.

  \*Journal of Management, 6(1), 4-8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.31580/jmi.v6i1.492">https://doi.org/10.31580/jmi.v6i1.492</a>
- Algahtani, S., & Javed, U. (2021). Employee motivation and its impact on work in the organization in Saudi Arabia. *PalArch's Journal of Archaeology of Egypt/Egyptology*, *18*(14), 806-814.
- Alghusin, N., & Al-Ajlouni, M. I. (2020). Transformational leadership as an antecedent for organizational commitment and job performance in the banking sector of Jordan. *International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management, 30*(2), 186-213. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJPQM.2020.107814
- Ali, Z., Sabir, S., & Mehreen, A. (2019). Predicting engagement and performance through firm's internal factors: Evidence from textile sector. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, *16*(5), 763-780. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JAMR-11-2018">https://doi.org/10.1108/JAMR-11-2018</a>
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JAMR-11-2018">- 0098</a>.

- Alpi, K. M., & Evans, J. J. (2019). Distinguishing case study as a research method from case reports as a publication type. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 107(1), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.5195/jmla.2019.615
- Alrowwad, A., Abualoush, S. H., & Masa'deh, R. (2020). Innovation and intellectual capital as intermediary variables among transformational leadership, transactional leadership, and organizational performance. *Journal of Management Development*, 39(2), 166-222. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-02-2019-0062
- Al Zefeiti, S. M. B. (2017). The influence of transformational leadership behaviors on Oman public employees work performance. *Asian Social Science*, *13*(3), 102-116. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v13n3p102
- An, S. H., Meier, K. J., Bøllingtoft, A., & Andersen, L. B. (2019). Employee perceived effect of leadership training: Comparing public and private organizations. *International Public Management Journal*, 22(1), 2-28. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2018.1497739
- Andersen, L. B., Bjørnholt, B., Bro, L. L., & Holm-Petersen, C. (2018). Achieving high quality through transformational leadership: A qualitative multilevel analysis of transformational leadership and perceived professional quality. *Public Personnel Management*, 47(1), 51-72. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026017747270">https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026017747270</a>
- Anselmann, V., & Mulder, R. H. (2020). Transformational leadership, knowledge sharing and reflection, and work team's performance: A structural equation modelling analysis. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 28(7), 1627-1634.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10./1111/jonm.13118">https://doi.org/10./1111/jonm.13118</a>

Anshori, M. Y., Karya, D. F., Muslihah, N., & Herlambang, T. (2020). Analysis of transformational leadership style for employee performance with job satisfaction as intervening variable. *International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology*, 29(9s), 3967-3973.

https://sersc.org/journals/index.php/IJAST/article/view/16662

- Anthony, E. L. (2017). The impact of leadership coaching on leadership behaviors.

  \*\*Journal of Management Development, 36(7), 930-939. <a href="https://doi.org/">https://doi.org/</a>

  10.1108/JMD-06-2016-0092.
- Antonopoulou, H., Halkiopoulos, C., Barlou, O., & Beligiannis, G, N. (2020). Leadership types and digital leadership in higher education: Behavioral data analysis from university of Patras in Greece. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research*, 19(4), 110-129. <a href="https://doi.org/10.26803/ijlter.19.4.8">https://doi.org/10.26803/ijlter.19.4.8</a>
- Aranha, R., Thomas, M., & Saldanha, A. (2019). Impact of transformational leadership on the affective commitment of employees on the service sector. *International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering*, 8(4), 1388-1393. https://doi.org/10.35940/ijrte.D7345.118419
- Arendt, J., Pircher Verdorfer, A., & Kugler, K. G. (2019). Mindfulness and leadership: communication as a behavioral correlate of leader mindfulness and its effect on follower satisfaction. *Frontiers in psychology*, *10*, 667. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00667

- Arif, S., & Akram, A. (2018). Transformational leadership and organizational performance The mediating role of organizational innovation. *Journal of Management*, 1(3), 59-74. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1306335">https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1306335</a>
- Aryani, R., & Widodo, W. (2020). The determinant of organizational culture and its impact on organization: A conceptual framework. *International Journal of Higher Education*, *9*(3), 64-70. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v9n3p64
- Askari, G., Asghri, N., Gordji. M. E., Gordji, H., Filipe, J. A., & Azar, A. (2020). The impact of teamwork on an organization's performance: a cooperative game's approach. *Mathematics*, 8(1804), 1804. https://doi.org/10.3390/math8101804
- Aun, I. I., Olota, O. O., Ajayi, O., & Sanusi, S. I. (2019). Effect of leadership styles on employees' performance: A study of seven-up PLC. *Global Management Review*, *13*(1), 9-23. https://doi.org/10.34155/GMR.19.1301.02
- Avolio, B. J., Bass, B. M., & Jung, D. I. (1999). Re-examining the components of transformational and transactional leadership using the multifactor leadership questionnaire. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 74(2), 441-462. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317999166789
- Awang, A. H., Haron, M., Zainuddin Rela, I., & Saad, S. (2020). Formation of civil servants' creativity through transformative leadership. *Journal of Management Development*, 39(4), 499-515. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-04-2019-0142
- Ballesteros, B., & Mata-Benito, P. (2018). The inner process of collective interpretation in qualitative research. Qualitative Report, 23(1), 168-183.

  <a href="https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2769&context=tqr">https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2769&context=tqr</a>

- Banks, C. G., Gooty, J., Ross, R. L., Williams, C. E., & Harrington, N. T. (2018).

  Construct redundancy in leader behaviors: A review and agenda for future. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29, 236-251. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.005</a>
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1990). From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. *Organizational Dynamics*, *18*(3), 19-31. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(90)90061-S">https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(90)90061-S</a>
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1993). Transformational leadership and organizational culture. *Public Administration Quarterly*, *17*(1), 112-121.
- Bayram, P., & Zoubi, K. (2020). The effect of servant leadership on employees' self-reported performance: Does public service motivation play a mediating explanatory role? *Management Science Letters*, 10(8), 177-1776. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.1.002
- Bednall, T. C. E., Rafferty, A., Shipton, H., Sanders, K., & Jackson, C. J. (2018).

  Innovative behavior: How much transformational leadership do you need? *British Journal of Management*, 29(4), 796-816. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12275">https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12275</a>
- Besieux, T. T., Baillien, E., Verbeke, A. L., & Euwema, M. C. (2018). What goes around comes around: The mediation of corporate social responsibility in the relationship between transformational leadership and employee engagement. *Economic & Industrial Democracy, 39*, 249-271. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X15614914">https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X15614914</a>

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Boamah, S. A., Laschinger, H. K. S., Wong, C., & Clarke, S. (2018). Effect of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes.

  Nursing Outlook, 66(2), 180-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004
- Boeren, E. (2018). The methodological underdog: A review of quantitative research in the key adult education journals. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *68*(1), 63-79. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741713617739347
- Boies, K., & Fiset, J. (2018). Leadership and communication as antecedents of shared mental models' emergence. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, *31*(3), 293-316. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21267
- Bolarinwa, O. A. (2015). Principles and methods of validity and reliability testing of questionnaires used in social and health science researches. *The Nigerian Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 22(4), 195-201. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4103/1117-1936.173959">https://doi.org/10.4103/1117-1936.173959</a>
- Bor, H., & Shargel, R. (2020). The merger of Baltimore Hebrew University with Towson University: Three leadership models converge. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *34*(10), 1595-1613. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-12-2018-0397">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-12-2018-0397</a>

- Bose, I. (2018). Employee empowerment and employee performance: An empirical study on selected banks in UAE. *Journal of Applied Management and Investment*, 7(2), 71-82. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.23260.69765
- Boukamcha, F. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on corporate entrepreneurship in Tunisian SME's. *Leadership and Organizational Development Journal*, 40(3), 286-304. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2018-0262">https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2018-0262</a>
- Boyer-Davis, S. (2018). The relationship between technology stress and leadership style:

  An empirical investigation. *Journal of Business & Educational Leadership*, 8(1),

  48-65. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328943900\_boyerdavis\_s\_2018\_the\_relationship\_between\_technology\_stress\_and\_leadership\_style

  \_an\_empirical\_investigation\_journal\_of\_business\_and\_educational\_leadership\_8

  1\_48-65
- Braaten, B., Kramer, A., Henderson, E., Kajfez, R., & Dringenberg, E. (2020). Accessing complex constructs: Refining an interview protocol. 2020 IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference (FIE), Frontiers in Education Conference (FIE), 2020 IEEE, 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE44824.2020.9274260
- Breevaart, K., & Zacher, H. (2019). Main and interactive effects of weekly transformational and laissez ☐ faire leadership on followers' trust in the leader and leader effectiveness. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 92(2), 384-409. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12253">https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12253</a>

- Breevaart, K., Bakker, A., Hetland, J., Demerouti, E., Olsen, O. K., & Espevik, R. (2014). Daily transactional and transformational leadership and daily employee engagement. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 87(1), 138-157. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12041
- Breevaart, K., & Bakker, A. B. (2018). Daily job demands and employee work engagement: The role of daily transformational leadership behavior. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23, 338-349.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000082">https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000082</a>
- Buetow, S. (2019). Apophenia, unconscious bias and reflexivity in nursing qualitative research. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 89, 8-13. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.09.013">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.09.013</a>
- Buil, I., Martinez, E., & Matute, J. (2019). Transformational leadership and employee performance: The role of identification, engagement and proactive personality. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77, 64-75.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016//j.ijhm.2018.06.014">https://doi.org/10.1016//j.ijhm.2018.06.014</a>
- Busetto, L., Wick, W. & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, *2*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z
- Burns, J. M. (1978). *Leadership*. Harper & Row.
- Burney, A., & Jockeys, C. C. (2020). Teaching servant leadership. *Journal of Leadership Education*, 19(4), 116-122. https://doi.org/10.12806/V19/14/A1

- Cai, W. J., Loon, M., & Wong, P. H. K. (2018). Leadership, trust in management and acceptance of change in Hong Kong's civil service bureau. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 31(5), 1054-1070.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-10-2016-0215">https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-10-2016-0215</a>
- Campbell, J. W. (2018a). Efficiency, incentives, and transformational leadership:

  Understanding collaboration preferences in the public sector. *Public Performance*and Management Review, 41(2), 277-299.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.20171403332">https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.20171403332</a>
- Campbell, J. W. (2018b). Felt responsibility for change in public organizations: General and sector-specific paths. *Public Management Review*, 20(2), 232-253. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2017.1302245
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss3/14
- Cantarella, L., Hegel, C., & Marcus, G.E. (2019). *Ethnography by Design: Scenographic Experiments in Fieldwork*. Bloomsbury Academic. http://doi.org/10.5040/9781350071018
- Caretta, M. A., & Pérez, M. A. (2019). When participants do not agree: Member checking and challenges to epistemic authority in participatory research. *Field Methods*, *31*(4), 359-374. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X19866578
- Cassell, C., & Bishop, V. (2019). Qualitative data analysis: Exploring themes, metaphors and stories. *European Management Review*, *16*(1), 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12176

- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching & Learning*, *10*(6), 807-815. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019</a>
- Chan, S. W., Ang, S. F., Andleeb, N., Ahmad, M. F., & Zaman, I. (2019). The influence of transformational leadership on organizational innovation in Malaysian manufacturing industry. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 8(2), 971-976.
- Change, D., Linge, T. K., & Sikalieh, D. (2019). Influence of idealized influence on employee engagement in parastatals in the energy sector in Kenya. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science (2147- 4478)*, 8(5), 123-135. <a href="https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i5.476">https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i5.476</a>.
- Chebon, K. S., Aruasa, K. W., Chirchir, K. L. (2019). Effect of inspirational motivation and idealized influence on employee performance at moi teaching and referral hospital, eldoret, Kenya. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 10(7). https://doi.org/10.30845/ijbss.v10n7p14
- Chen, Y., Ning, R., Yang, T., Feng, S., & Yang, C. (2018). Is transformational leadership always good for employee task performance? Examining curvilinear and moderated relationships. *Frontiers of Business Research in China*, *12*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11782-018-0044-8
- Chi, J. L., Chi, G. C., Khanfar, N. M., Gao, G., & Kaifi, B. A. (2020). The impact of innovative executive servant leadership on organizational citizenship, and

- organizational cynicism. *International Journal of Business and Public Administration*, 17(1), 1-31.
- Chinyio, E., Suresh, S., & Salisu, J.B. (2018). The impacts of monetary rewards on public sector employees in construction: A case of Jigawa state in Nigeria. *Journal of Engineering, Design and Technology, 16(*1), 125-142. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEDT-12-2016-0098
- Clolery, P. (2020). Training budgets range from zero to over \$1M. *The NonProfit Times*, 33(5), 4-5. https://www.thenonprofittimes.com/hr/training-budgets-range-from-zero-to-over-1-m/
- Cluley, R., Green, W., & Owen, R. (2020). The changing role of the marketing researcher in the age of digital technology: Practitioner perspectives on the digitalization of marketing research. *International Journal of Market Research*, 62(1), 27-42. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785319865129">https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785319865129</a>
- Collins, E., Owen, P., Digan, J., & Dunn, F. (2020). Applying transformational leadership in nursing practice. *Nursing Standard*, *35*(5), 59-66. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.2019.e11408
- Creswell, J.W. & Poth, C.N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). Sage Publishing, Inc.
- Crews, E. R., Brouwers, M., & Visagie, J. C. (2019). Transformational and transactional leadership effects on communication styles. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 29(5), 421-428. https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2019.1675996

- Crippen, C., & Willows, J. (2019). Connecting teacher leadership and servant leadership:

  A synergistic partnership. *Journal of Leadership Education*, 18(2), 171-178.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.12806/V18/12/T4">https://doi.org/10.12806/V18/12/T4</a>
- Cuervo-Cazurra, A. (2016). Corruption in international business. *Journal of World Business*, *51*(1), 35-49. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2015.08.015">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2015.08.015</a>
- Dalkin, S., Forster, N., Hodgson, P., Lhussier, M., & Carr, S. M. (2021). Using computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS; NVivo) to assist in the complex process of realist theory generation, refinement and testing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(1), 123-134.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1803528">https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1803528</a>
- Dartey -Baah, K., & Addo, S. A. (2019). Leaders as organizational representatives: A structural model. *African Journal of Economic and Management Studies*, 10(2), 148-168. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJEMS-11-2017-0288
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigor. *Family Medicine & Community Health*, 7(2), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2018). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. Sage Publications.
- de Vries, H., Tummers, L., & Bekkers, V. (2019). The benefits of teleworking in the public sector: Reality or rhetoric? *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 39(4), 570-593. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X18760124">https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X18760124</a>

- Dhanpat, N., Modau, F. D., Lugisani, P., Mabojane, R., & Phiri, M. (2018). Exploring employee retention and intention to leave within a call centre. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *16*(0), a905, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v1610.905
- Dhikru Adewale Yagboyaju, & Adeoye O. Akinola. (2019). Nigerian state and the crisis of governance: A critical exposition. *SAGE Open*, 9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019865810">https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019865810</a>
- Dialoke, I., & Ogbu, E. F. (2018). Transformational leadership and employee performance of selected private secondary schools in Rivers State. *International Journal on Leadership*, 6(2), 14-22. http://publishingindia.com/ijl/
- Diebig, M., & Bormann, K. C. (2020). The dynamic relationship between laissez-faire leadership and day-level stress: A role theory perspective. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, *34*(3), 324-344. https://doi.org/10.1177/2397002219900177
- Durmishi, A. A., & Popovski, V. (2020). The relationship between effective leadership and the performance of employees. *Economic Development / Ekonomiski Razvoj*, 22(1–2), 119-132.
- Ebneyamini, S., & Moghadam, M. R. S. (2018). Toward developing a framework for conducting case study research. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 17(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918817954
- Edward, Y. R., & Kaban, L. M., (2020). The effect of transformational leadership and competence on employee performance with job satisfaction as intervening

- variable. *Academic Journal of Economic Studies*, *6*(2), 62-72. http://www.ajes.ro/wp-content/uploads/AJES\_article\_1\_330.pdf
- Edelbroek, R., Peters, P., & Blomme, R. J. (2019). Engaging in open innovation: The mediating role of work engagement in the relationship between transformational and transactional leadership and the quality of the open innovation process as perceived by employees. *Journal of General Management*, 45(1), 5-17. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0306307019844633">https://doi.org/10.1177/0306307019844633</a>
- Ehiane, S. O., Adejuwon, K.D., & Goyayi, M. L. J. (2019). Enhancing public sector performance in developmental state in Nigeria: Between rhetoric and reality. *AFFRICA: Journal of Politics, Economy and Society, 9*(2), 47-66. <a href="https://doi.org/10.31920/2075-6534/2019/9n2a3">https://doi.org/10.31920/2075-6534/2019/9n2a3</a>
- Eichbaum, Q. (2018). Collaboration and teamwork in the health professions: rethinking the role of conflict. *Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 93(4), 574-580.

  https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0000000000002015
- Eisenberg, J., Post, C., & DiTomaso, N. (2019). Team dispersion and performance: The role of team communication and transformational leadership. *Small Group*\*Research\*, 50(3), 348-380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496419827376
- Ekmekcioglu, E. B., Aydintan, B., & Celebi, M. (2018). The effect of charismatic leadership on coordinated teamwork: a study in Turkey. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *39*(8), 1051-1070. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2017-0193

- Eldor, L. (2021). Leading by doing: Does leading by example impact productivity and service quality? *Academy of Management Journal*, *64*(2), 458-481. <a href="https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.5465/amj.2018.0706">https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.5465/amj.2018.0706</a>
- Eliyana, A., & Ma'arif, S., (2019). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment effect in the transformational leadership towards employee performance. *European Research on Management and Business Economics*, 25(3), 144-150. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2019.05.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2019.05.001</a>
- Elmasry, M. O., & Bakri, N. (2019). Behaviors of transformational leadership in promoting good governance at the Palestinian public sector. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, 8(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.33844/ijol.2019.60265
- Eneanya, A. N. (2018). Performance management system and public service delivery in Nigeria: Impacts, problems, challenges, and prospects. *Africa's Public Service Delivery & Performance Review*, 6(1), a201.

  https://doi.org/10.4102/apsdpr.v6i1.201
- Ennis, M. C., Gong, T., & Okpozo, A. Z. (2018). Examining the mediating roles of affective and normative commitment in the relationship between transformational leadership practices and turnover intention of government employees.

  \*\*International Journal of Public Administration, 41(3), 203-215.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2016.1256894
- Esione, U. O., Osita, F. C., & Ngige, C. D. (2020). Effects of reward on performance of workers in the nigerian public sector. *International Journal of Trend in Scientific*

- Research and Development (ijtsrd), 4 (2), 409-424. https://www.ijtsrd.com/papers/ijtsrd30043.pdf
- Eva, N., Robin, M., Sendjaya, S., van Dierendonck, D., & Liden, R. C. (2018). Servant leadership: A systematic review and call for future research. *The Leadership Quarterly*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004</a>
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160-170. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001</a>
- Faupel, S., & Süß, S. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on employees during organizational change an empirical analysis. *Journal of Change Management*, 19(3), 145-166. https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.2018.1447006
- Feldman, M., & Lowe, N. (2015). Triangulating regional economies: Realizing the promise of digital data. *Research Policy*, *44*(9), 1785-1793. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.01.015
- Fenwick, K. M., Brimhall, K. C., Hurlburt, M., & Aarons, G. (2019). Who wants feedback? Effects of transformational leadership and leader-member exchange on mental health practitioners' attitudes toward feedback. *Psychiatric Services*, 70(1), 11-18. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201800164
- Firmin, R. L., Bonfils, K. A., Luther, L., Minor, K. S., & Salyers, M. P. (2017). Using text-analysis computer software and thematic analysis on the same qualitative data: A case example. *Qualitative Psychology, 4*, 201-210.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000050">https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000050</a>

- Frais, K. M., & Popovich, D. (2020). An experiential approach to teaching mixed methods research. *Journal of Education for Business*, *95*(3), 193-205. https://doi.org/10.1080.08832323.2019.1627995
- Frechette, J., Bitzas, V., Aubry, M., Kilpatrick, K., & Lavoie-Tremblay, M. (2020).

  Capturing lived experience: Methodological considerations for interpretive phenomenological inquiry. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 19*, 1-12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920907254">https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920907254</a>
- Flick, U. (2018). Triangulation in data collection. Sage Publishing.
- Friese, S. (2019). Qualitative data analysis with ATLAS. Sage Publishing.
- Fritz, R. L., & Vandermause, R. (2018). Data collection via in-depth email interviewing:

  Lessons from the field. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(9), 1640-1649.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316689067">https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316689067</a>
- Flynn, S. I. (2019). *Transformational and transactional leadership*. Salem Press Encyclopedia.
- Fogaça, N., Rego, M. C. B., Melo, M. C. C., Armond, L. P., & Coelho, J.F. A. (2018).

  Job performance analysis: Scientific studies in the main journals of management and psychology from 2006 to 2015. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 30(4), 231-247. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21248
- Gennaro, D. D. (2019). Transformational leadership for public service motivation.

  \*\*Journal of Economic and Administrative Sciences, 35(1), 5-15.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1108/JEAS-06-2018-0075

- Getachew, D. S., & Zhou, E. (2018). The influences of transformational leadership on collective efficacy: The moderating role of perceived organizational support.

  \*International Journal of Organizational Innovation, 10(4), 7-15. http://www.ijoionline.org\*
- Gharaveis, A., Kirk Hamilton, D., Shepley, M., Pati, D., & Rodiek, S. (2019). Design suggestions for greater teamwork, communication and security in hospital emergency departments. *Indoor and Built Environment*, *28*(8), 1126-1139. https://doi.org/10.1177/1420326X19836209
- Gharaveis, A., Hamilton, D. K., & Pati, D. (2018). The impact of environmental design on teamwork and communication in healthcare facilities: A systematic literature review. *HERD: Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, *11*(1), 119-137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1937586717730333
- Ghulam Mustafa, & Noorina Ali. (2019). Rewards, autonomous motivation and turnover intention: Results from a non-Western cultural context. *Cogent Business & Management*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2019.1676090
- Glenna, L., Hesse, A., Hinrichs, C., Chiles, R., & Sachs, C. (2019). Qualitative research ethics in the big data era. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *63*(5), 560-583. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764219826282
- Gomes, S., & Duarte, V. (2020). What about ethics? Developing qualitative research in confinement settings. *European Journal of Criminology*, *17*(4), 461-479. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477370818801305

- Goopy, S., & Kassan, A. (2019). Arts based engagement ethnography: An approach for making research engaging and knowledge transferable when working with harder to reach communities. *International Journal of Qualitative methods, 18*(1), 1-10. https:///doi.org/10.1177/1609406918820424
- Grant, A. D., Wolf, G. I., & Nebeker, C. (2019). Approaches to governance of participant

   led research: A qualitative case study. *BMJ Open, 9*(4), 1-11.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025633">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025633</a>
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(5), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Guilleimin, M., Barnard, E., Allen, A., Stewart, P., Walker, H., Rosenthal, D., & Gillam, L. (2018). Do research participants trust researchers in their institution? *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, *13*(3), 285-294. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264618763253">https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264618763253</a>
- Gulmez, D., & Negis Isik, A. (2020). The correlation between school principal's self-efficacy beliefs and leadership styles. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 12(1), 326-337. https://doi.org/10.15345/lojes.2020.01.020
- Günzel-Jensen, F., Hansen, J. R., Jakobsen, M. L. F., & Wulff, J. (2018). A two-pronged approach? Combined leadership styles and innovative behavior. *International Journal of Public Administration*, *41*(12), 957-970. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2017.1303711

- Guterresa, L. D., Armanu, A., & Rofiaty, R. (2020). The role of work motivation as a mediator on the influence of education training and leadership style on employee performance. *Management Science Letters*, 10(7), 1497-1504. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.12.017
- Hamilton, J. B. (2020). Rigor in qualitative methods: An evaluation of strategies among underrepresented rural communities. *Qualitative Health Research*, *30*(2), 196-204. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732319860267
- Hansen, J. A., & Pihl-Thingvad, S. (2019). Managing employee innovative behavior through transformational and transactional leadership styles. *Public Management Review*, *21*(6), 918-944. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1544272">https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1544272</a>
- Harb, B., & Sidani, D. (2019). Transformational leadership for organizational change in the Lebanese public sector. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 17(2), 205-216. https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.17(2).2019.15
- Hee, C. O., Ibrahim, R., Kowang, T. O., & Fei, G. C. (2018). Employee engagement as a mediator between transformational leadership and employee performance. *Asian Journal of Scientific Research*, 11(3), 441-448. https://doi.org/10.3923/ajsr.2018.441.448
- Heide, M., von Platen, S., Simonsson, C., & Falkheimer, J. (2018). Expanding the scope of strategic communication: towards a holistic understanding of organizational complexity. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, *12*(4), 452-468. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2018.1456434">https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2018.1456434</a>

- Heyler, S. G., & Martin, J. A. (2018). Servant leadership theory: Opportunities for additional theoretical integration. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 30(2), 230-243.
- Holbert, J., Madhakomala, R., Saparuddin, S., & Timotius, E. (2021). The influence of leadership styles on employees' job satisfaction in public sector organizations in Indonesia. *Management Science Letters*, 1393-1398.
   https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.10.035
- Hue, T. H. H., Vo Thai, H.-C., & Tran, M.L. (2021). A link between public service motivation, employee outcomes, and person—organization fit: Evidence from Vietnam. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 1-20.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2021.1912086">https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2021.1912086</a>
- Hughes, D. J., Lee, A. W., Tian, A., & Newman, A. L. (2018). Leadership, creativity, and innovation: A critical review and practical recommendations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29, 549-569. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.03.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.03.001</a>
- Igbokwe-Ibeto, C. J., Osakede, K. O., & Nwobi, F., (2020). Bureaucratic accountability and public sector management in Nigeria: Examining the issues, challenges and the way forward. *African Research Review*, 14(1), 166 178.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4314/afrrev.v14i1.15">https://doi.org/10.4314/afrrev.v14i1.15</a>
- Ingrams, A. (2020). Organizational citizenship behavior in the public and private sectors:

  A multilevel test of public service motivation and traditional antecedents. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 40(2), 222-244. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X18800372

- Islam, M. S., Rahman, M., & Siddiqi, K. O. (2018). Leadership styles navigate employee job performance. *The Comilla University Journal of Business Studies*, *5*(1), 87-109. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssm.3504262
- Jacobsen, C. B., & Andersen, L. B. (2019). High performance expectations: Concept and causes. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 42(2), 108-118. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2017.1405443
- Jeff, R., & Johnson, C. W. (2020): Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: Toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 51(4), 432-451.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042">https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042</a>
- Jeffrey, I., & Prasetya, A. B. (2019). The employee performance assessment and employee training, on employee intension. *Journal of Applied Management*, 17(1), 56-65. <a href="https://doi.org/10.21776/ub.jam.2019.017.01.07">https://doi.org/10.21776/ub.jam.2019.017.01.07</a>
- Jena, L. K., Pradhan, S., & Panigraphy, N. P (2018). Pursuit of organizational trust: Role of employee engagement, psychological well-being and transformational leadership. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 23(3), 227-234.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2017.11.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2017.11.001</a>
- Jensen, U. T., Andersen, L. B., & Jacobsen, C. B. (2019). Only when we agree! How value congruence moderates the impact of goal-oriented leadership in public service motivation. *Public Administration Review*, 79(1), 12-24.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13008">https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13008</a></a>

- Jentoft, N., & Olsen, T. S. (2019). Against the flow in data collection: How data triangulation combined with a "slow" interview technique enriches data. *Qualitative Social Work*, *18*(2), 179-193. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325017712581
- Jia, X., Chen, J., Mei, L., & Wu, Q. (2018). How leadership matters in organizational innovation: A perspective of openness. *Management Decision*, *56*(1), 6-25. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-04-2017-0415
- Jiang, Y., & Chen, C. C. (2018). Integrating knowledge activities for team innovation:
  Effects of transformational leadership. *Journal of Management*, 44(5), 1819-1847.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316628641">https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316628641</a>
- Jian-Xun, C., Piyush, S., Wu, Z., & Li, L. (2019). Demystifying the impact of CEO transformational leadership on firm performance: Interactive roles of exploratory innovation and environmental uncertainty. *Journal of Business Research*, 96, 85-96. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.10.061">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.10.061</a>
- Jnaneswar, K., & Ranjit, G. (2020). Effect of transformational leadership on job performance: Testing the mediating role of corporate social responsibility.

  \*Journal of Advances in Management Research, 17(5), 605-625.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1108/JAMR-05-2020-0068
- Johannes, F. W., Arendt, A., Pircher V., & Kugler, K. G., (2019). Mindfulness and leadership: Communication as a behavioral correlate of leader mindfulness and its effect on follower satisfaction. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00667">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00667</a>

- Jolly, M. P., Krylova, K. O., & Phillips, J. S. (2020). Leader intention, misconduct and damaged relational follower identity: A moral decision-making perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*. <a href="https://doi.org/1016/j.leaqua.2020.101425">https://doi.org/1016/j.leaqua.2020.101425</a>
- Kasimoglu, M., & Ammari, D. (2020). Transformational leadership and employee creativity across cultures. *Journal of Management Development, 39*(4), 475-498. https://doi.org,10.1108/JMD-05-2019-0153
- Kawiana, I. G. P., Riana, I. G., Rihayana, I. G., & Adi, I. N. R. (2020). How transformational leadership intensify employee performance mediating by job satisfaction. *MIX: Jurnal Ilmiah Manajemen*, *10*(3), 454-468. <a href="https://doi.org/10.22441/mix.2020.v10i3.010">https://doi.org/10.22441/mix.2020.v10i3.010</a>
- Kelly, S., & MacDonald, P. (2019). A Look at Leadership Styles and Workplace
   Solidarity Communication. *International Journal of Business* Communication, 56(3), 432-448. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416664176">https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416664176</a>
- Khan, N. A., & Khan, A. N. (2019). What followers are saying about transformational leaders fostering employee innovation via organizational learning, knowledge sharing and social media use in public organizations? *Government Information Quarterly*, 36(4), 1-11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.07.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.07.003</a>
- Khan, S. U., Anjam, M., Faiz, M. A., Khan, F., & Khan, H. (2020). Probing the effects of transformational leadership on employees' job satisfaction with interaction of organizational learning culture. *Sage Open, 10*(2), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020930771

- Khan, S. N., Abdullah, S. M., Busari, A. H., Mubushar, M., & Khan, I. U. (2020).
  Reversing the lens: The role of followership dimensions in shaping transformational leadership behaviour; Mediating role of trust in leadership.
  Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 41(1), 1-18.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-03-2019-0100
- Khan, H., Rehmat, M., Butt, T.H. et al. (2020). Impact of transformational leadership on work performance, burnout, and social loafing: a mediation model. *Future*\*Business Journal, 6(40), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43093-020-00043-8
- Khaltar, O., & Moon, M. J. (2020). Effects of ethics and performance management on organizational performance in the public sector. *Public Integrity*, 22(4), 372-394. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2019.1615163
- Ki, N. (2021). Public service motivation and government officials' willingness to learn in public sector benchmarking process. *Public Management Review*, 23(4), 610-632. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2019.1708437
- Kjeldsen, A. M., & Hansen, J. R. (2018). Sector differences in the public service motivation—job satisfaction relationship: Exploring the role of organizational characteristics. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 38(1), 24-48. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X16631605
- Korstjens, I. & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

  4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

  120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- Koveshnikov, A., & Ehrnrooth, M. (2018). The cross-cultural variation of the effects of transformational leadership behaviors on followers' organizational identification:

  The case of idealized influence and individualized consideration in Finland and Russia. *Management & Organization Review*, 14(4), 747-779.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/mor.2018.27">https://doi.org/10.1017/mor.2018.27</a>
- Kozlowski. W. J. (2018). Enhancing the Effectiveness of Work Groups and Teams: A Reflection Perspectives on Psychological Science 2018, Vol. 13(2) 205-212. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617697078">https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617697078</a>
- Kueenzi, S. (2019). Perceived leadership behaviors and their effects on IT departments in Swiss financial companies. *Journal of Management Development*, *38*(6), 484-500. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-03-2019-0086
- Lanka, E., Lanka, S., Rostron, A., & Singh, P. (2021). Why we need qualitative research in management studies. *RAC Revista de Administração Contemporânea*, *25*(2), 1-7. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en">https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en</a>
- Lai, F. Y., Tang, H. C., Lu, S. E., Lee, Y. C., & Lin, C. C. (2020). Transformational leadership and job performance: The mediating role of role of work engagement. *Sage Open, 10*(1), 1-11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019899085">https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019899085</a>
- Langat, G. K., Linge, T. K., & Sikalieh, D. (2019). Influence of idealized influence on employee job performance in the insurance industry in Kenya. *Research in Business and Social Science*, 8(5), 366-273. https://doi.org/10.20525./ijrbs.v8i5.486

- Lauzikas, M., & Miliute, A. (2019). Transformational communication via evolving ethical and moral norms of Lithuanian civil service organizations.

  \*Entrepreneurship and Sustainability, 6(4), 1750-1761.

  https://doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2019.6.4(14)
- Le, P. B., & Lei, H. (2019). Determinants of innovation capability: The roles of transformational leadership, knowledge sharing and perceived organizational support. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 23(3), 527-547. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-09-2018-0568">https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-09-2018-0568</a>
- Lee, Y. & Chon, M.G. (2021). Transformational leadership and employee communication behaviors: The role of communal and exchange relationship norms. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 42 (1), 61-82. file:///Users/sholaelias-fatile/Desktop/79a3e7ea-cf69-4902-a64d-ea1ba7757743\_Oluwashola\_Elias-Fatile\_edit\_DH.docx
- Liao, S.H., Chen, C.C., Hu, D.C., Chung, Y.C., & Liu, C.L. (2017). Assessing the influence of leadership style, organizational learning and organizational innovation. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, *38*(5), 590-609. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2015-0261">https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2015-0261</a>
- Li, C., Zhang, Y., Zhang, Y., & Wei, F. (2019). The destructive effect of laissez-faire leadership on job performance: A social exchange perspective. *Academy of Management Annual Meeting Proceedings*, 2019(1), 1.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2019.13491abstract">https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2019.13491abstract</a>

- Livari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities. *Information Technology & People*, *31*(1), 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168
- Lo, P., Allard, B., Anghelescu, H. G. B., Xin, Y., Chiu, D. K. W., & Stark, A. J. (2020).

  Transformational leadership practice in the world's leading academic libraries. *Journal of Librarianship & Information Science*, 52(4), 972-999.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000619897991">https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000619897991</a>
- Lumpkin, A., & Achen, R. M. (2018). Explicating the synergies of self-determination theory, ethical leadership, servant leadership, and emotional intelligence. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 12(1), 6-20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/jls">https://doi.org/10.1002/jls</a>
- Luu, T. T., Rowley, C., Dinh, C. K., Qian, D., & Le, H. Q. (2019). Team creativity in public healthcare organizations: the roles of charismatic leadership, team job crafting, and collective public service motivation. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 42(6), 1448-1480.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2019.1595067
- Lyubovnikova, J., West, T. H. R., Dawson, J. F., & West, M. A. (2018). Examining the indirect effects of perceived organizational support for teamwork training on acute health care team productivity and innovation: The role of shared objectives. *Group & Organization Management*, 43(3), 382-413. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601118769742

- Ma, X., & Jiang, W. (2018). Transformational leadership, transactional leadership, and employee creativity in entrepreneurial firms. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *54*(3), 302-324. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886318764346
- Majid, M. A. A., Othman, M., Mohamad, S. F., & Lim, S. A. H. (2018). Achieving data saturation: Evidence from a qualitative study of job satisfaction. *Social and Management Research Journal*, *15*(2), 66-77.

  http://ir.uitm.edu.my/id/eprint/23517
- Makhathini, T. N., & Van Dyk, G. A. J. (2018). Organizational climate, job satisfaction, and leadership style influences on organizational commitment among South African soldiers. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 28(1), 21-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2018.1438834
- Malone, H., Nicholl, H., & Tracey, C. (2014). Awareness and minimization of systematic bias in research. *British Journal of Nursing*, *23*(5), 279-282. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2014.23.5.279
- Manzoor, F., Wei, L., Nurunnabi, M., Subhan, Q. A., Irshad, S., & Fallatah, S. (2019).

  The impact of transformational leadership on job performance and CSR as mediator in SMEs. *Sustainability 2019*, *11*(2), 1-14.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020436">https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020436</a>
- Mao, J. Y., Chiang, J. T. J., Chen, L., Wu, Y., & Wang, J. (2019). Feeling safe? A conservation of resources perspective examining the interactive effect of leader competence and leader self-serving behavior on team performance. *Journal of*

- Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 92, 52-73. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12233
- Marathe, G., & Kakani, R. K. (2020). Recognizing innate transformational traits in public administrative services: Are we doing right? *International Journal of Public Administration*, 43(7), 587-598. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2019.1644518
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Martinaityte, I., Sacramento, C., & Aryee, S. (2019). Delighting the customer: Creativity-oriented high-performance work systems, frontline employee creative performance, and customer satisfaction. *Journal of Management*, *45*(2), 728-751. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316672532
- Martínez-Córcoles, M., Stephanou, K. D., & Schöbel, M. (2020). Exploring the effects of leaders' individualized consideration in extreme contexts. *Journal of Risk*\*Research\*, 23(2), 167-180. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2018.1517385">https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2018.1517385</a>
- Matjie, T. (2018). The relationship between the leadership effectiveness and emotional competence of managers in the public sector. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 41(15), 1271-1278.
  - https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2017.1387140
- Matthews, J., Stanley, T., & Davidson, P. (2018). Human factor and project challenges influencing employee engagement in a project-based organization (PBO).

  \*\*International Journal of Managing Project Business, 11, 873-885.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMB-04-2017-0043

- Mazibuko, N. E., Smith, E. E., & Tshuma, E. (2018). Management perceptions regarding factors impacting privatization of parastatals in a developing country. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, 21(1), e1-e12. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v21i1.1543
- McCann, J., & Sparks, B. (2019). The effects of leadership styles on innovative work behavior and the role of locus of control in the manufacturing environment.

  \*\*Journal of Organizational Psychology, 19(1), 79-94.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.33423/jop.v19i1.1092
- McClean, E., & Collins, C. J. (2019). Expanding the concept of fit in strategic human resource management: An examination of the relationship between human resource practices and charismatic leadership on organizational outcomes. *Human Resource Management*, 58(2), 187-202. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21945">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21945</a>
- McEwan, D., & Beauchamp, M. R. (2020). Teamwork training in sport: a pilot intervention study. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, *32*(2), 220-236. https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2018.1518277
- McEwan, D., & Beauchamp, M. R. (2020). Teamwork training in sport: A pilot intervention study. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, *32*(2), 220-236. https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2018.1518277
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2018). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002-1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149

- Mergel, I., Kleibrink, A., & Sorvik, K. (2018). Open data outcomes: US cities between product and process innovation. *Government Information Quarterly*, *35*(4), 622-632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2018.09.004
- Meyer-Sahling, J.-H., Mikkelsen, K. S., & Schuster, C. (2019). causal effect of public service motivation on ethical behavior in the public sector: evidence from a large-scale survey experiment. *Journal of Public Administration Research* & *Theory*, 29(3), 445-459. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/muy071">https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/muy071</a>
- Miao, R., & Cao, Y. (2019). High-performance work system, work well-being, and employee creativity: Cross-level moderating role of transformational leadership. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(9). <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16091640">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16091640</a>
- Minai, M. H., Jauhari, H., Kumar, M., & Singh, S. (2020). Unpacking transformational leadership: Dimensional analysis with psychological empowerment. *Personnel Review*, *49*(7), 1419-1434. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-10-2019-0580">https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-10-2019-0580</a>
- Mitchell, J., Boettcher-Sheard, N., Duque, C., & Lashewicz, B. (2018). Who do we think we are? Disrupting notions of quality in qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28, 673-680. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317748896">https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317748896</a>
- Mohammed, I. L., Mohammed, A. K., & Asimiyu, F. K. (2019). Impacts of effective communication towards performance of construction organization. *Traektoriâ*Nauki, 5(8), 3001-3008. https://doi.org/10.22178/pos.49-4
- Mohsin, S. Z., Zheng L., Xiaoting S., & Sarker, M. N. I. (2020). The effects of transformational leadership on employee creativity: Moderating role of intrinsic

- motivation. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, *25*(3), 166-176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2019.12.002
- Momeny, L. S., & Gourgues, M. (2019). Communication that develops: Clarity of process on transformational leadership through study of effective communication of emotional intelligence. *Christian Education Journal*, *16*(2), 226-240. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0739891319829484">https://doi.org/10.1177/0739891319829484</a>
- Moser A. & Korstjens I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis, *European Journal of General Practice*, 24:1, 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Mostert, E. (2018). An alternative approach for socio-hydrology: Case study research. *Hydrology & Earth System Sciences*, 22, 317-329. <a href="https://doi.org/10.519/hess-22-317-2018">https://doi.org/10.519/hess-22-317-2018</a>
- Mostafa, A. M. S., & El-Motalib, E. A. A. (2019). Servant leadership, leader-member exchange and proactive behavior in the public health sector. *Public Personnel Management*, 48(3), 309-324. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026018816340">https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026018816340</a>
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Sage Publishing.
- Muchiri, M. K., McMurray, A. J., Nkhoma, M., & Pham, H. C. (2019). How transformational and empowering leader behaviors enhance workplace safety: A review and research agenda. *Journal of Developing Areas*, *53*(1), 257-265. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2019.0015">https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2019.0015</a>
- Muafi, M., & Ismail, A. (2019). The influence of talent management, servant leadership and trust in employee performance mediated by online training. *Proceedings on*

- Engineering Sciences, 1(2), 115-130. https://doi.org/10.24874/PESO1.02.012
- Mukherjee, A. (2020). Leadership for creating sustainability within the organization: An empirical study. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19(3), 7-17.
- Mulder, R. H. (2020). Transformational leadership, knowledge sharing and reflection, and work team's performance: A structural equation modelling analysis. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 28(7), 1627-1634. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111.jonm.13118">https://doi.org/10.1111.jonm.13118</a>
- Munir, F., & Aboidullah, M. (2018). Gender differences in transformational leadership behaviors of school principals and teachers' academic effectiveness. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, 40(1), 99-113.
- Munyiva, R. M., & Kihara, A. (2018). Influence of transformational leadership style on performance of firms in the telecommunications industry in Kenya. *International Journal of Strategic Management*, 7(4), 41-59.
- Mustard, R. W. (2019). Servant leadership in the veteran's health administration. *Nurse Leader*, 18(2), 178-180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2019.03.019
- Nam, K., & Park, S. (2019). Factors influencing job performance: Organizational learning culture, cultural intelligence, and transformational leadership.

  \*Performance Improvement Quarterly, 32(2), 137-158.

  https://doi.org./10.1002/piq.21292
- Nargis Abbas, Uzma Ashiq, & Ayesha Abbas. (2020). Training and employee performance: Mediating role of job satisfaction in civil society organizations of Pakistan. *Journal of Accounting and Finance in Emerging Economies*, 6(4). <a href="https://doi.org/10.26710/jafee.v6i4.1458">https://doi.org/10.26710/jafee.v6i4.1458</a>

- Natow, R. S. (2020). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 20(2), 160-173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077
- Needham, M. (2019). The impact of two behavioral characteristics of the servant leadership theory on the employee turnover in fast-casual restaurants.

  \*International Journal of Management and Human Resources, 7(1), 66-93.
- Nelson, J. (2017). Using conceptual depth criteria: addressing the challenge of reaching saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *17*(5), 554-570. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116679873
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experience of others. *Perspectives in Medical Education*, 8(2), 90-97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Nielsen, P. A., Boye, S., Holten, A., Jacobsen, C. B., & Andersen, L. B. (2019). Are transformational and transactional types of leadership compatible? A two□wave study of employee motivation. *Public Administration*, *97*(2), 413-428. https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12574
- Nielsen, M. B., Skogstad, A., Gjerstad, J., & Einarsen, S. V. (2019). Are transformational and laissez-faire leadership related to state anxiety among subordinates? A two-wave prospective study of forward and reverse associations. *Work & Stress*, 33(2), 137-155. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2018.1528307
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34 35. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-page-12.126">https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-page-12.126</a>

## 2015-102054

- Northouse, P. G. (2016). Leadership: Theory and practice (7th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Northouse, P. G. (2018). Leadership: Theory and practice (9th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Numbu, L. P., & Bose, U. (2019). The impact of motivation on employee's performance:

  Case of south Ural state university. *International Journal of Research and*Analytical Reviews, 6(1), 825-831. https://ijrar.org
- Nwakoby, N. P., Okoye, F. J., & Anugwu, C. C. (2019). The effect of organizational culture on employee performance in selected deposit money banks in Enugu State. *Journal of Economics & Business*, *2*(4), 1213-1225. https://doi.org/10.31014/aior.1992.02.04.162
- Nyirenda, L., Kumar, M. B., Theobald, S., Sarker, M., Simwinga, M., Kumwenda, M., Johnson, C., Hatzold, K., Corbett, E. L., Sibanda, E., & Taegtmeyer, M. (2020).

  Using research networks to generate trustworthy qualitative public health research findings from multiple contexts. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 20(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0895-5
- Obasa, S. O. (2018). Challenges and strategies for improving public sector performance in Nigeria. *Global Scientific Journals*, *6*(11), 366-391. http://www.globalscientificjournal.com/researchpaper/challenges\_and\_strategies\_for\_improving\_public\_sector\_performance\_in\_nigeria.pdf
- Odigbo, I. A. (2018). Review of youth motivation and transformational leadership style.

  \*\*Journal of Education, Society and Behavioral Science, 24(4), 1-15.

  \*\*https://doi.org/10.9734/JESBS/2018/40260\*\*

- Odunlami, S. A. (2017). The influence of leadership styles on employee's performance:

  A study of selected private universities in Ogun State, Nigeria. *Global Journal of Commerce and Management Perspective*, 6(2), 5-13.

  httpss://doi.org/10.24105/gjcmp.6.2.1702
- Ohemeng, F. L. K., Amoako-Asiedu, E., & Darko, T. O. (2018). The relationship between leadership style and employee performance: An exploratory study of the Ghanaian public service. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, *14*(4), 274-296. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPL-06-2017-0025">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPL-06-2017-0025</a>
- Ohunakin, F., Adeniji, A. A., Oludayo, O. A., Osibanjo, A. O., & Oduyoye, O. O. (2019). Employees' retention in Nigeria's hospitality industry: The role of transformational leadership style and job satisfaction. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *18*(4), 441-470. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1626795">https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1626795</a>
- O'Kane, P., Smith, A., & Lerman, M. P. (2021). Building transparency and trustworthiness in inductive research through computer-aided qualitative data analysis software. *Organizational Research Methods*, *24*(1), 104-139. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428119865016
- Okechukwu, E. A. (2018). Determining the antecedents and outcomes of servant leadership. *Journal of General Management*, 43(3), 126-138. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306307017749634

- Oloruntoba, S. F., & Gbemigun, C. O. (2019). Accountability and public sector performance in the third world country: A case study of Nigeria. *International Journal of Trend in Scientific Research and Development, 3*(3), 218-225. https://www.ijtsrd.com/papers/ijtsrd21748.pdf
- Olusola, A. I., & Daniel, D. D. (2019). Transformational leadership style and employee engagement on role-based performance amongst selected civil servants in Jos.

  \*Asian Research Journal of Arts & Social Sciences, 8(3), 1-7.

  https://doi.org/10.9734/ARJASS/2019/v8i330103
- Onwuama, E. M., & Obiora, A. (2020). Ethical development and the growth of the public sector in Nigeria. *International Journal of Research and Management Fields*, 4(2), 1-18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.26808/rs.rmf.v4i2.01">https://doi.org/10.26808/rs.rmf.v4i2.01</a>
- Orunbon, N. (2020). Toxic leadership behavior, followership characteristics and their productivity in Lagos state senior secondary schools, Nigeria. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 11(11), 30-42. https://doi.org/10.7176/JEP/11-11-05
- Onyeama, C. (2020). The role of civil service in the industrialization of Nigeria. *Revista Brasileira de Gestão Ambiental e Sustentabilidade*, *5*(11), 823-831. https://doi.org/10.21438/rbgas.051102
- Ophilia, A., & Hidayat, Z. (2021). Leadership communication during organizational change: Internal communication strategy: A case study in multinational company operating in Indonesia. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 10(2), 24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.36941/ajis-2021-0035">https://doi.org/10.36941/ajis-2021-0035</a>

- Owotemu, A., & Daniel, C. O. (2021). The Nigerian experience: Management of the civil service. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 13(2), <a href="https://doi.org/10.7176/EJBM/13-2-06">https://doi.org/10.7176/EJBM/13-2-06</a>
- Paradis, E., & Varpio, L. (2018). Difficult but important questions about the ethics of qualitative research. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 7(2), 100. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-018-0414-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-018-0414-0</a>
- Park, S., Kang, H.S. T., & Kim, E. J. (2018). The role of supervisor support on employees' training and job performance: An empirical study. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 42 (1/2), 57-74. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-06-2017-0054">https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-06-2017-0054</a>
- Passakonjaras, S., & Hartijasti, Y. (2019). Transactional and transformational leadership:

  A study of Indonesian managers. *Management Research Review*, 43(6), 645-667.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-07-2019-0318">https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-07-2019-0318</a>
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Peng, S., Liao, Y., & Sun, R. (2019). The influence of transformational leadership on employees' affective organizational commitment in public and nonprofit organizations: A moderated mediation model. *Public Personnel Management*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026019835233">https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026019835233</a>
- Peterson, J. S. (2019). Presenting a qualitative study: A reviewer's perspective. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 63(3), 147-158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986219844789

- Petrou, P., Wilmar B., Utrecht, S., (2018). Crafting the change: The role of employee job crafting behaviors for successful organizational change. *Journal of Management*, 44(5), 1766-1792. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315624961
- Pettersson, I., Lachner, F., Frison, A. K., Riener, A., & Butz, A. (2018). A Bermuda triangle? A review of method application and triangulation in user experience evaluation. *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 18(461), 1-16. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3174035">https://doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3174035</a>
- Piedade, S. D. R., Wardana, I. M., Riana, G., & Dewi, I. G. A. M. (2019). The role of motivation: The effect of transformational leadership on employee performance.

  \*International Research Journal of Management, IT and Social Sciences, 6(6), 253-263. https://doi.org/10.21744/irjmis.v6n6.803
- Posner, B. Z., & Kouzes, J. M. (1988). Relating leadership and credibility. *Psychological Reports*, 63, 527-530. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1988.63.2.527
- Pradhan, S., Jena, L. K., & Bhattacharyya, P. (2018). Transformational leadership and contextual performance: Role of integrity among Indian IT professionals.

  International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 67(2), 445-462. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-08-2016-0186
- Pratt, M. G., Kaplan, S., & Whittington, R. (2020). Editorial Essay: The tumult over transparency: Decoupling transparency from replication in establishing trustworthy qualitative research. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 65(1), 1-19. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839219887663">https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839219887663</a>

- Purwana, D. A., & Madhakomala, R. (2020). Do transformational leadership, interpersonal communication, and career development have direct and indirect effect on diplomats' organizational commitment at the ministry of foreign affairs republic of Indonesia in Jakarta? *IJHCM: International Journal of Human Capital Management*, 4(1), 59-73. https://doi.org/10.21009/IJHCM.04.01.05
- Qiu, H., Zhang, Y., Hou, G., & Wang, Z. (2018). The integrative effects of leading by example and follower traits in public goods game: A multilevel study. *Frontiers in psychology*, 9, 1687. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01687">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01687</a>
- Qureshi, U. K., Shaikh, A. A., & Malhi, P. K. (2018). Modified bracketing method for solving nonlinear problems with second order of convergence. *Journal of Mathematics*, 50(3), 145-151.
  - http://pu.edu.pk/home/journal/pujm/V50\_3\_2018.html
- Rahmadani, V. G., Schaufeli, W. B., Stouten, J., Zhang, Z., & Zulkarnain, Z. (2020).

  Engaging leadership and its implication for work engagement and job outcomes at the individual and team level: A multi-level longitudinal study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(3).

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17030776">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17030776</a>
- Ramdas, S. K., & Patrick, H. A. (2018). Driving performance through positive leadership. *Journal of Positive Management*, *9*(3), 17-33. https://doi.org/10.12775/JPM.2018.146
- Ravindran, V. (2019). Data analysis in qualitative research. *Indian Journal of Continuing*Nursing Education, 20 (1), 40-45. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4103/IJCN.IJCN\_1\_19">https://doi.org/10.4103/IJCN.IJCN\_1\_19</a>

- Raziq, M. M., Borini, F. M., Malik, O., Ahmad, M., & Shabaz, M. (2018). Leadership styles, goal clarity, and project success: Evidence from project-based organizations in Pakistan. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(2), 309-323. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2017-0212
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An Intra method approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824-831. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586
- Reyes, V. (2018). Three models of transparency in ethnographic research: Naming places, naming people, and sharing data. *Ethnography*, *19*(2), 204 226. https://doi.org/10.1177/1466138117733754
- Reza, H. M. (2019). Components of transformational leadership behavior. *EPRA International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, 5(3), 119-124.

  <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333798276\_components\_of\_transformational\_leadership\_behavior">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333798276\_components\_of\_transformational\_leadership\_behavior</a>
- Richards, K. A. R., & Hemphill, M. A. (2018). A practical guide to collaborative qualitative data analysis. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, *37*(2), 225-231. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.2017-0084
- Ribeiro, N., Yücel, İ., & Gomes, D. (2018). How transformational leadership predicts employees' affective commitment and performance. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 67(9), 1901-1917. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-09-2017-0229

- Russell, Z. A., Steffensen, D. S., Ellen, B. P., Zhang, L., Bishoff, J. D., & Ferris, G. R. (2018). High performance work practice implementation and employee impressions of line manager leadership. *Human Resource Management Review*, 28(3), 258-270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2018.02.003
- Şahin, F., Gürbüz, S., & Şeşen, H. (2017). Leaders' managerial assumptions and transformational leadership: The moderating role of gender. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *38*(1), 105-125. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2015-0239
- Saunders, B., Kitzinger, J., & Kitzinger, C. (2015). Anonymizing interview data:

  Challenges and compromise in practice. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(5), 616-632.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114550439">https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114550439</a>
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, *52* (4), 1893-1907

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8</a>
- Schuesslbauer, A. F., Volmer, J., & Göritz, A. S. (2018). The goal paves the way:

  Inspirational motivation as a predictor of career adaptability. *Journal of Career Development*, 45(5), 489-503. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845317718348
- Samanta, I., & Lamprakis, A. (2018). Modern leadership types and outcomes: The case of Greek public sector. *Management Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, 23(1), 173-191. https://doi.org/10.30924/mjcmi/2018.23.1.173

- Sánchez-Cardona, I., Salanova Soria, M., & Llorens-Gumbau, S. (2018). Leadership intellectual stimulation and team learning: The mediating role of team positive affect. *Universitas Psychologica*, *17*(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.11144/Javeriana.upsy17-1.list
- Sandvik, A. M., Selart, M., Schei, V., & Martinsen, O. L. (2019). Setting the scene:

  Partner's leadership behavior and employees' perceptions of work performance in professional service firms. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*,

  26(4), 44-453. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818781813
- Sangperm, N., & Jermsittiparsert, K. (2019). The effect of organization learning culture, physical workplace learning environment, employee trust, employee satisfaction on employee performance of Thailand pharmaceutical industry. *Systematic*\*Reviews in Pharmacy, 10(2), 303-312. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5530/srp.2019.2.41">https://doi.org/10.5530/srp.2019.2.41</a>
- Sanyal, S., & Hisam, W. (2018). The impact of teamwork on work performance of employees: A study of faculty members in Dhofar university. *Journal of Business and Management*, 20(3), 15-22. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-2003011522
- Semarco, S. K., & Cho, S. (2018). The predictive influence of head teachers' task oriented managerial leadership behaviors on teacher's retention intentions in Ghana. *Educational Management Administrative & Leadership, 46*, 908-925. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143217714252">https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143217714252</a>
- Sharif, K. (2019). Transformational leadership behavior of women in socially dynamic environment. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, *27*(4), 1191-1217. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-12-2018-1611

- Shaw, R. B., McBride, C. B., Casemore, S., & Martin Ginis, K. A. (2018).

  Transformational mentoring: Leadership behaviors of spinal cord injury peer mentors. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, *63*, 131-140.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/rep0000176.supp">https://doi.org/10.1037/rep0000176.supp</a>
- Sheehan, M., Garavan, T. N., & Morley, M. J. (2020). Transformational leadership and work unit innovation: A dyadic two-wave investigation. *Journal of Business Research*, 109, 399-412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.10.072
- Siangchokyoo, N., Klinger, R. L., & Campion, E. D. (2020). Follower transformation as the linchpin of transformational leadership theory: A systematic review and future research agenda. *Leadership Quarterly*, *31*(1), 101341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.101341
- Smith, S. A., Patmos, A., & Pitts, M. J. (2018). Communication and teleworking: A study of communication channel satisfaction, personality, and job satisfaction for teleworking employees. *International Journal of Business Communication*, 55(1), 44-68. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488415589101">https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488415589101</a>
- Sonmez Cakir, F., & Adiguzel, Z. (2020). Analysis of leader effectiveness in organization and knowledge sharing behavior on employees and organization. *SAGE Open.* https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020914634
- Sosrowidigdo, S. (2020). The influence of transformational leadership and human capital leadership on employee performance. *Journal of Research in Business*, *Economics, and Education, 2*(1), 247-255.

- https://media.neliti.com/media/publications/322928-the-influence-of-transformational-leader-e4edcd09.pdf
- Stacho, Z., Stachová, K., Papula, J., Papulová, Z., & Kohnová, L. (2019). Effective communication in organizations increases their competitiveness. *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, 19(1), 391-403.

  <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2019.19.1.30">http://dx.doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2019.19.1.30</a>
- Stein, A. M., Bell, C. M., & Ai Min, Y. (2019). Does the servant as leader translate into Chinese? A cross cultural meta-analysis of servant leadership. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 29(3), 315-329.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2019.1703681">https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2019.1703681</a>
- Stollberger, J., Las Heras, M., Rofcanin, Y., & Bosch, M. J. (2019). Serving followers and family? A trickle-down model of how servant leadership shapes employee work performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *112*, 158-171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.02.003
- Suprawa T.A., Brahmasari I.B., & Brahmaratih I.A. (2018). Effect of competence, leader-member exchange and teamwork on work discipline, job stress and their impact on employee performance of construction company in East Java, Indonesia. *Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences*, 74(2), 67-78. <a href="https://doi.org/10.18551/rjoas.2018-02.08">https://doi.org/10.18551/rjoas.2018-02.08</a>
- Surmiak, A. (2018). Confidentiality in qualitative research involving vulnerable participants: Researchers' perspectives. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 393-418. https://doi.org/10.10.0.67.17/fqs-19.3.3099

Tabiu, A. (2019). Understanding the effect of HRM practices on employees' task performance: An empirical evidence from civil service in Nigeria. *Nile Journal of Business and Economy*, 5(11), 3-15.

http://journal.nileuniversity.edu.ng/index.php/NileJBE/article/view/171/200

Teoman, S., & Ulengin, F. (2018). The impact of management leadership on quality performance throughout a supply chain: an empirical study. *Total Quality Management*, 29(12), 1427-1451.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2016.1266244

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Tian, H., Igbal, S., Akhtar, S., Qalati, A. S., Anwar, F., & Khan, M. A. S. (2020). The impact of transformational leadership on employee retention: Mediation and moderation through organizational citizenship behavior and communication.
  Frontiers in Psychology, 11(314), 1-11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00314">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00314</a>
- Torfing, J. (2019). Collaborative innovation in the public sector: the argument. *Public Management Review*, *21*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1430248
- Torlak, N. G., & Kuzey, C. (2019). Leadership, job satisfaction and performance links in private education institutes of Pakistan. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 68(2), 276-295. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-05-2018-0182

- Toufaili, B. E. (2018). The influence of subjective factors on the development of the transformational style of leadership. *Review of International Comparative Management*, 19, 124-135. <a href="https://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2018.2.124">https://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2018.2.124</a>
- Touhidul, I. A. S. M., & Sorooshian, S. (2019). Balancing for an effective communication in organizations. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, *25*(5), 1605-1607. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-018-0055-z
- Tuan, L. T., & Thao, V. T. (2018). Charismatic leadership and public service recovery performance. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, *36*(1), 108-123. https://doi.org/10.1108/MIP-06-2017-0122
- Udin, H., Riyadh, H. A., & Dananjoyo, R. (2020). Transformational leadership and employee performance: A literature review. *International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology*, 29(9s), 2291-2299. <a href="http://sersc.org/journals/index.php/IJAST/article/view/14575/7446">http://sersc.org/journals/index.php/IJAST/article/view/14575/7446</a>
- Ugwu, C. I. (2019). Mediation effect of knowledge management on the relationship between transformational leadership and job performance of librarians in university libraries in Nigeria. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 51(4). 1052-1066. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000618763715">https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000618763715</a>
- Ugwu, C. I., Onyancha, O. B., & Fombard, M. (2020). Transformational and transactional leadership and knowledge sharing in Nigerian university libraries. *IFLA Journal*, 46(3), 207-223. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0340035220917987">https://doi.org/10.1177/0340035220917987</a>

- Ukwandu, D.C. & Ijere, E.S. (2020). Public sector reforms and national development: A situational analysis of post-independent Nigeria'. *Africa's Public Service Delivery and Performance Review* 8(1), a354. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/apsdpr.v8il.354">https://doi.org/10.4102/apsdpr.v8il.354</a>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Secretary, The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research* (45 CFR 46). Retrieved from <a href="http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html">http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html</a>
- van den Berg, A. M. A., Stalmeier, P. F. M., Scheffer, G. J., Hermens, R. P., & Bucx, M. J. L. (2019). Shared decision-making for postoperative analgesia: A semistructured qualitative study. *European Journal of Anesthesiology*, *36*(1), 25-31. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/EJA.00000000000000864">https://doi.org/10.1097/EJA.000000000000000864</a>
- Van der Hoek, M., Groeneveld, S., & Kuipers, B. (2018). Goal setting in teams: Goal clarity and team performance in the public sector. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*. 38(4), 472-493. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X16682815
- van Loon, N., Kjeldsen, A. M., Andersen, L. B., Vandenabeele, W., & Leisink, P. (2018).

  Only when the societal impact potential is high? A panel study of the relationship between public service motivation and perceived performance. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 38(2), 139-166.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X16639111

Varela, J. A., Bande, B., Del Rio, M., & Jaramillo, F. (2019). Servant leadership, proactive work behavior, and performance overall rating: Testing a multilevel

- model of moderated mediation. *Journal of Business-to-Business Marketing*, 26(2), 177-195. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1051712X.2019.1603417">https://doi.org/10.1080/1051712X.2019.1603417</a>
- Vries, H., Tummers, L., & Bekkers, V. (2018). A stakeholder's perspective on public sector innovation: Why position matters. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 84(2), 269-287. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00208523117715513">https://doi.org/10.1177/00208523117715513</a>
- Vu, T. A., Plimmer, G., Berman, E., & Sabharwal, M. (2019). Managing employee performance in transition economies: A study of Vietnamese public organizations.
  Public Administration & Development, 39(2), 89-103.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pad.1850">https://doi.org/10.1002/pad.1850</a>
- Vuong, K. T., Rajagopal, S., Singh, H., & Rajagopol, P. (2019). The effect of leadership styles and the mediating role of the quality of work-life on employee job performance in Vietnamese enterprises in Ho Chi Minh City. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy*, 7(4), 535-552.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.25019/MDKE/7.4.06">https://doi.org/10.25019/MDKE/7.4.06</a>
- Vyver, V., Kok, M. T., & Conley, L. N. (2020). The relationship between teachers' professional wellbeing and principals' leadership behavior to improve teacher retention. *Perspectives in Education*, 38(2), 86-102.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.18820/2519593X/pie.v38.i2.06">https://doi.org/10.18820/2519593X/pie.v38.i2.06</a>
- Wadams, M., & Park, T. (2018). Qualitative research in correctional settings: Researcher bias, western ideological influences, and social justice. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, *14*(2), 72-79. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.0000000000000199">https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.000000000000000199</a>

- Wahab, A., & Tyasari, I. (2020). Entrepreneurial leadership for university leaders: A futuristic approach for Pakistani HEIs. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 25(1), 54-63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2019.09.002
- Walliser, J. C., de Visser, E. J., Wiese, E., & Shaw, T. H. (2019). Team structure and team building improve human–machine teaming with autonomous agents. *Journal of Cognitive Engineering and Decision Making*, *13*(4), 258-278. https://doi-org/10.1177/1555343419867563
- Wan, W. M. A., Mohd, M., & Nik, O. (2020). the impact of leadership communication and empowerment on job motivation amongst public sector employees in Malaysia. *Malaysian Management Journal*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.32890/mmj.10.1-2.2006.8940">https://doi.org/10.32890/mmj.10.1-2.2006.8940</a>
- Wang, Z., Xu, H., & Liu, Y. (2018). Servant leadership as a driver of employee service performance: Test of a trickle-down model and its boundary conditions. *Human Relations*, 71(9), 1179-1203. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726717738320
- Wang, Y., & Tong, X. (2020). Research progress of trust evaluation. *13th International Congress on Image and Signal Processing, BioMedical Engineering, and Informatics (CISP-BMEI)*, 1081-1086. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1109/CISP-BMEI51763.2020.9263498">https://doi.org/10.1109/CISP-BMEI51763.2020.9263498</a>
- Wellins, R. (2018). Leader capability stalled again. *Global Leadership Forecast*. <a href="https://www.ddiworld.com/research/global-leadership-forecast-2018">https://www.ddiworld.com/research/global-leadership-forecast-2018</a>

- White, D. E., Oelke, N. D., & Friesen, S. (2012). Management of a large qualitative data set: Establishing trustworthiness of the data. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11(3), 244-258. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691201100305">https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691201100305</a>
- White, D., & Hind, D. (2015). Projection of participant recruitment to primary care research: A qualitative study. *Trials*, *16*, 473. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-015-1002-9">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-015-1002-9</a>
- Widodo, W., & Mawarto M. (2020). Investigating the role of innovative behavior in mediating the effect of transformational leadership and talent management on performance. *Management Science Letters*, 10(10), 2175-2182.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.3.019">https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.3.019</a>
- Windsong, E. A. (2018). Incorporating intersectionality into research design: An example using qualitative interviews. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 21(1), 135-147. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1268361
- World Bank Group. (2018). World Economic Forum global competitiveness index –

  public sector performance rank.

  <a href="https://tcdata360.worldbank.org/indicators/ha2b02fb1?country=NGA&indicator=41495&countries=BRA&viz=line\_chart&years=2017,2018">https://tcdata360.worldbank.org/indicators/ha2b02fb1?country=NGA&indicator=41495&countries=BRA&viz=line\_chart&years=2017,2018</a>
- Xie, L. (2020). The impact of servant leadership and transformational leadership on learning organization: A comparative analysis. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 41(2), 220-236. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-04-2019-0148">https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-04-2019-0148</a>

- Xu, F., & Wang, X. (2019). Transactional leadership and dynamic capabilities: The mediating effect of regulatory focus. *Management Decision*, 57(9), 2284-2306. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-11-2017">https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-11-2017</a> 1151
- Yagboyaju, D. A., & Akinola, A. O. (2019). Nigerian state and the crisis of governance:

  A critical exposition. *SAGE Open*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019865810
- Yadav, L. K., & Yadav, N. (2018). Gender stereotyping of leadership: A study of transformational leadership and commitment in public sector banks in India. *Paradigm*, 22(1), 30-45. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0971890718758199">https://doi.org/10.1177/0971890718758199</a>
- Yamamoto, Y., & Yamaguchi, S. (2019). Relationships between ICT implementation at schools and factors related to transformational leadership: A case of primary school in Mongolia. *International Journal of Education and Development Using Information and Communication Technology*, 15(2), 45-61.
- Yue, C. A., Men, L. R., & Ferguson, M. A. (2019). Bridging transformational leadership, transparent communication, and employee openness to change: The mediating role of trust. *Public Relations Review*, 45(3), 101779.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012</a>
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yin, J., Ma, Z., Yu, H., Jia, M., & Liao, G. (2020). Transformational leadership and employee knowledge sharing: Explore the mediating roles of psychological safety and team efficacy. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *24*(2), 150-171. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-12-2018-0776">https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-12-2018-0776</a>

Yulihasri, Johan, A. P., Handika, R. F., & Herri. (2018). A Qualitative Investigation on the Successful Turnaround Strategy from Top Leader Perspectives: Examples from Indonesia. Business: Theory and Practice, 19(1), 114.

https://doi.org./10.3846/btp.2018.12

## Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview Title: Leader strategies that increase employee performance in the Nigerian	
public sector.	
Date of Interview:	
Participants' Number:	
1.	Introduce the researcher to the participant.
2.	Explain the interview process to the participant. Inform and show participant all
	available recording devices.
3.	Review interview protocol, consent form, and member checking process.
4.	Introduce the research question, the purpose of the study and answer any initial
	questions the participant may have.
5.	Appreciate the participant's participation in the study.
6.	Review the informed consent form and answer any questions the participant may
	have.
7.	Provide the participant with a copy of the informed consent form for their
	personal records and review.
8.	Activate the recording device.
9.	Introduce the participant using their respondent number, the date and time of the
	interview.

i. What strategies have you used to increase your employees' performance?

10. Start the interview using the following questions.

- a. What strategy did you find most effective to increase your employees' performance?
- b. What were the key barriers to implementing your strategies to increase your employees' performance?
- c. How did your organization address the key barriers to increase your employees' performance?
- d. How did your employees' respond to your different strategies to increase their performance?
- e. What, if any, modifications did you apply to any strategy to increase your employees' performance?
- f. What additional information would you like to share about your strategies to increase your employees' performance?
- 11. Ask any follow-up questions.
- 12. End the interview and stop the recording in their presence. Explain member checking to the participant and transcription review process.
- 13. Thank the participant for the participation in the study and provide relevant contact information for any follow-up questions or concerns.

## Appendix B: Interview Questions

The following questions will be used to ask participating leaders about the strategies they use to increase employee performance.

- 1. What strategies have you used to increase your employees' performance?
- 2. What strategy did you find most effective to increase your employees' performance?
- 3. What were the key barriers to implementing your strategies to increase your employees' performance?
- 4. How did your organization address the key barriers to increase your employees' performance?
- 5. How did your employees' respond to your different strategies to increase their performance?
- 6. What, if any, modifications did you apply to any strategy to increase your employees' performance?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share about your strategies to increase your employees' performance?